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CORPORATE PROFILE AND CORPORATE INFORMATION

RAFHNTRATDER

InvesTech Holdings Limited (the “Company”, “our” or “we", together
with all its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is mainly engaged in the
provision of network system integration including provision of
network infrastructure solutions, network professional services and
smart office software solutions, and the network equipment rental
business. The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 16 November 2010.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
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CORPORATE PROFILE AND CORPORATE INFORMATION

RAFNRLAADESR

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

China Merchants Bank

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

AUDITOR
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SHARE REGISTRAR
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Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

LISTING EXCHANGE INFORMATION

Place of Listing
Main Board, The Stock Exchange

STOCK CODE
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COMPANY WEBSITE
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the "Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
the Company (the “Company” and together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”), | hereby present the annual report of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”).

BUSINESS AND MARKET OVERVIEW

2023 was a challenging year for us. Despite the COVID-19 pandemic
has receded, the global economy and business environment was
facing complex and severe challenges, as inflation, rising interest
rates and energy costs, trade barriers and ongoing geopolitical
tensions have caused uncertainty and affecting the global markets,
trade, and supply chains.

During the Year, the financial performance of the Group’'s core
traditional IT infrastructure system integration business in the
Mainland China was adversely affected by the intense competition
amongst the Mainland China's market and leading to a sign of
drop. The economy slowdown in China due to the geopolitical
uncertainties and volatility reduced customers’ demand as well
as the Group’'s sales orders. Nevertheless, the Group continued
to leverage its core competitiveness and provide advanced and
customised IT infrastructure solutions to its customers in diverse
segments. The Group also maintained strategic partnership with
various tech giants, with the aim of acquiring new customers
through strategic alliances. On the other hand, the sales from the
Group’s IT infrastructure system integration business in Hong Kong
recorded a steady growth as the revenue from the Group's Hong
Kong project regarding the provision of a smart library system for
Hong Kong government’s Leisure and Cultural Services Department
(the ~
Library Project will

Library Project”) increased. The Group expected that the
be on-going to provide a stable income stream to
the Group.

In today's rapidly changing business world, the integration of the
Internet of Things (loT) is revolutionising the way we work. In China,
“Hybrid”

smart office solutions in terms of enhancing working efficiency,

more and more companies are realising the benefits of

ensuring smooth business operations and management, and
fostering their overall productivity and competitiveness. The Group
has been well equipped to capture the market opportunities arising

from such economy changes and market needs.
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The way of working has been profoundly affected by the global
pandemic of COVID-19 and thereby most companies in worldwide
are transforming its traditional office model into new models of
highly flexible “Hybrid” working style that enables employees to
blend working from different locations with the office. The Group
enhance its diversified products and solutions to accelerate the
digital transformation of our customers’ workspace in order to
increase their enterprises value. The Group’s smart office solutions
- Virsical, a well-designed holistic facilities, resources and people
wellness platform and ecosystem, focusing in digitised office,
building and campus management solutions featuring visualised
and interactive Visitor Management, Smart Meeting Management,
Workspace Management, Message announcement, Wireless Access,
Video Collaboration, and Instant Messaging, are serving most of the
Fortune 500 enterprises which covered Medical, Education, Finance,
Manufacturing, Campus setup and Retails. Benefited from the above
market changes, the Group’s revenue from the provision of smart

office software solutions recorded a slight growth in 2023.

OUTLOOK

Hong Kong serves as a gateway for mainland enterprises to “go
global” and develop the markets along the routes of the Belt
and Road Initiative as well as those in other overseas territories.
The Group will continue to explore the new markets and tap into
business opportunities more vigorously, especially in the Asia Pacific

markets.

Leveraging the Group’'s enhanced customer base and stable revenue
streams, the Group remains cautiously optimistic about its business
and operation prospect. Despite the global economy is recovering
slowly from the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group will always stay
vigilant and well prepared in response to the business challenges
and uncertainties caused by ongoing geopolitical conflicts and
trade barriers. Being a leading provider of smart office solutions in
China, the Group has been deepening its achievements in the smart
office field to meet enterprises’ needs as these relate to intelligent
operations, employee health, collaborative efficiency, carbon
emissions reduction, energy conservation and user experience.
Its integrated product matrix, strong research & development
capabilities, large customer base and extensive ecological
cooperation network contribute to its core competitiveness. We will
continue to develop and optimise solutions to offer our customers
one-stop smart-space solutions and facilitate enterprises’ digital

transformation.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
IRBE

APPRECIATION

| would like to express my sincere gratitude for the continuous
support of all our shareholders, investors, business partners and
customers, and to our management team and employees for their
valuable contribution as well as hard work. As always, the Group
will create more brilliant results and generate better returns for

investors and Shareholders in the long run.

Yours faithfully,

Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
Chairman and CEO

28 March 2024
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A highlight of results, selected financial ratios, assets and liabilities

and cash flows is as follows:

RESULTS INFORMATION

Revenue

Gross profit

LLoss before tax

Loss for the year

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to:

Owners of the parent

Non-controlling interests

Loss per share attributable to owners
of the parent
- Basic and diluted (RMB cents)

LON

EF

BRBLA 1R

FRER

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBERER

mh
feln

XA KEEMBLLER BEEAS
RBEZE LT -

s R E R

5

FEES

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t—HLEE

UTATEEER (BE),8H:

BRRHEAA
IR S

SRREAAEEEBRER

—EAREE (ANRES)

2023 2022
—E-= B
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARETTT
561,011 556,679
69,698 85,371
(33,519) (28,809)
(35,421) (33,019)
(41,229) (35,882)
5,808 2,863
(35,421) (33,019)

Year ended 31 December
BEt+t-A=t—BHILEE
2023 2022
o= —m——

—_=—= —

(Re-presented)
(ZE7)

(RMB28.90 cents)
(AR #28.907)

(RMB26.69 cents)
(NER#E26.697)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Revenue A
KA 600,000
500,000 g
5 5 %
400,000 = § 3
] >
300,000
200,000
100,000
0
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—T-NF ZTTF T —F —E-—F —B-=F
Loss Attributable A
to the Owners of 0
the Parent
SENSE 2PN 0o
EiEEE -40,000 = & p
2 = & —
-60,000 § E
2
-80,000
-100,000
-120,000
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—T-NF —ETF —T-—F —T—F —g=-=
Total Assets PR
REE 1,500,000
1,000,000
~
500,000 E
o
0
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—T-NF kb 223 —T-—F —E-—F —B==
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBEE

SELECTED FINANCIAL RATIOS INFORMATION RETHHLERER

Year ended 31 December

BET-R=1-HLEE

2023 2022 2021 2019
—E-= —E- ! - —E-N%F
(approximate) (approximate) (approximate) (approximate) (approximate)

(#4) (#4) (84 (BE4) (
Gross profit margin ESIES 12.4% 15.3% 118% 109% 13.3%
Net loss margin'” RERX0 (6.3%) (5.9%) (4.6%) (16.8%) (5.0%)
Current ratio (times) RELE () 1.0 13 14 13 13
Gearing ratio® BRARLED 31.2% 12.7% 108% 8.7% 5.8%
Return on total assets® BEEDHRY (4.7%) (6.7%) (3.1%) (9.5%) (2.0%)
Return on total equity®” B ERY (12.1%) (10.2%) (5.6%) (14.4%) (2.8%)

M Calculated by using loss for the year divided by revenue. M RENEERRABRAGTH -

@ Calculated by using the total of interest-bearing bank and other @ RET RRIT R E MR B A RIE A KA
borrowings, promissory note payable and convertible bond divided by REFERRIABEEETE -

total assets.

® Calculated by using loss for the year divided by average balances of @ RENEBRAGAES G, THRETE -

total assets or total equity.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 =B = = fF i #f 1



FINANCIAL SUMMARY
%=

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES INFORMATION

2023
—E-=
RMB’000
ARETR
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBESEN
(excluding pledged deposits) (TREBEAER) 76,196
Current assets REYEE 464,626
Non-current assets FnRBEE 281,774
Current liabilities RBAE 467,012
Non-current liabilities ¥rBEE 12,555
Equity attributable to SRAEAAEGER
owners of the parent 266,833
Non-controlling interests IR =

CASH FLOWS INFORMATION

2023
—EC-=

RMB’000

ARBT T
Net cash (used in)/from BeEH (MA)/ M5

operating activities HeFE (36,906)
Net cash (used in)/from REZY (FA)/FE

investing activities Retd (20,412)
Net cash from/(used in) BEEYHE/ (FR)

financing activities ReFE 73,991

1 2 InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA

EEHRAEER

As at 31 December
BR+=B=1-H
2021

- St
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT

59,436 54,920 76,128
495,651 378,406 366,343
250,761 217,023 304,127
382,620 276,936 279,786

43,699 49,192 20,140
309,236 322,750 371,099

10,857 6,991 49,445
BeEREEHR

Year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t-HLEE
2022

S g--F% %
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT

(35,242) (8,707) 19917
(24.,905) (6,456) 24,699
63,156 (4,867) (15,833)

2019
“E-NE
RMB'000
ARETT

48,781
399,185
710,719
301,639

27,103

728,093
53,269

2019
“E-NE
RMB'000

39,347
(40,333)

(47.486)



FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBEE

A summary of consolidated financial results for the last five financial years is ~ SI A AN BRFEENGE P HEEENBEZOT
as follows:

Year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t-HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2019

—“E-= “E-CF —E--F —E-NEF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 00 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARH

CONTINUING OPERATION BREEER
Revenue WA 561,011 556,679 484,598 469,116 488,682
Cost of sales HENR (691,313) (471,308) (427,490) (£17.849) (£23,640)
Gross profit 7 69,698 85,371 57,108 51267 85,042
Other income and gains BB A RN E 4,206 6,717 5,252 6,027 3,891
Selling and distribution expenses  HERDHEY (27,440) (28,709) (25,806) (25,942) (24,654)
Administrative expenses THRY (62,291) (48,508) (54,359) (48,647) (56,038)
Other expenses, net A FE (6,988) (19,431) (123¢) (58,057) (6,764
Finance costs BERK (10,704) (4,249) (3007 (2.926) (4,115)
Loss before tax RAER (33,519) (28809) (22,048) (78,278) (22,638)
Income tax expense FERAEX (1,902) (4,210) (281) (384) (2,027)
Loss for the year from RERELEEBEN
continuing operation FEER (35,621) (33,019) (22329) (78.662) (24,665)
DISCONTINUED OPERATION BRLSEER
Profit/(loss) for the year from REBRIHEEEKMN
discontinued operation EREH/ (B8) - - 1329 (8.024) -
Loss for the year FEBE (35,421) (33,019) (21,000 (86,686) (24,665)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) TR E 4 BRI &35 8
that may be reclassified to profit REGNHEMEZE
or loss in subsequent periods: g/ (B8):
Exchange differences on translation AEINEAEH ZER
of foreign operations 28 145 1359 26,064 21,848 (57,997)
Recycle of exchange differences i E SN E T B
upon disposal of foreign ERES
operations = - (657) - -
145 1,359 25,407 21,848 (57997)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
%=

Year ended 31 December
HE+-A=t-HLEE
2023 2022 2019

-%-= S B_—F T-% It S K2
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Other comprehensive incomef(loss) ~ REf B AT E3

that will not be reclassified to ’\*ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ’]ﬁﬁﬂ
profit or loss in subsequent periods:  2EE/ (1
Exchange differences on BERER ﬂﬁﬁ%iﬁi’%
translation of the Company’s 2HEH ERER
financial statements into
presentation currency 591 2,965 (27,083) (24,489) 60,052
Financial asset at fair value ONRELERIN
through other comprehensive A2 ERE
income: PREE:
Change in fair value LrBEEY (5,629) (21,718) (70992) (271491) (230,370)
Income tax effect mERYE - - - - 3235
(4,838) (18,753) (98,075) (295,980) (167,083)
Other comprehensive loss EEENZAEER
for the year, net of tax BB (4,693) (17,.394) (72,668) (274,132) (225,080)
Total comprehensive loss for the year &2 ERLEHE (40,114) (50,413) (93,668) (360.818) (249,745)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: T FER
(B8) /&M
- Owners of the parent -BRAEEA (41,229) (35,882) (16,847) (83,051) (21,096)
- Non-controlling interests — RS 5,808 2,863 (4,153) (3,635) (3,569
(35,421) (33,019) (21,000) (86,686) (24,665)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income LXTRHHE’E\E
attributable to: B)/ hEes:
- Owners of the parent T%ﬁ)\ (46,222) (53,924) (89,437) (356,994) (246,278)
- Non-controlling interests —#T%‘J%f\é 6,108 351 (4,231) (3,824) (3,467)
(40,114) (50,413) (93,668) (360,818) (249.745)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2023 (the "Year”), the Group
continued to focus on its core business of IT infrastructure system
integration and sales of smart office software solutions. The majority
of the Group’s revenue was generated in the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC" or “China”) market.

The Group's total revenue recorded an increase of approximately
RMB4.3 million or approximately 0.8% to approximately RMB561.0
million for the Year (2022: approximately RMB556.7 million). The
Group’s gross profit decreased by approximately RMB15.7 million or
approximately 18.4% to approximately RMB69.7 million for the Year
(2022: approximately RMB85.4 million). A net loss for the Year of
approximately RMB35.4 million was recorded (2022: approximately
RMB33.0 million), which was comparable to 2022.

IT Infrastructure System Integration

As a result of the global economic slowdown and geopolitical
uncertainties and volatility throughout 2023, the Group faced a
challenging business environment during the Year. Especially
the China markets showed slow signs of recovery with intense
competition environment, leading to the decline in revenue from
the Group’'s core traditional IT infrastructure system integration
business in China. Nevertheless, the Group continued to leverage
its core competitiveness and provide advanced and customised
IT infrastructure solutions to its customers in diverse segments.
The Group also maintained strategic partnership with various tech
giants, with the aim of acquiring new clients through strategic
alliances to deliver cutting-edge IT infrastructure solutions and
enlarge the customer base.

Despite the revenue from the China market declined, the revenue
from the Group's IT infrastructure system integration business
in Hong Kong recorded a steady growth. The Group's Hong Kong
project regarding the provision of a smart library system for Hong
Kong government’'s Leisure and Cultural Services Department
(the “Library Project”) has contributed revenue of approximately
RMB105.7 million (2022: approximately RMB49.8 million),
representing an increase of approximately RMB55.9 million, or
approximately 112.2% as compared with that of 2022. The Group
expected that the Library Project will be on-going to provide a stable
income stream to the Group.

As a result, the overall IT infrastructure system integration segment
of the Group contributed revenue of approximately RMB504.7 million
for the Year (2022: approximately RMB500.8 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDAMN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Smart Office Software Solutions

The changing economy and operating environment caused by the
COVID-19 pandemic has driven the increase in demand and adoption
of smart office devices and solutions. The Group continuously
enhanced its competitiveness on the integrated product matrix
and strong research and development capability to capture the
enormous growth opportunities in smart office markets in China.
The Group’s smart office solutions - Virsical, a well-designed holistic
facilities, resources and people wellness platform and ecosystem,
focusing in digitised office, building and campus management
solutions featuring visualised and interactive Visitor Management,
Smart Meeting Management, Workspace Management, Message
announcement, Wireless Access, Video Collaboration, and Instant
Messaging, are serving most of the Fortune 500 enterprises which
covered Medical, Education, Finance, Manufacturing, Campus setup
and Retails. Accordingly, the Group’s revenue from the provision of
smart office software solutions increased by approximately RMBO.4
million, or approximately 0.7%, to approximately RMB56.3 million
for the Year, following respective revenue of approximately RMB55.9
million in 2022.

Other Investments

During the Year, the Group continued to invest in Hong Kong's
stock market through on-market transactions. To enhance financial
returns to its shareholders and limit risk exposure, management
adopts and follows a prudent investment policy. As at 31 December
2023, the Group held equity securities listed in Hong Kong worth
approximately RMB6.8 million as financial assets for trading (2022:
approximately RMB13.5 million). During the Year, the Group recorded
a net fair value loss on equity investments at fair value through
profit or loss of approximately RMB3.0 million (2022: fair value gain
of approximately RMB5.1 million). In additions, the Group hold five
car-parking spaces and a commercial office during the Year and all
of them have been leased out, providing stable rental returns to the
Group. Influenced by sluggish property market in Hong Kong, the
Group recorded a net fair value losses on investment properties of
approximately RMB6.8 million (2022: approximately RMB3.2 million)

for the Year.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and cost of sales

Revenue of the Group for the Year was approximately RMB561.0
million (2022: approximately RMB556.7 million), representing an
increase of approximately RMB4.3 million, or approximately 0.8% as
compared with that of 2022. The increase in revenue was primarily
attributable to the combined effect of (i) increase in revenue
contributed by the Library Project; and (ii) decrease in revenue from
the Group's IT infrastructure system integration business in China

for the Year.

Following the increase in revenue, the cost of sales of the Group
increased by approximately RMB20.0 million, or approximately 4.2%
to approximately RMB491.3 million for the Year (2022: approximately
RMB471.3 million). The increase in cost of sales was mainly
attributable to the higher portion of revenue contributed by hardware
and maintenance warranties sales which had comparatively higher

direct cost, as compared to the software sales.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group achieved gross profit for the Year amounted to
approximately RMB69.7 million (2022: approximately RMB85.4
million),
million, or approximately 18.4% as compared with that of 2022. The

representing a decrease of approximately RMB15.7

gross profit margin for the Year was approximately 12.4% (2022:
approximately 15.3%), representing a decrease of approximately
2.9% as compared with that of 2022. The decrease in gross profit
margin was primarily attributable to the increase in the proportion
of sales contributed by hardware and maintenance warranties sales,
which have a comparatively lower gross profit margins.

Other income and gains

The Group recorded other income and gains of approximately
RMB4.2 million for the Year (2022: approximately RMB6.7 million),
mainly consisted of (i) rental income from investment properties
of RMB1.1 million (2022: approximately RMB61,000); and (ii) the
government grants released to the Group of approximately RMB1.2
million (2022: approximately RMB1.1 million). The other income
decreased was mainly due to the absence of fair value gain on equity
investments at fair value through profit or loss for the Year (2022:
approximately RMB5.1 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDAMN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses of the Group decreased
by approximately RMB1.3 million or approximately 4.5% to
approximately RMB27.4 million for the Year (2022: approximately
RMB28.7 million). The selling and distribution expenses for the Year
was comparable to that of 2022.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group decreased by
approximately RMB6.2 million or approximately 9.1% to
approximately RMB62.3 million for the Year (2022: approximately
RMB68.5 million), primarily attributable to the decrease in staff cost
and overall administrative expenses as a result of continuous cost

reduction managed by the Group.

Other losses

The other losses for the Year represented (i) fair value losses
on equity investments at fair value through profit or loss
of approximately RMB3.0 million (2022: fair value gains of
approximately RMB5.1 million recorded in “Other income and
gains”); and (ii) fair value losses on investment properties of
approximately RMB6.8 million (2022: approximately RMB3.2 million).
The other losses for 2022 also included a fair value loss on debt
investment at fair value through profit or loss of approximately
RMB10.9 million.

Finance costs

The finance costs of the Group increased by approximately RMB6.5
million to approximately RMB10.7 million for the Year (2022:
approximately RMB4.2 million) as the new bank borrowings for the

Year increased the finance costs.

Income tax
The income tax of the Group comprised provision of income tax

expense and deferred tax.

The Group recorded provision of income tax expense of
approximately RMB5.4 million for the Year (2022: approximately
RMB7.0 million), which was arising from the assessable profits of

the Group's subsidiaries in China and in Hong Kong during the Year.

1 8 InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA

B ERE (&)

HERDHEX
REBRAFENHE RS HEASZAIHNARKE
13BBILHNLS%ENAREILEETL(ZE
ZZFHWARBBTAETL) AFENHEER
DA E T FEE -

ITHBAX
AEBRAFENTHRASRPDOARKE2EBES
TV INENARELIFET (ZF -5
WMARBBIAET)  TEARAEBFERR
RAS B THRAREEBITERASRD

Hibg5 8

REEMEMBERONEZA R BEF ABRIR
BEREANBEBEHNAREIEEL(ZE
ZZFHEMmRARKSEESAREBEBEKEHOA
REIBET) RIMREMEN AR BEBE
WARBSEEL(ZE__F - HARKE3 2T
BL) —E_FHNEMEBEBETRERAAE
Bt A\ EamEBEREAABEBEOARE
109887

il & B A
REBRAFENRMEKTEMOARKSEE
TENARBICTAEET (ZTEZZF HARK
L2ABTL)  RARKAFEMIMIGHRITERS R
B A N

Frig8t
REERFIEHBEENFE X BB KR
IHo

REBRAFEHEMEHAIBEOARKESL
BET(ZZEZZF - HAREKIBET) @A
EEFELEENHBRRRAFEENERFE
MEE-



FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The Group recorded total tax expense of approximately RMB1.9
million for the year (2022: approximately RMB4.2 million), primarily
due to the recognition of the deferred tax credit of approximately
RMB3.0 million (2022: approximately RMB3.0 million) arising from
the amortisation of other intangible assets, which offset the impact

of the provision of income tax expense mentioned above.

Loss for the Year

The Group recorded a loss for the Year of approximately RMB35.4
million for the Year (2022: approximately RMB33.0 million). The
increase in loss was mainly attributable to the combined effect of
decline of gross profit, the decrease in other losses and the increase

in finance cost for the Year.

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’'s gearing ratio, which is
calculated by total of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
promissory note payable and convertible bond divided by total
assets, was approximately 31.2% (2022: approximately 12.7%). The
increase in Group's gearing ratio was mainly due to the increase in
bank and other borrowings from approximately RMB69.9 million as
at 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB169.6 million as at 31
December 2023, and the increment was mainly due to the increase
in new bank borrowings to finance the Group’s business operation in
Hong Kong for the Year.

As at 31 December 2023, the total interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings of the Group amounted to approximately RMB169.6
million (2022: approximately RMB69.9 million), among which
approximately RMB119.8 million (2022: approximately RMB50.6
million) was unsecured and guaranteed by a director of the
Company. As at 31 December 2023, the interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings of approximately RMB19.9 million (2022:
approximately RMB19.3 million) carried at fixed interest rates and
approximately RMB149.7 million (2022: approximately RMB50.6

million) carried at floating interest rates.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of convertible bond
of the Group amounted to approximately RMB26.4 million (2022:
approximately RMB24.6 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDAMN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Liquidity and financial resources (continued)

Save as aforesaid or as otherwise disclosed in this report, and
apart from intragroup liabilities, the Company did not have any
other outstanding indebtednesses or contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2023.

Foreign currency risk

As certain of the Group's trade and other receivables, cash and
cash equivalents and trade and other payables are denominated in
foreign currency, exposure to exchange rate fluctuation arises. The
Group has relevant policy to monitor the risk associated with the

fluctuation of foreign currency and control such risk, if necessary.

Working capital

Inventories balance as at 31 December 2023 was approximately
RMB16.1 million (2022: approximately RMB20.3 million). The average
turnover days for inventories was 14 days as at 31 December
2023 (2022: 15 days). Trade and bills receivables balance as at
31 December 2023 was approximately RMB304.1 million (2022:
approximately RMB318.1 million). The average turnover days for
trade and bills receivables increased to 202 days as at 31 December
2023 (2022: 173 days), which was due to longer collection period for
certain customers and milestones payment term for Library Project.

Trade payables balance as at 31 December 2023 was approximately
RMB168.7 million (2022: approximately RMB215.2 million). The
average turnover days for trade payables decreased to 143 days as
at 31 December 2023 (2022: 151 days).

Affected by the increase in average turnover days for trade and bill
receivables, the Group's cash conversion cycle for the Year increased
from 37 days in 2022 to 73 days in 2023.

Cash flows
The net cash used in operating activities for the Year amounted to
approximately RMB36.9 million.

The net cash used in investing activities for the Year of approximately

RMB20.4 million was mainly attributable to the acquisition of
investment properties of approximately RMB26.3 million.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Cash flows (continued)

The net cash generated from financing activities for the Year of
approximately RMB74.0 million was primarily attributable to the
combined effect of: (i) repayment of bank and other borrowings of
approximately RMB46.1 million; (i) new bank and other borrowings
of approximately RMB146.4 million; and (iii) payments for the
acquisition of 30% interest in the Group's unincorporated joint

venture.

Charge on assets

As at 31 December 2023, investment properties of approximately
RMB72.7 million (2022: approximately RMB5.5 million) were pledged
as security for interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of the
Group.

Capital expenditures
The Group had capital expenditures of approximately RMB88.1
million for the Year (2022: approximately RMB10.1 million) for
additions to property, plant and equipment, investment properties
and right-of-use assets.

Capital commitments
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no significant capital
commitments (2022: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDAMN

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Placing of new shares under general mandate

On 7 November 2023, China Demeter Securities Limited, a
placing agent and the Company entered into a conditional placing
agreement pursuant to which the Company has conditionally
agreed to place through the placing agent, on a best effort basis, a
maximum of 23,448,000 ordinary shares of the par value of US$0.01
each in the share capital of the Company (the “Placing Share(s)")
at the placing price of HK$0.19 per Placing Share (the “Placing”).
The closing price of the shares of the Company as quoted on the
Stock Exchange on 7 November 2023, being the date of the Placing
Agreement, was HK$0.21 per share. The Placing is conditional upon
the fulfilment of the following conditions: (i) the Listing Committee
of the Stock Exchange granting the approval for the listing of, and
the permission to deal in, the Placing Shares; and (ii) all necessary
consents and approvals to be obtained on the part of each of the
Placing Agent and the Company in respect of the Placing Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder having been
obtained. Completion of the Placing took place on 28 November
2023, and an aggregate of 23,448,000 Placing Shares (with aggregate
nominal value of US$234,480) have been fully issued to not less than
six placees who shall be professional, institutional or other investors
independent of and not connected with the Company, the connected
persons of the Company and their respective associates. As such,
the gross proceeds from the Placing was approximately HK$4.5
million, and the net proceeds from the Placing, after deducting the
placing commission and other related expenses incurred in relation
to the Placing, was approximately HK$4.2 million. The net issue
price of each Placing Share is HK$0.18. Up to the date of this report,
the net proceeds from the Placing was fully used for the repayment
of the Group's current liabilities as intended. Details of the Placing
are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 7 November
2023 and 28 November 2023.

Subscription of new shares under specific mandate

On 7 November 2023, Mr. Wong Tai Kuen being the subscriber
(the "Subscriber”) and the Company entered into the subscription
agreement (the "Subscription Agreement”) pursuant to which the
Subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe for 59,200,000
ordinary shares of the par value of US$0.01 each in the share capital
of the Company (the “Subscription Share(s)’) at the subscription
price of HK$0.19 per Subscription Share (the “Subscription”).
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE (continued)

Subscription of new shares under specific mandate
(continued)

Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, the Subscriber agreed
that, in the event that upon completion of the Subscription, the
number of Subscription Shares to be allotted and issued to the
Subscriber under the Subscription Agreement would cause the
shareholding of the Subscriber to become 30% or more (or such
percentage that would trigger the obligation of the Subscriber to
make a general offer for the issued shares of the Company under
Rule 26 of the Takeovers Code), the Company shall have the right
to adjust the number of Subscription Shares downward such that
no general offer obligations on the part of the Subscriber would
be triggered. The Subscription was conditional upon the fulfilment
of the following conditions: (i) the Stock Exchange granting the
listing of and permission to deal in the Subscription Shares; (ii) all
necessary consents and approvals required to be obtained by the
parties hereto in respect of the Subscription Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder, including but not limited
to the Subscription, having been obtained; and (iii) the passing
of necessary resolution(s) at the special general meeting of the
Company by the Company's shareholders who are entitled to vote
and not required to abstain from voting under the Listing Rules and
other applicable laws and regulations to approve the Subscription
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder, including
the specific mandate for the allotment and issue of the Subscription
Shares.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, all the conditions
of the Subscription Agreement have been fulfilled and the
completion of the Subscription took place on 31 January 2024. The
Subscriber has subscribed for 59,200,000 Subscription Shares
(with aggregate nominal value of US$592,000) at the subscription
price of HK$0.19 per Subscription Share. The closing price of the
shares of the Company as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 7
November 2023, being the date of the Subscription Agreement, was
HK$0.21 per share. The gross proceeds from the Subscription was
approximately HK$11.3 million. The net proceeds, after deduction
of all relevant expenses (including but not limited to legal expenses
and disbursements) incidental to the Subscription of approximately
HK$0.5 million, was approximately HK$10.8 million. The net issue
price of each Subscription Share is HK$0.18. Up to the date of
this report, the net proceeds from the Placing was fully utilised as
intended as to (i) approximately HK$9.3 million for the repayment
of the Group’s current liabilities; and (i) the remaining proceeds of
approximately HK$1.5 million for the general working capital of the
Group in which approximately HK$1.3 million and approximately
HK$0.2 million for payment of salaries expenses and rental
expenses respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDAMN

CAPITAL STRUCTURE (continued)

Subscription of new shares under specific mandate
(continued)

Details of the Subscription are set out in the announcements of
the Company dated 7 November 2023, 11 January 2024, 25 January
2024 and 31 January 2024, and the circular of the Company dated 20
December 2023.

The Directors consider that the Placing and the Subscription
represent an opportunity to raise additional funding for the business
operations of the Group and will strengthen the Group’s financial
position, and enlarge the shareholders’ base of the Company which
may in turn enhance the liquidity of the Shares, and provide working

capital to the Group to meet any financial obligations of the Group.

INVESTMENT IN LISTED EQUITY INVESTMENTS

During the Year, the Group recorded fair value losses on equity
investments at fair value through profit or loss of approximately
RMB3.0 million (2022: fair value gains of approximately RMB5.1
million), which was related to the fair value losses from the Group's
investment in listed securities. As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s
equity investments at fair value through profit or loss consisted of 12
listed equity investments (2022: 13), all of them were shares listed
on the Stock Exchange. The global geopolitical tensions and volatility
of China’s economy throughout 2023 shunned the Hong Kong stock
market, and affected the performance of the Group's securities
investment. The Group will closely monitor the Hong Kong securities

market and the performance of its securities investment.

As at 31 December 2023, the fair value of each of the equity
investments at fair value through profit or loss was less than 5% of
the Group's total assets.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS

Acquisition of entire equity interest in Sino Profit Trading
Limited (“Sino Profit”) and sale of the loans (the “Sale
Loan”) advanced by Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (“Ms. Tin")

On 18 October 2022, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(the "Purchaser”), Delta Wealth Credit Limited (the “Vendor”), Ms.
Tin and Sino Profit (collectively known as the “Parties”) entered into
the sale and purchase agreement (the "Agreement”), pursuant to
which the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to acquire, and the
Vendor has conditionally agreed to sell the entire equity interest of
Sino Profit, together with the Sale Loan, at the total consideration of
HK$87,900,000 (subject to downward adjustment) (the “Acquisition”).
Sino Profit is principally engaged in holding investment properties
located in Hong Kong.

The Acquisition constitutes a connected transaction of the Company.
As at the date of the Agreement (i.e. 18 October 2022), Sino Profit
is wholly-owned by the Vendor, which in turn is indirectly wholly
and beneficially owned by Ms. Tin (an executive Director), therefore
the Vendor and Ms. Tin are connected persons of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder are subject to the
reporting, announcement, circular and independent shareholders’

approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

Upon the completion of the Acquisition on 8 June 2023, Sino Profit
became an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Details
of the Acquisition are set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 18 October 2022, 13 December 2022, 14 March 2023, 28 April
2023 and 8 June 2023, and the circular of the Company dated 25
November 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDAMN

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS (continued)

Acquisition of 30% interest in the Group’s unincorporated
joint venture

On 10 April 2023 and 13 April 2023, Wafer Systems (Asia) Limited
("Wafer”, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company),
iMusic iDol Limited (the “JV Partner”), and Delta Wealth Finance
Limited ("Delta”) entered into a settlement agreement and a
supplemental agreement to the settlement agreement (collectively
the “Settlement Agreements”) respectively in relation to the
settlement arrangement. The arrangement involves the payment of
an aggregate sum of HK$9 million by Wafer to the JV Partner and
the return of 30% of the total security guarantee deposit by Wafer to
the JV Partner, and in return the JV Partner shall transfer its 30%
beneficial interest in Wafer iMusic Joint Venture (the “Joint Venture”,
a contractual unincorporated joint venture with its beneficial interest
owned as to 70% by Wafer and 30% by the JV Partner) to Wafer (or
its nominee), subject to the approval of the Leisure and Cultural
Services Department of the Government of the HKSAR. Details of
the Settlement Agreements are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 13 April 2023. A deed of novation dated 10 May 2023
was entered into among the Government of the HKSAR, Wafer and
the JV Partner, pursuant to which the JV Partner agreed to novate
all of their rights, title and interests in, and all of their liabilities
and obligations, under the contract regarding the Library Project
to Wafer (the "Novation”), and Wafer accepts the Novation and
undertakes to assume, observe, perform, discharge and be bound
by each and all of the liabilities and obligations of Wafer and the JV
Partner under the Library Project.

On 1 August 2023, a letter of confirmation was signed by Wafer,
the JV Partner and Delta, confirming that all of their respective
undertakings under the Settlement Agreements have been fulfilled
and duly performed. On the same date, a deed of assignment was
entered into between the JV Partner (as assignor) and Wafer (as
assignee), pursuant to which the JV Partner has agreed to transfer
and assign, and Wafer has agreed to accept the transfer and
assignment of all of the rights, title, ownership and interests held
by the JV Partner under the Joint Venture (the "Assignment”). Upon
completion of the Assignment on 1 August 2023, the Joint Venture
became indirectly wholly owned by the Company.
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EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD
Save as disclosed in this report, the Group has no other significant
event taken place subsequent to 31 December 2023 and up to the
date of this report.

EMPLOYEES
As at 31 December 2023, the total number of employees of the

Group was 325 (2022: 306). The breakdown of employees of the
Group as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

Manufacturing and technical engineering SE R ITAR
Sales and marketing HERTIZHE
General and administration —REITH
Research and development e

Total BEt

Compensation policy of the Group is determined by evaluating
individual performance of the employees and has been reviewed

regularly.

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, the Group will maintain the stable development of
its IT infrastructure system integration and smart office software
solution businesses. Leveraging the Group’s enhanced customer
base and stable revenue streams, the Group remains cautiously
optimistic about its business and operation prospect. Being a
leading provider of smart office solutions in China, the Group has
been deepening its achievements in the smart office field to meet
enterprises’ needs as these relate to intelligent operations, employee
health, collaborative efficiency, carbon emissions reduction, energy
conservation and user experience. Its integrated product matrix,
strong research & development capabilities, large customer base
and extensive ecological cooperation network contribute to its core
competitiveness. The Group will continue to develop and optimise
solutions to offer its customers one-stop smart-space solutions and
facilitate enterprises’ digital transformation. Apart from the above,
the Group will continue actively to participate in tenders to secure
the income stream from both private and public sector customers.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EEEE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (“Mr. Chan”), aged 64, is the chairman
of the Board, an executive Director and the CEO of the Company.
Mr. Chan is also the chairman of the investment committee of the
Company (the “Investment Committee”). Mr. Chan is in charge of the
overall strategic planning, business planning and decision making in
all material matters of the Group. Mr. Chan was appointed as non-
executive Director on 23 December 2015 and was re-designated as
executive Director on 21 September 2016. Mr. Chan was appointed as
the chairman of the Board on 25 February 2016 and was appointed
as the CEO of the Company on 21 September 2016.

Mr. Chan has obtained a degree of Bachelor of Science in
Engineering from The University of Hong Kong in November 1981.
Mr. Chan was previously a member of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference for Chengdu, Sichuan Province, the PRC,
for over ten years. Mr. Chan has over 30 years of experience in the
IT and network industry. Mr. Chan has previously worked for various
multi-national corporations such as General Electric Company, Case
Communications Limited and Infa Telecom Limited and served in
senior executive positions in the Asia Pacific region.

Mr. Chan is currently the sole director of Smoothly Global Holdings
Limited, a Shareholder who has an interest in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance. He is also the director of the
following major subsidiaries of the Company, namely Fortune Grace
Management Ltd., Wafer Systems Limited, Wafer Systems (China)
Ltd., Beijing Wafer New Century Information Technology Co., Ltd.,
Wafer Network Systems (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., Wafer (Xi’an) Software
Co Ltd., and Wafer Systems (Vietnam) Co., Ltd.

Ms. Tin Yat Yu, Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin Carol) (“Ms.
Tin"), aged 58, is a vice-chairman of the Company and an executive
Director and a member of the Investment Committee of the
Company. Ms. Tin was appointed as an executive Director on 11 April
2022.

Ms. Tin obtained a degree of doctor of business administration
honoris causa from the International American University in March
2009. Ms. Tin is an entrepreneur who operates money lending
business and fine dining business. Ms. Tin also has extensive
experience in trading business in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China.
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Executive Directors (continued)

Ms. Tin was an executive director of Carnival Group International
Holdings Limited ("Carnival’) (formerly known as Oriental Ginza
Holding Limited and CASH Retail Management Group Limited) (stock
code: 996), a company whose shares are listed on the main board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”),
for the period from September 2005 to August 2011. Ms. Tin also
served as the chairperson of Carnival from November 2006 to
August 2011 and was responsible for the overall strategic planning
and policy making. Ms. Tin served as a director of Yan Oi Tong
from 2017 to 2018. She has been (i) an executive director of Virtual
Mind Holding Company Limited (formerly known as CEFC Hong
Kong Financial Investment Company Limited) (stock code: 1520), a
company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, since October 2019 and its chairman from January 2021
to January 2022; and (ii) an executive director of Finsoft Financial
Investment Holdings Limited (stock code: 8018), a company whose
shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, since 5 May 2020
and its chairman since 19 May 2020. Ms. Tin is currently a director
of Delta Wealth Finance Limited and Delta Wealth Credit Limited.

Ms. Wang Fang (“Ms. Wang”), aged 56, is an executive Director and
a vice CEO of the Company. Ms. Wang was appointed as Director and

a vice CEO of the Company on 23 December 2015.

Ms. Wang graduated from Nanjing University of Posts and
Telecommunications (formerly known as Nanjing College of Posts
and Telecommunications) (Radio Engineering Section) in July 1988,
and obtained a degree of master of Business Administration from
the program jointly organised by the Beijing University and Fordham
University in May 2002.

Ms. Wang joined the Group in June 1995 and was promoted
as the president subsequently, wherein Ms. Wang was mainly
responsible for daily business operation, management and oversee
of communication system segment, including decision making in
corporate strategy, corporate policy review and internal control. Ms.
Wang has over 20 years of experience in the area of network system

integration.

Ms. Wang is currently the director of the following major subsidiaries
of the Company, namely Beijing Wafer New Century Information
Technology Co., Ltd., Wafer Network Systems (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.,
Wafer (Guangzhou) Technology Company Limited and Wafer (Xi'an)
Software Co Ltd..
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEEE

Executive Directors (continued)
Mr. Lu Chengye (“Mr. Lu”), aged 46, is an executive Director. Mr. Lu
was appointed as Director on 29 May 2013.

Mr. Lu has over 20 years of experience in the communication
industry gained in the Group and in his previous employment. Before
joining the Group, Mr. Lu worked as a director of the science and
research department of base station software development in a
renowned mobile communication equipment company in the PRC
from April 2002 to August 2008, mainly responsible for the design,
development and implementation of solution of communication base
station software. From August 2009 to May 2012, Mr. Lu had served
as the general manager of TD-SCDMA/TD-LTE production line of
another prestigious communication equipment and technology
firm, mainly in charge of the establishment and research and
development works for projects of wireless base station and
communication base station equipments. Mr. Lu obtained his master
degree of engineering from Xidian University (F8% 8 7B KX
£) majoring in information and communication engineering in
March 2002. As an expert from TD-LTE workgroup of the Ministry
of Industry and Information Technology of the People’s Republic of
China (P EE AR K MBE TR AM{EE(LEE) , M. Lu was the inventor
of 7 patented technologies in the communication sector, and has
published several research papers on communication topics in

various journals.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek (former name as Wong Tat Wai Derek)
(“Mr. Wong™), aged 54, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Wong was
appointed as Director on 1 August 2019.

Mr. Wong was educated in Canada. Mr. Wong has approximately 20
years of experience in management and operation of textile and
knitting, food and beverages business. Mr. Wong was a co-founder
and an executive director of Fornton Group Limited (renamed as
Momentum Financials Holding Limited, stock code: 1152, a company
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange)
from October 2011 to June 2014.
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Non-executive Directors (continued)

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee (“Ms. Chung”), aged 53, is a non-
executive Director. Ms. Chung was appointed as a Director on
3 January 2023.

Ms. Chung graduated at Rutgers University, she started her
professional career at General Electric Capital Corporation in the
United States of America and joined A.T. Kearney (Hong Kong)
Limited after returning Hong Kong. Ms. Chung has more than
20 years of experiences in banking, finance and investment, she
also has extensive experiences in strategic planning, business
development, corporate governance and corporate strategy. Ms.
Chung was as an executive director, and the chief executive officer
of China Brilliant Global Limited (stock code: 8026, "CBG Limited”),
a company whose shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange,
from May 2018 to September 2023 and May 2018 to June 2023
respectively.

Ms. Chung has extensive professional experience in global brand
building and investment advisory. She was appointed as chief
executive officer and executive director of Paganini Milano (SG)
PTE Limited in early 2017,
strategic planning, and business development. She leads her

responsible for brand positioning,

team to develop retail business globally. Prior to that, Ms. Chung
was a director at BOCI Securities Limited and an assistant vice
president at HSBC Broking Securities (Asia) Limited responsible for
investment advisory for over 10 years, in charge of a department
that make recommendations and provide professional investment
advices on asset allocation and portfolio management. She was
mainly responsible for developing and maintaining strategic asset
management plans for the assigned portfolio and managing
relationships with various financial institutions like hedge
funds, private equity firms and listing companies. Besides
that,

and recommending asset allocation, disposition and evaluating

she achieved portfolio investment targets by analyzing
alternative investment opportunities to clients.

Since 26 March 2021, Ms. Chung has been appointed as a director
of Brillink Bank Corporation Limited (subsidiary of CBG Limited,
“Brillink”) and she has been appointed as the senior executive
officer of Brillink since 25 March 2022.

Ms. Chung has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Star Plus Legend Holdings Limited, a company whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 6683) since April 2023.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. David Tsoi (“Mr. Tsoi”), aged 76, is an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of the audit committee of the Company and a
member of each of the C&B Committee and nomination committee
of the Company. Mr. David Tsoi was appointed as a Director on 14
May 2021.

Mr. David Tsoi obtained a master’s degree in business administration
from the University of East Asia, Macau (currently known as
University of Macau) in October 1986. Mr. Tsoi was admitted as (i)
an associate of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
in September 1981; and (ii) an associate of the Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong in March 1984. Furthermore, Mr. Tsoi was admitted as
(i) a fellow member of CPA Australia in November 2009; (ii) a fellow
member of the Association of Hong Kong Accountants in July 2014;
(iii) a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales in June 2015; (iv) a chartered professional accountant
member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of British
Columbia, Canada, in June 2015; and (v) a fellow member of the
Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors in December 2015.

Mr. Tsoi has over 30 years of experience in the field of accounting,
auditing and financial management. He currently serves as a
director of Alliott, Tsoi CPA Limited, and he is a certified public
accountant (practicing) registered with the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Tsoi is currently an independent
nonexecutive director of (i) Universal Technologies Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1026) since June 2013; (ii) Green International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 2700) since June 2017; (iii) Tianli Holdings Group
Limited (stock code: 117) since August 2017; and (iv) Everbright
Grand China Assets Limited (stock code: 3699) since January 2018.
The shares of these companies are listed on either GEM or the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.

In the past, Mr. Tsoi had also served as an independent non-
executive director of (i) Loto Interactive Limited (stock code: 8198)
from October 2001 to July 2017; (ii) CRRC Corporation Limited
(stock code: 1766) from March 2008 to June 2014; (iii) Enviro Energy
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1102) from July 2008 to
June 2017; (iv) Guoen Holdings Limited (previously known as Guru
Online (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 8121)) from May 2014 to
August 2023; and (v) VPower Group International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1608) from October 2016 to December 2023. The shares
of these companies are listed on either GEM or the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange.
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Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Hon Ming Sang (“Mr. Hon”), aged 45, is a Committee Member
of the 11th Luoding Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, an independent non-executive Director,
a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Investment
Committee, and the chairman of each of the C&B Committee and
the Nomination Committee. Mr. Hon was appointed as a Director on
31 January 2023.

Mr. Hon graduated with an honour degree of Professional
Accountancy in the School of Accountancy from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He is a CFA charter holder, a member
of The Hong Kong Society of Financial Analysts, a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute and an associate member of The Chartered Governance
Institute. Mr. Hon has over 15 years of working experience in listed
companies and financial institutions. He has extensive experience in
corporate finance, merger and acquisition, investment and financial

management and compliance services.

Mr. Hon is currently an independent non-executive director of the
following companies listed on either GEM or the Main Board of the

Stock Exchange:

Name of the listed companies and stock code

L ARAERRBESRR

Virtual Mind Holdings Company Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the

Stock Exchange with stock code: 1520)

AEERBR AR (—ERBR A ER LT Z 28 IR K5 1520)

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM of the

Stock Exchange with stock code: 8018)

EF S RIIREZERBR AT (—RERBERZGEM LT 2 AR B 55 : 8018)

Asia Energy Logistics Group Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the

Stock Exchange with stock code: 351)
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Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)
Furthermore, Mr. Hon had been an independent non-executive
director of SFund International Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 1367,
listing of which was cancelled on 20 September 2022) ("SFund”)
from November 2016 to February 2017 and was re-designated as
its executive director from February 2017 to August 2022. He had
also been appointed as SFund’'s company secretary, authorised
representative and process agent from July 2017 to August 2022.
Since 16 August 2022, Mr. Hon has been appointed as the chief
financial officer and company secretary of China Gas Industry
Investment Holdings Co. Ltd. (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange with stock code: 1940).

Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (“Mr. Yuen”), aged 65, is an independent
nonexecutive Director and a member of each of the Audit
Committee, the C&B Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Investment Committee. Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai was appointed as a
Director on 7 April 2021.

Mr. Yuen obtained a Bachelor’s degree of Science in Engineering
from the University of Hong Kong in November 1981. Mr. Yuen was
also granted the Diploma in Business Management by the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in August 1987. Furthermore, he received a
degree of Master of Science (Finance) from the National University
of Ireland in October 1999. In April 2007, Mr. Yuen was certified as
a Financial Risk Manager (FRM®) by the Global Association of Risk
Professionals, and was qualified as a Chartered Financial Analyst
(CFA) of CFA Institute in September 2008. In September 2017, Mr.
Yuen was certified as a Chartered Valuer and Appraiser (CVA) by the

Singapore Accountancy Commission.

Mr. Yuen has had over 10 years of experience in the field of valuation.
From September 2013 to May 2017, Mr. Yuen served as one of the
independent non-executive directors of Finsoft Financial Investment
Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 8018) from September 2013 to May 2017. Since
July 2014, Mr. Yuen has been appointed as the director of Ascent
Partners Valuation Service Limited to oversee its valuation business.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating the
elements of good corporate governance into the management
structures and internal control procedures of the Group so as to
achieve effective accountability to the Shareholders as a whole.
The Board strives to uphold good corporate governance and
adopt sound corporate governance practices continuously in the
interest of Shareholders to enhance the overall performance of the
Group. The Company is committed to maintaining sound corporate
governance and had complied with all the code provisions as set out
in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) in Appendix 14
(renumbered to Appendix C1 with effect from 31 December 2023) to
the Rules Governing the Listing Securities on the Stock Exchange
("the Listing Rules”) during the year ended 31 December 2023,
except for the following deviation.

Code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code states that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer (the “CEQ") should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. Being aware
of the said deviation from code provision C.2.1, but in view of the
current rapid development of the Group, the Board believes that with
the support of the management, vesting the roles of both chairman
and CEO by Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo can facilitate execution
of the Group's business strategies and boost effectiveness of its
operation. In addition, under the supervision by the Board which
consists of three independent non-executive Directors, the interests
of the Shareholders will be adequately and fairly represented.
The Company will seek to recomply with code provision C.2.1 by
identifying and appointing a suitable and qualified candidate to the
position of the CEO in future.
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MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 (renumbered to Appendix C3 with effect from 31
December 2023) to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors. On specific enquiries
made, all Directors confirmed that they complied with the required

standards set out in the Model Code during the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition of the Board
As at 31 December 2023 and at the date of this report, the Board
comprised four executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors. The composition of the

Board during the Year and the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (Chairman and CEQ)
Ms. Tin Yat Yu, Carol (Vice-chairman)

Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEQ)

Mr. Lu Chengye

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee
(Appointed on 3 January 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. David Tsoi

Mr. Hon Ming Sang (Appointed on 31 January 2023)

Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen (Resigned on 31 January 2023)

The biographical details of all Directors are set out in pages 28 to
34 of this report. Save as disclosed herein, to the best knowledge of
the Company, there is no other financial, business, family or other
material or relevant relationships among the members of the Board.
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The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and strategic
planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the
Group. The Board brings a variety of experiences and expertise to
the Company.

Functions of the Board

The Board takes overall responsibility to oversee all major matters
of the Group, including the formulation and approval of all policy
matters, considering and approving overall development strategies,
financial objectives, annual budget, investment proposals,
monitoring and controlling the operation and financial performance,
risk management and internal control systems of the Group and to

assume the responsibilities of corporate governance of the Group.

Board meetings and Board practices

During the Year, the Board held 11 meetings. Apart from the
Board meetings, the Board has passed 6 written resolutions. The
Directors can attend meetings in person or through other means of
electronic communication in accordance with the bye-laws of the
Company, being adopted on 31 May 2023 (the "New Bye-Laws").
The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
will assist the chairman of the Board to prepare the agenda of the
meeting and all Directors have the opportunity to include matters
in the agenda for the Board meetings. Notices of at least 14 days
for regular Board meetings are given to the Directors and Board
procedures in compliance with the Articles of New Bye-laws, as
well as relevant rules and regulations. The Directors are provided
with relevant materials relating to the matters brought before the
meetings. All Directors have separate and independent access to
the senior management and the Company Secretary at all time
and will be able to seek independent professional advice at the
Company’'s expenses. The Company Secretary is also responsible
for ensuring the procedures of the Board meetings are observed
and providing the Board with opinions on matters in relation to the
compliance with the procedures of the Board meetings. All minutes
of Board meetings were recorded in sufficient details of the matters

considered by the Board and the decisions reached.

During the Year, a meeting between the chairman of the Board and
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
executives or other representatives of the Group was held to discuss

issues that they wish to raise at the Board.
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Board Meetings

The numbers of the Board meetings held and the attendances

of each Director at the Board meetings for the Year have been

set out as follows:

No. of Board meetings held:

Name of the Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (Chairman and CEO)
Ms. Tin Yat Yu, Carol (Vice-chairman)

Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEQ)

Mr. Lu Chengye

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee
(appointed on 3 January 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. David Tsoi
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen
(resigned on 31 January 2023)
Mr. Hon Ming Sang
(appointed on 31 January 2023)
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai
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(2) General Meeting 2 BRAE
The number of general meeting held and the attendance of REAFEE BEBRZRRRGRBLZES
each Director at the general meeting for the Year have been HERRRG ZIEREHINWAT
set out as follows:
No. of general meeting held: EEBARRRERE: 1
Name of the Directors EEpA
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (Chairman and CEQ) PR 98T (F/EFAEEL) Al
Ms. Tin Yat Yu, Carol (Vice-chairman) Bzt (81£/E) 1/1
Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEQ) TR LT (FEH) 0/1
Mr. Lu Chengye RS A 0/1
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek FATH LA Al
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee EEHEL T 71
Independent Non-executive Directors BYKHITES
Mr. David Tsoi BEARMSE A
Mr. Hon Ming Sang PR A /1
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai RARSELE /1
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Directors’ appointment, re-election and removal

Each of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years, all are subject
to termination in accordance with the provisions of the service
contract or by either party giving the other not less than three
months’ prior written notice.

By virtue of article 102(B) of the New Bye-laws, Directors shall
have the power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy of the Board or
as an addition to the existing Board. Any Director so appointed by
the Board shall hold office until the first annual general meeting of
Shareholders after his appointment and be subject to re-election at

such meeting.

In compliance with the code provision B.2.2 of Part 2 of the CG Code,
all Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. Furthermore, pursuant to article 99 of the New Bye-
laws, at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors
for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3),
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three

years.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Independent non-executive Directors have played a crucial role in
the Board by providing their independent judgment at the Board
meeting and scrutinising the Group's performance. Their views
carry significant weight in the Board’s decision, in particular, they
bring an impartial view to bear on issues of the Group’s strategy,
performance and control. All independent non-executive Directors
possess extensive academic, professional and industry expertise
and management experience and have provided their professional
advices to the Board. The independent non-executive Directors
provide independent advice on the Group’s business strategy,
results and management so that all interests of the Shareholders
will be taken into account, and the interests of the Company and
the Shareholders can be protected. Such mechanisms have been
reviewed on an annual basis by the Board and it has been properly
implemented and considered effective during the Year.
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In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
the Board consists of three independent non-executive Directors,
representing not less than one-third of the Board, among the three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. David Tsoi and Mr. Hon
Ming Sang, possessing appropriate professional qualification in
accounting or related financial management expertise as required
by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received the annual written confirmation of
independence from each of its independent non-executive Directors.
The Company, based on such confirmations, considers that all the
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. David Tsoi, Mr.
Hon Ming Sang and Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai, are independent and they all
meet the specific independence guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

Chairman and CEO

Code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code states that the roles of
chairman and CEO should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Being aware of the said deviation from code
provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code, but in view of the current
rapid development of the Group, the Board believes that with the
support of the management, vesting the roles of both chairman
and CEO by Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo can facilitate execution
of the Group’s business strategies and boost effectiveness of its
operation. In addition, under the supervision by the Board which
consists of three independent non-executive Directors, the interests
of the Shareholders will be adequately and fairly represented. The
Company will seek to recomply with code provision C.2.1 of Part 2
of the CG Code by identifying and appointing a suitable and qualified
candidate to the position of the CEO in future.
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Delegation of powers

The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for
implementing day-to-day operations, administration and
management of the Group’s businesses to the CEO, executive
Directors, senior management and certain specific responsibilities
to the Board committees of the Company. It is the job of the Board
to determine the objectives of the Company and it is the job of the
executives and senior management to decide the means by which
those objectives are best achieved within rules of conduct and limits
of risk that are set by the Board. When the Board delegates aspects
of its management and administration functions to members of
the management team, it gives clear directions as to the powers
of management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances
where the management team needs to report back and obtain
prior approval from the Board before making decisions or entering
into any commitments on behalf of the Company. The delegated

functions and work tasks are regularly reviewed.

Continuous professional development

According to the code provision C.1.4 of Part 2 of the CG Code,
all directors should participate in a programme of continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. The Company should be responsible for
arranging and funding training, placing an appropriate emphasis on

the roles, functions and duties of the Directors.

During the Year, the Company had provided the reading materials
in relation to corporate governance and regulations, including the

publications issued by the Stock Exchange, to all Directors.

The Company also updated the Directors and senior management
on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements from time to time, to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. In particular, training sessions covering
topics including the CG Code and the information of discloseable
transaction and connected transaction under the Listing Rules had
been held during the Year.
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According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of
the training received by the Directors for the Year is as follows:
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REBEFRHUNCE ESNAFEMEZNG
At an T -

Attending
Reading training/briefing
Name of Directors materials sessions
i E
EIBRES
BEEHS B E R IE: =4
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (Chairman and CEQ) BREGIB T (F/EFREZ) v v
Ms. Tin Yat Yu, Carol (Vice-chairman) Bzt (BlEE) 4 4
Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEO) TRt (Fl#EZ) v v
Mr. Lu Chengye PR E ST v v
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek TirMERE v v
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee @EEHET T
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. David Tsoi BRERE v v
Mr. Hon Ming Sang R v v
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai RIBREAE v v
v: Completed Va4
Liability insurance for directors EEE5TERE

The Company has subscribed appropriate and sufficient insurance
coverage on directors’ liabilities in respect of legal actions taken
against Directors arising out of corporate activities since 31 March
2015.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established (i) the audit committee of the
Company (the "Audit Committee”); (ii) the compensation and
benefits committee of the Company (the "C&B Committee”); (iii)
the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”); and (iv) the investment committee of the Company (the
“Investment Committee”), with defined terms of reference. The latest
versions of the terms of reference of the Board committees which
explain their respective role and the authority delegated to them
by the Board are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and of the Company. The Board committees are provided with
sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice and
other assistance in appropriate circumstances, at the Company's
expenses.
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Audit Committee

Composition

The Company established the Audit Committee pursuant to a
resolution of Directors passed on 25 October 2010 in compliance
with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee has set
up the written terms of reference which was revised on 22 March
2012 and further revised on 26 November 2015 and 1 January 2019.
The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment and removal
of external auditors, review the financial statements and material
advice in respect of financial reporting at least at half-year intervals,
and oversee the risk management policies and internal control
procedures of the Group constantly. The Audit Committee currently
consists of three members, namely, Mr. David Tsoi, Mr. Hon Ming
Sang and Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai, all of whom are independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. David Tsoi currently serves as the chairman
of the Audit Committee. Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen resigned as a
member on 31 January 2023 and Mr. Hon Ming Sang was appointed
as a member on 31 January 2023. The Audit Committee has adopted
the terms of reference which are in line with the applicable code
provisions in the CG Code.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s interim results for
the six month ended 30 June 2023, the annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2023, the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2023 and this report.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held 3 meetings to make
recommendation on the re-appointment of external auditors, review
financial statements, financial reporting system, risk management
and internal control systems of the Company. And the attendances
of each Audit Committee member for the Year have been set out as

follows:

EREESE

AH A

AARMBEREZEGIRBEEEN _T—TF+
AZ+THBRBARZERLER EMHRAIES21
fEMA - BEZE SO HEEBERE I
RZE—ZF=RA=+ZHET RR=2ZE—1
F+—A-t+tARBR-_ZE-HhE—A—BE#E—
B - BRZEENETERET IREERER
SNEZBRMMESSEHERER 228+ F
BT BEBREMBAVERENEZER UK
FEHEBALEENEREEBUR RNIPEIERF -
ENEZECEAB=ZBKNEAN RIEERMEL
£ BRERERRBREE (RBAEBILIEN
TEE) BABTEBNEAEZEESER -
BXBRAER-_TE-_=F—A=+—HBBIKE
RBHEREN T -_=F—A=+—BEZE
BRE BREZE D HEMELEEATRIER
PRGN — B BESE -

RZEQLEHNASEHE_T _=FXA

BERBEANTHES BE2E-_T_=F
A —HALEFENEFRE BHE-T
FHtA=Z1T A LFENKREMBERR R
H

[ 4 11 Bd

RAFE BERZESAR-AERAEZREER
SNBIZ BN BB AR MM BRE MRS
EF - RREEMADEZNE - AFEEEZ
ZEEXRBHEZBRMAT

No. of Audit Committee meetings held: EEHBERZESERRE: 3

Name of the Audit Committee members EREESRENA

Mr. David Tsoi C YN ¥13 3/3

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen (resigned on 31 January 2023) BXKREE (RZE_=F—A=+—HF) N/A
i A

Mr. Hon Ming Sang (appointed on 31 January 2023) BRARE (R ZE_=F-—A=1+—HEZF) 3/3

Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai REAMEE 3/3
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C&B Committee

Composition

The Company established the C&B Committee pursuant to a
resolution of Directors passed on 25 October 2010 in compliance
with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules. The C&B Committee has set up
with written terms of reference which was revised on 22 March 2012
and 23 December 2022. The primary duties of the C&B Committee
are to review and make recommendations to the Board on the
overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all Directors
and senior management of the Company. The compensation and
remuneration of all Directors and senior management of the
Company are subject to regular review by the C&B Committee to
ensure that the levels of their compensation and remuneration
are appropriate and none of the Directors determine their own
remuneration. The C&B Committee currently consists of three
members, namely, Mr. Hon Ming Sang, Mr. David Tsoi and Mr. Yuen
Shiu Wai (all are independent non-executive directors). Mr. Hon Ming
Sang currently serves as the chairman of the C&B Committee. Mr.
Hon Ming Sang was appointed as the chairman and a member on
31 January 2023. Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen resigned as the chairman
and a member on 31 January 2023.

During the Year, the C&B Committee held 3 meetings to review and
make recommendation on the remuneration policy and structure
relating to Directors and senior management of the Company. And
the attendances of each C&B Committee member for the Year have

been set out as follows:

No. of C&B Committee meetings held:

Name of C&B Committee members
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FHREINEZEES

AH A
AARIMFHHREFNEZEESNREBEESN T —
TFE+AZHRARBAAERILER FTHREA
EI2BEMK T - FHREFNEZESREEEH
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BB - FEN M EFZE BRI = RK B AR
BIEREAERE BABEXERRBREE (5
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—E - CF A=+ HBEITEERKE-

RAFE FHEERNZEEAR =GR N
BRARREENSNEEENFINBE LS
TR ERE - AN FEEFMRENZE K
BHEZBRIT

CEMFMRENZESSIRE: 3

FHRENZEEHEHR

Mr. Hon Ming Sang (appointed on 31 January 2023) BHEEE (RZTE_=F-A=1+—BEZE) Al
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen (resigned on 31 January 2023) @EXkHEREE(RZZE_=F—A=+—HFE) 2/2
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai R AE 3/3
Mr. David Tsoi BERMESRE 3/3
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Remuneration policy for Directors and senior management
The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is determined on
the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence. The executive
Directors also served as the role of senior management of the Company
during the Year. Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out
in note 8 of the consolidated financial statements.

The model described in code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of Part 2 of the
CG Code was adopted by the C&B Committee. The emoluments
of the Directors are recommended by the C&B Committee, having
regard to the Company’'s operating results, individual performance,
experience, responsibility, workload and time devoted to the
Company and comparable market statistics. Each of the executive
Directors is entitled to a basic salary which is reviewed annually. In
addition, each of the executive Directors may receive a discretionary
bonus as the Board may recommend. Such amount has to be
approved by the C&B Committee.

In addition, the Company maintained share option schemes. The
purposes of the share option schemes are to enable the Company
to grant options to selected eligible participants as incentives or
rewards for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the
Group to recruit and retain high caliber employees and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group and any invested
entity. One of the share option scheme expired in October 2020 and
followed by a new share option scheme adopted on 23 June 2021.

Nomination Committee

Composition

The Company established a nominating and corporate governance
committee pursuant to a resolution of Directors passed on
25 October 2010 (which was renamed as Nomination Committee
on 22 March 2012). The Nomination Committee has set up the
written terms of reference which was revised on 22 March 2012,
and was further revised on 28 August 2013 and 1 January 2019.
The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis and
to recommend to the Board the suitable candidates for Directors
after consideration of the nominees independence and quality in
order to ensure fairness and transparency of all nominations. The
Nomination Committee currently consists of three members, namely
Mr. Hon Ming Sang, Mr. David Tsoi and Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (all are
independent non-executive Directors). Mr. Hon Ming Sang currently
serves as the chairman of the Nomination Committee. Mr. Lu, Brian
Yong Chen resigned as the chairman and a member on 31 January
2023 and Mr. Hon Ming Sang was appointed as the chairman and a
member on 31 January 2023.
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The Nomination Committee adopted the board diversity policy in
August 2013. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits
of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
Pursuant to the board diversity policy, selection of candidates will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

As of the date of this report, the Board consists of three female and
six male Directors. The Board is satisfied with its gender diversity
and will continue to maintain a diverse Board. The Nomination
Committee will also pay attention to maintaining and strengthening
the concern, selection, and development of high-potential female
talents, and nominate and recommend competent and qualified
candidates to the Board when necessary. In the future, gender will
continue to be fully considered in the selection and development
of nominees on the basis of maintaining at least one female Board
member.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed 325 employees
(2022: 306), the ratio of male employees to female employees was
approximately 7.3:2.7 (2022: 7.1:2.9).

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate as a member of
the Board, the Nomination Committee would follow the nomination
policy and consider factors including:

(@)  Reputation;

(b)  Skills, knowledge, experience, cultural and educational
background, gender, age and other qualities required, with due
regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board;

(c) The extent to which the proposed candidate is likely to
contribute to the overall effectiveness of the Board and work
constructively with the existing Directors;

(d)  The skills and experience that the proposed candidate brings
to the role and how he/she will enhance the efficiency and
performance of the Board as a whole;

(e) The nature of existing positions served by the proposed
candidate including directorships or other relationship with the
Company and/or its Directors and impact they may have on
his/her ability to exercise independent judgment; and
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(f) Factors which may affect the proposed candidate’s time

commitment to the Company.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive
and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to
nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held 3 meetings
to make recommendation of appointment of Directors, review
independence of independent non-executive Directors, review the
structure, size and composition of the Board. And the attendances of
each Nomination Committee member for the Year have been set out

as follows:

No. of Nomination Committee meetings held:

Name of the Nomination Committee members

CEMREEZREE

() FEFPEEZREEAGARFN LERD

ZEREZEH2EZ U TAE2EMEMREME 1R
HEEEARRAEMNERREENAL

RAFE REZECEFAZREBURESTE
T EHBVHERTESTNE I BRIESE
R HERAKELEBER AFESR
FEEBENEBLEREZBRETNWAT

BRAH: 3

REZEERERB

Mr. Hon Ming Sang (appointed on 31 January 2023) BRELEE (RZE_=F-—A=T—REZE) 71
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen (resigned on 31 January 2023) POKEREE (RZE=F—A=+—HEE) Al
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai RAAMRSEE 3/3
Mr. David Tsoi BEARMSTE 3/3
Investment Committee REZES

Composition A

The Company established the Investment Committee pursuant
to a resolution of Directors passed on 21 September 2016. The
Investment Committee has set up the written terms of reference
on the same date. The primary responsibilities of the Investment
Committee are to (i) review, evaluate investment projects and issue
opinion for long-term development plan of the Company (including
mergers & acquisition, joint venture and equity investments)
(ii) to study and
make recommendations to the Board on the major investment

and make recommendations to the Board;
and financing solutions, major capital investment and assets
management, and other significant investment matters which may
have effect on the development of the Company. The Investment
Committee currently consists of four members, namely, Mr. Chan
Sek Keung, Ringo, Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol, Mr. Hon Ming Sang and Mr.
Yuen Shiu Wai. Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo currently serves as the
chairman of the Investment Committee. Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen
resigned as a member on 31 January 2023 and Mr. Hon Ming Sang
was appointed as a member on 31 January 2023.
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During the Year, the Investment Committee held 2 meetings and
passed 1 written resolution to review and make recommendation of
several investment projects. And the attendances of each Investment
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
3 % L

T2 g% Widid T
LAY 3| F &él BT 7T EBHEIL

Committee member for the Year have been set out as follows: =R N

No. of Investment Committee meetings held: EERREZEGXRE: 2

Name of the Investment Committee members REZEEREER

Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo Bk 598 55 A& 2/2

Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol H—FE 1/2

Mr. Hon Ming Sang (appointed on 31 January 2023) BRARE (RNZZE_=F-A=+—HEZF) 2/2

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen (resigned on 31 January 2023) POKERGEE (RZEZ=F—A=1+—HE%) N/A
N iE A

Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai RBMREL 2/2

Corporate governance functions EERBEE

The Company's corporate governance functions are carried out by
the Board pursuant to a set of written terms of reference adopted by
the Board in compliance with code provision A.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG
Code, which include (a) to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make recommendations
to the Board; (b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior management
of the Group; (c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (d)
to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Group and the
Directors; and (e) to review the Company’'s compliance with the
applicable CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance

Report.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board, supported by the finance department, is responsible
for the preparation of the Group's financial statements for each
financial year which shall give a true and fair view of the financial
position, performance and cash flows of the Group for that year. In
preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023, the Board has selected suitable accounting policies and
applied them consistently, made judgments and estimates that are
prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the financial statements
on a going concern basis. The Directors are responsible for taking
all reasonable and necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the
Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. The
Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the Company's external auditors, BDO
Limited, on the consolidated financial statements of the Company
are set out in the section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” in

B2
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this report.
External auditors’ remuneration SN S AT BN £
During the Year, the fees paid or payable to the Company's external ~ WARFEE G M IEZERIE DR EMNARQ
auditors in respect of their audit and non-audit services were as  AIYMNEZEEIH BRI
follows:

HK$’000
Type of Services PR 3 5l FHET
Audit services ZBRTS 1,430
Non-audit services* FERZE AR 426
Total Bt 1,856
* including the fees for interim review and tax compliance services. * BERHEMRHBERREER-
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COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, the Company engaged an external professional
company secretarial services provider, Link Corporate Services
Limited (the “Link”), to provide compliance and full range of
company secretarial services to the Company in order to assist the
Company to cope with the changing regulatory environment and
to suit different commercial needs. The financial controller of the
Company is the primary point of contact at the Company with the
Company Secretary. Mr. Fung Siu Kei, the representative of Link, was
appointed as the named Company Secretary on 1 October 2019 and
resigned on 31 January 2023. Mr. Chow Kit Ting ("Mr. Chow") was
appointed as the named Company Secretary on 31 January 2023.

Mr. Chow is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants.

During the Year, the Board has access to the advice and services
of Mr. Chow at all time in accordance with Code Provision C.6.4 of
Part 2 of the CG Code. Mr. Chow had taken no less than 15 hours of
professional training during the Year pursuant to the Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

In accordance with the Listing Rules, any vote of Shareholders
at a general meeting must be taken by poll except where the
chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates
purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be voted on by a
show of hands. Therefore, all votes of the Shareholders at general
meetings shall be taken by poll. The results of voting by poll will be
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company

respectively.
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How Shareholders can convene a special general meeting
and put forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings
Pursuant to article 62 of the New Bye-laws, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary by mail at 706, 7th Floor, Capital Centre, No. 151
Gloucester Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, to require a special general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
or resolution specified in such requisition and such meeting shall
be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board
Shareholders may put forward their proposals or inquiries to
the Board by sending their written request to the Company's
correspondence address in Hong Kong.

INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

Since the change of domicile with effect from 7 July 2021, the
changes in the Company's constitutional documents have been
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely
and effective communication with Shareholders and investors
of the Company. The Board also recognises that effective
communication with investors is the key to establish investor
confidence and to attract new investors. Therefore, the Group
is committed to maintaining a high degree of transparency to
ensure that the investors and the Shareholders receiving accurate,
clear, comprehensive and timely information of the Group by the
publication of annual reports, interim reports, announcements and
circulars. The Company also publishes all corporate correspondence
on the Company's website at http://www.investech-holdings.com.
The Board continues to maintain regular dialogues with institutional
investors and analysts from time to time to keep them informed
of the Group’'s strategy, operations, management and plans. The
Directors and the members of the Board committees would attend
and are available to answer questions at general meetings of the
Company. Separate resolutions would be proposed at general
meetings of the Company on each substantially separate issue.
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The Shareholders may put enquiries to the investor relations working
team of the Company via email (infodinvestech-holdings.com) or
telephone (852-2155 2664) as stated in this report.

EFFECTIVE COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company has adopted the shareholder communication
policy. The purpose of the policy is to ensure that Shareholders
and investors have equal and timely access to the Company's
information, enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an
informed manner, and allow them to participate actively in the
Company’s affairs. The Company publishes updated information on
its business operations and development, financial data, corporate
governance practices and other information on its website for public
access. Meanwhile, the Company also receives enquiries from
Shareholders and investors, handling relevant information requests
and ensuring timely and effective communication with Shareholders

and investors.

The Group had made effective development in investor relations
during the Year under the leadership and support of the Board and
management. The Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholder communication policy during the
Year, and believes that the Company’s shareholder communication
policy has been properly implemented and was effective during the

Year.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the Year, the Board complied with the code provisions on
risk management and internal control as set out in the CG Code.
The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group’s strategic objectives, and maintaining appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems for the
Group. The systems are designed to manage the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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The procedures and feature of the Group’s risk management and

internal control systems are as follows:

For risk management

o Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

o Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

° Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the

residual risks.

For internal control

o Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
control across the Group.

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analysing risks to achieve the Group’s
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should
be managed.

o Control Activities: Action established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried out.

. Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

. Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each components of internal control is present and

functioning.

The management of the Company has established a set of
comprehensive policies, standards and procedures in areas of
operational, financial and risk controls for safeguarding assets
against unauthorised use or disposition; for maintaining proper
accounting records; and for ensuring the reliability of financial
information to achieve a satisfactory level of assurance against the

likelihood of the occurrence of fraud and errors.
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The Board has overseen the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems on an ongoing basis. A year end review
of the effectiveness of the Company's and its subsidiaries” risk
management and internal control systems has been conducted
annually and the systems are considered to be effective and
adequate. The Company has maintained the internal audit function
by engaging an external independent internal control consultant to
carry out the analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy
and effectiveness of the systems, and has procedures in place
to keep information confidential and manage actual or potential
conflicts of interest. Stringent internal structures have been
designed to prevent the misuse of inside information and avoid

conflicts of interest.

The Group has established systems and procedures for
disseminating inside information as defined under the Securities and
Future Ordinance (the “SFQ") so as to ensure inside information is
promptly identified and escalated. Directors and management of the
Group have received relevant trainings to ensure inside information
remains confidential until the disclosure of such information is
appropriately approved, and the dissemination of such information is

efficiently and consistently made.

AMENDMENT OF MEMORANDUM OF CONTINUANCE
AND BYE-LAWS

On 31 May 2023, the Company convened the 2023 annual general
meeting, at which the New Bye-laws were considered and adopted,
and the New Bye-laws took effect commencing from 31 May 2023.

For further details, please refer to the circular of the Company dated
28 April 2023 and the poll results of the annual general meeting of
the Company dated 31 May 2023. The New Bye-laws were published
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange on 31 May
2023.
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The Directors are pleased to submit herewith this annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited liability and
its principal place of business in Hong Kong is 706, 7th Floor, Capital
Centre, No. 151 Gloucester Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

During the Year, the Group was mainly engaged in the provision
of network system integration including the provision of network
infrastructure solutions, network professional services and smart
office software solutions, and the network equipment rental
business.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year is included in
the sections of Chairman’s Statement, Financial Summary and
Management Discussion and Analysis which are set out in pages 5

to 27 of this report and the paragraphs below.

The Group complies with the requirements under the Companies
Ordinance, the Listing Rules and the SFO for the disclosure of
information and corporate governance. The Group also complies with
the requirements of Employment Ordinance and ordinances relating
to occupational safety for the interest of employees of the Group. No
important business event affecting the Group has occurred since the

end of the financial year under review up to the date of this report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group promotes environmental protection by raising the
employees’ awareness of resources saving and efficient use of
energy. In recent years, the Group has implemented several policies
to encourage employees for saving energy and paper. All these
policies aim at reducing resources and saving costs which are
beneficial to the environment and meet the commercial goals of the
Group.

For further information about the environment policies and
performance of the Company during the Year, please refer to
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report prepared in
accordance with Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules to be published
by the end of April 2024 and will be available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and of the Company accordingly.

KEY RISK FACTORS
The following lists out the key risks and uncertainties facing the
Group:

Impact of Local and International Regulations

The business operation of the Group is subject to government
policies, relevant regulations and guidelines established by the
regulatory authorities. Failure to comply with applicable rules and
requirements may lead to penalties, amendments or suspension
of the business operation by the authorities. The Group closely
monitors changes in government policies, regulations and markets

as well as conducting studies to assess the impact of such changes.

Third-Party Risks

The Group has been relying on third-party service providers in
parts of business to improve performance and efficiency of the
Group. While gaining the benefits from external service providers,
management realises that such operational dependency may
pose a threat of vulnerability to unexpected poor or lapses in
service including reputation damage, business disruption and
monetary losses. To address such uncertainties, the Group only
engages reputable third party providers and closely monitors their

performance.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises the accomplishment of the employees by
providing comprehensive benefit package, career development
opportunities and internal training appropriate to individual needs.
The Group provides a healthy and safe workplace for all employees.
No strikes and cases of fatality due to workplace accidents are found

in the year under review.

The Group encompasses working relationships with suppliers to
meet our customers’ needs in an effective and efficient manner.
Each department works closely to make sure the tendering
and procurement process is conducted in an open, fair and
just manner. The Group’s requirements and standards are also
well-communicated to suppliers before the commencement of a

project.

The Group values the views and opinions of all customers through
various means and channels, including usage of business
intelligence to understand customer trends and needs and
regular analysis on customer feedback. The Group also conducts
comprehensive tests and checks to ensure that only quality products

and services are offered to the customers.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in
note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND

The Directors consider that the declaration, payment and amount
of the dividend shall be subject to the status of the Group’s future
development. The Board does not recommend any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).
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CONVERTIBLE BOND

Details of movements in the Company’s convertible bond are set out
in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. Details of the
convertible bond agreement entered into during the Year are set out
below:

On 26 November 2021, the Company issued a convertible bond
with principal amount of HK$30,000,000 (the “Convertible Bond")
to Smoothly Global Holdings Limited, a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (the "BVI") with limited liability
and is 70% and 20% owned by Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo and
Ms. Wang Fang respectively, for settlement and discharge of
the consideration in accordance with the sale and purchase
agreement dated 23 September 2021 in respect of the acquisition
of 25% equity interest in Fortune Grace Management Limited,
a company incorporated in BVl with limited liability. Details of
the Convertible Bonds are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 23 September 2021, 18 October 2021, 29 October
2021 and 19 November 2021, and the circular of the Company dated
2 November 2021.

The Convertible Bond has an initial conversion price of HK$1.50
per conversion share. The Convertible Bond bears interest on the
outstanding principal amount at the rate of 1.5% per annum, payable
on a semi-annual basis in arrears, and will mature on the three

years from the date of issue.

Assuming the Convertible Bond is converted in full at the Conversion
Price of HK$1.50 per conversion share, a maximum of 20,000,000
conversion shares will be issued, representing (i) approximately
14.22% and 10.01% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
31 December 2023 and the date of this annual report respectively;
and (ii) approximately 9.10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the conversion
shares (assuming that there is no change in the issued share capital
of the Company from the date of this annual report up to the full
conversion of the conversion shares). Such allotment and issue of
the conversion shares will result in the respective shareholdings of
the shareholders of the Company as a the date of this annual report
being diluted by approximately 9.10%.
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CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued) AR ES (8

Set out below is the dilution effect on the equity interest of the LA RNEFIMH A F IR B B 2 3B EEE # K (E Al A%
substantial Shareholders (within the meaning of the Listing Rules) if EZ HEFERR (TERE EMHRB)REELERN
there had been full conversion of the outstanding Convertible Bond — ##& 5/ 28 :

as at the date of this annual report:

Shareholding as at the date Shareholding upon full conversion
of this annual report of the Convertible Bond
RAFEHHHEFR REHBRTRRESRBER

Approximate Approximate

Number of percentage of Number of percentage of
Name of Shareholders REEE shares held shareholding shares held shareholding
MERGHE #BARREIL FREROBE BASREI

Wong Tai Kuen BN 59,740,000 29.89% 59,740,000 27.17%
Smoothly Global Holdings Smoothly Global
Limited (Note) Holdings Limited
(Hizt) 15,505,941 7.76% 35,505,941 16.15%

Note: These 15,505,941 shares are held by Smoothly Globa Holdings Bzt 15,505,9410% B 1% B Smoothly Globa Holdings

Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with Limited (—FAR RBEBRESEMAZE
limited liability and is 70% and 20% owned by Mr. Chan Sek Keung, BRARFE THMTEEHRHREER
Ringo and Ms. Wang Fang, who are executive Directors, respectively. EFZEHRIFFHET0O%TM20% [R5 58 5t &
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo was also interested in 5,241,850 shares of TN ZN 3R &5 B HA 745,241,850 AN A A] i {0
the Company as at the date of this report (including 1,500,200 Shares HEEZ (BREBHE2E % B M Woodstock
held by Woodstock Management Limited which is wholly owned by Management Limited?% 78 #91,500,200/% %15 )
him).

Taking into account that as at 31 December 2023, the Group had & ERZZEZ=F+ZA=+—H AKEHHN
net assets of approximately RMB266,833,000, the Company expects & &= FE X A A R #266,833,0007T ' A~ A & FE 7T
that it would be able to meet its redemption obligations under the — #EESABITAI AR IEEIB T B LI FHIE -
Convertible Bond.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company will declare and/or recommend the payment of
dividends to Shareholders after considering the Company’s ability
to pay dividends, which will depend upon, among other things,
its actual and expected financial performance, its current and
future business operation, level of liquidity, capital requirements,
contractual and regulatory restrictions and so on. The Board
has complete discretion on whether to pay a dividend, subject to
Shareholders” approval, where applicable. Even if the Board decides
to recommend and pay dividends, the form, frequency and amount
will depend upon its actual financial performance, its current and
future business operation, level of liquidity, capital requirements,
contractual and regulatory restrictions of and affecting the Group.
The Board may also consider declaring special dividends from
time to time, in addition to the interim and/or final dividends. The
Company would review and reassess the dividend policy and its

effectiveness on a regular basis or as required.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

The Company's reserves available for distribution, calculated in
accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda, amounted to
approximately RMB164.6 million as at 31 December 2023. Such
amount includes the Company’'s share premium, contributed surplus
and capital reserve accounts of approximately RMB967.8 million and
accumulated losses of approximately RMB803.2 million in aggregate
as at 31 December 2023.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The transfer books and register of members of the Company will
to be closed from 28 May 2024 (Tuesday) to 31 May 2024 (Friday)
(both dates inclusive) during which period no transfer of shares
will be registered. The holders of shares whose name appears on
the register of members of the Company on 31 May 2024 (Friday)
will be entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting of
the Company (the "Annual General Meeting”). In order to qualify for
attending and voting at the Annual General Meeting, all transfers
of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’'s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’'s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on
27 May 2024 (Monday).
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company or its
subsidiaries were entered into or existed during the Year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate sales
attributable to the Group's top five largest customers comprised
approximately 35.5% (2022: 30.4%) of the Group's sales and the sales
attributable to the Group's largest customer were approximately
18.8% of the Group's sales. The aggregate purchases attributable
to the Group’s top five largest suppliers comprised approximately
38.2% (2022: 62.3%) of the Group's purchases for the year and
the purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier were
approximately 19.4% of the Group’s purchases for the year.

So far as is known to the Directors, none of the Directors, their close
associates or any Shareholders owning more than 5% of the Company’'s
issued shares capital had any interest in the share capital of any of the
top five largest customers and suppliers of the Group.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
and the Group's financial position as at that date are set out in the

consolidated financial statements on pages 90 to 235 of this report.

The Group's loss attributable to owners of the parent for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was approximately RMB41.2 million.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION

Acquisition of entire equity interest in Sino Profit Trading
Limited (“Sino Profit”) and sale of the loans advanced by
Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (“Ms. Tin")

On 18 October 2022, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the
“Purchaser”), Delta Wealth Credit Limited (the “Vendor”), Ms. Tin
and Sino Profit, entered into the sale and purchase agreement,
pursuant to which the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to acquire,
and the Vendor has conditionally agreed to sell the entire equity
interest of Sino Profit together with the sale of the loans, at the total
consideration of HK$87,900,000 (subject to downward adjustment)
(the "Acquisition”). The Acquisition has been completed on 8 June
2023.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION (continued)

Acquisition of 30% interest in the Group’s unincorporated
joint venture

On 10 April 2023 and 13 April 2023, Wafer Systems (Asia) Limited
("Wafer”, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company),
iMusic Dol Limited (the “JV Partner”), and Delta Wealth Finance
Limited ("Delta”) entered into a settlement agreement and a
supplemental agreement (collectively the “Settlement Agreements”)
respectively in relation to the settlement arrangement. Details of
the Settlement Agreements are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 13 April 2023.

On 1 August 2023, a letter of confirmation was signed by Wafer,
the JV Partner and Delta, confirming that all of their respective
undertakings under the Settlement Agreements have been fulfilled
and duly performed. On the same date, a deed of assignment
was entered into between the JV Partner (as assignor) and Wafer
(as assignee), pursuant to which the JV Partner has agreed to
transfer and assign, and Wafer has agreed to accept the transfer
and assignment of all of the rights, title, ownership and interests
held by the JV Partner under Wafer iMusic Joint Venture (the
“Joint Venture”, a contractual unincorporated joint venture with its
beneficial interest owned as to 70% by Wafer and 30% by the JV
Partner) (the "Assignment”). Upon completion of the Assignment on
1 August 2023, the Joint Venture became indirectly wholly owned by
the Company.

in the
section of "Management Discussion and Analysis” in this report for
details

Please refer to the paragraph headed “Material Acquisition”

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in the investment properties of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 13 to
the consolidated financial statements and its details are also set out
in the section headed “Principal Properties” in this report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the financial year ended 31 December 2023 and

up to the date of this report include:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (Chairman and CEO)
Ms. Tin Yat Yu, Carol (Vice-chairman)

Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEQ)

Mr. Lu Chengye

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee (Appointed on 3 January 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. David Tsoi

Mr. Hon Ming Sang (Appointed on 31 January 2023)

Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen (Resigned on 31 January 2023)
The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of independence.
The Company considers all of the independent non-executive

Directors are independent in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to article 99 of the New Bye-laws, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire
from office by rotation, provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement at an annual, general meeting at least once every
three years. Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (executive Director),
Ms. Wang Fang (executive Director) and Mr. David Tsoi (independent
non-executive Director) are the Directors, whom, since their last
election, serve the longest in office shall retire from office by rotation
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and are eligible to offer
themselves for re-election.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years. Each of Mr. Chan Sek Keung,
Ringo and Ms. Wang Fang’s current service contract was renewed
on 23 December 2021, Mr. Lu Chengye’s current service contract
commenced on 28 May 2022, and Ms. Tin Yat Yu, Carol's current
service contract commenced on 11 April 2022.

Each of Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek and Ms. Chung Elizabeth Ching Yee
(all are non-executive Directors) have entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of three years, and their current
service contract commenced on 31 July 2022 and 3 January 2023,

respectively.

Each of Mr. David Tsoi, Mr. Hon Ming Sang and Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai
(all are independent non-executive Directors) has entered into
a service contract with the Company for a term of three years.
The service contract of Mr. David Tsoi commenced on 14 May
2021. Mr. Hon Ming Sang’s current service contract commenced
on 31 January 2023. The service contract of Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai
commenced on 7 April 2021.

All service contracts with Directors are subject to termination,

among others, by giving not less than three month’s written notice.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The C&B Committee considers and recommends to the Board
the remuneration and other benefits paid by the Company to the
Directors. The remuneration of all Directors is subject to regular
monitoring by the C&B Committee to ensure that the levels of
their remuneration and compensation are appropriate. Details of
Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the consolidated

financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 28 to 34 of

this report.
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DISCLOSURE OF CHANGE IN INFORMATION ON
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the change of
information on Directors is as follows:

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee was appointed as a non-executive
Director with effect from 3 January 2023. Ms. Chung resigned as
an executive director of China Brilliant Global Limited, a company
whose shares are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock
code:8026), with effect from October 2023 and has been appointed as
an independent non-executive director of Star Plus Legend Holdings
Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6683) since April 2023.

Mr. Hon Ming San was appointed and Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen
resigned as an independent non-executive Director with effect from
31 January 2023.

Mr. David Tsoi, an independent non-executive Director, resigned as
an independent non-executive director of Guoen Holdings Limited
(previously known as Guru Online (Holdings) Limited (stock code:
8121)) and VPower Group International Holdings Limited (stock code:
1608), the companies whose shares are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, with effect from August 2023 and December
2023, respectively.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers
liability insurance and such permitted indemnity provision for
the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force
throughout the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Convertible Bond”
above and the paragraph headed "Material Acquisition” in the
section of "Management Discussion and Analysis™ in this report,
no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which
the Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director and a connected
entity of a Director had a material interest, subsisted at the end of

the year or at any time during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the Shares
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provision of the SFO) or which were required to
be recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the "Model Code”) as follows:

Interest in Shares and underlying shares of the Company

Name of Director

Capacity

Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
("Mr. Chan”)
BRipeeLE ([REED)

Interest of controlled corporation®

REEEERY

Interest of controlled corporation®

REAEERY

Beneficial owner

EREAA

Beneficial owner®

EREAAC

Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol("Ms. Tin")
A—fFat ([A&t])

Beneficial owner

EREAA

Beneficial owner®

EREBAY

Ms. Wang Fang ("Ms. Wang")
EFrat([Ext])

Interest of controlled corporation®

REEEER

Interest of controlled corporation®

FEEENY

Beneficial owner®

EREAA

Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek ("Mr. Wong")
FrragfkE ([EE£4£])

Beneficial owner®

L3 N

(L): Long position
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- 106,200 (L) 0.08%
18,167,400(L) - 12.91%
- 70,200 (L) 0.05%
15,505,941 (L) - 11.02%
- 20,000,000 (L) 14.22%
- 430,200 (L) 0.31%
- 702,000 (L) 0.05%

(DER =)

67

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —Z = =FF3§



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES (continued)

Interest in Shares and underlying shares of the Company
(continued)

Notes:

M

Mr. Chan was deemed to be interested in 17,006,141 Shares,
comprising of (i) 15,505,941 Shares held by Smoothly Global Holdings
Limited by virtue of it being owned as to 70% by Mr. Chan and (ii)
1,500,200 Shares held by Woodstock Management Limited by virtue of
it being owned as to 100% by Mr. Chan.

Ms. Wang was deemed to be interested in 15,505,941 Shares held by
Smoothly Global Holdings Limited by virtue of it being owned as to
20% by Ms. Wang.

These Shares are the share options granted to Mr. Chan, Ms. Tin,
Ms. Wang and Mr. Wong under the share option schemes of the
Company, details of which are set out in the paragraph headed “Share

Option Schemes” below.

These 20,000,000 underlying Shares represented the total number of
Shares which may be allotted and issued to Smoothly Global upon the
exercise of the conversion rights attaching to the Convertible Bond
for the aggregate principal amount of HK$30,000,000 at the initial
conversion price of HK$1.5 per Share. The exercise of the conversion
rights attaching to the Convertible Bond is subject to the terms and
conditions thereof, including the restriction against conversion which
would cause the Company to be in breach of the minimum public float
requirement under the Listing Rules. Mr. Chan and Ms. Wang were
deemed to be interested in the 20,000,000 underlying Shares held
by Smoothly Global Holdings Limited, which was owned as to 70%
and 20% by Mr. Chan and Ms. Wang respectively, by virtue of their
respective interest in Smoothly Global Holdings Limited.

The total number of the issued shares of the Company as at
31 December 2023 (i.e. 140,688,000 shares) had been used for the
calculation of the approximate percentage shareholdings in the

Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the

Directors or chief executives of the Company had or was deemed

to have any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying

Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated

corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which had
been recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO or which had been notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed "CONVERTIBLE BOND"
above, at no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director of the Company or their respective spouses
or minor children, or were such rights exercised by them, or was the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debt securities

(including debentures) of the Company or any other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Details of the equity-linked agreement are set out in the paragraph
headed “CONVERTIBLE BOND" above and the paragraph headed
“Share Option Schemes” below:

Share Option Schemes

Old Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 25 October 2010
(the "Old Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of enabling the
Company to grant options to selected eligible participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group and/or to
enable the Group to recruit and retain high caliber employees and
attract human resources that are valuable to the Group and any
invested entity.

Eligible participants include the Directors, any employee (whether
full-time or part-time) or Shareholder, and any customer, supplier,
agent, business or joint venture business partner, consultant,
distributor, promoter, service provider, adviser or contractor to any

member of the Group.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT (continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued)

Old Share Option Scheme (continued)

The maximum number of Share which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Old Share Option Scheme
and any other schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed
10% of the Shares in issued as at the date of listing on the Stock
Exchange, i.e. 72,000,000 Shares. The scheme mandate limit was
refreshed on the annual general meeting of the Company held on
24 May 2017 to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue on the
same day, i.e. 97,500,000 Shares. No option may be granted to any
participant of the Share Option Scheme such that the total number
of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted and to be granted to that person in any 12-month period up
to the date of the latest grant exceeds 1% of the Company’s issued
share capital from time to time.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Old
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined by
the Board and not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant.
There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised. Participants of the Old Share Option Scheme are
required to pay the Company HK$1.0 upon acceptance of the grant
on the offer date. The exercise price of the options is determined by
the Board in its absolute discretion and shall not be less than which
ever is the highest of:

(@) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of the grant,

which must be a business day;

(b)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five (5) trading days

immediately preceding the date of the grant; and
(¢)  the nominal value of a Share.

The Old Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years from 15 November 2010 after which no further
be granted or offered. As at 31 December 2023, the Old
Share Option Scheme has expired.

options will
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT (continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued)

New Share Option Scheme

On 3 May 2021, the Board proposed to adopt a new share option
scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) upon the approval by the
Shareholders at the Company’s extraordinary general meeting held
on 23 June 2021 (the "EGM").

On 23 June 2021, the Board announced that the New Share Option
Scheme were duly passed by the Shareholders by poll at the EGM.

The summary of the New Share Option Scheme's principal terms
was set out in Appendix Il of the circular of the Company dated
31 May 2021.

The purposes of the New Share Option Scheme are, through
ownership of Shares and/or the increase in value of Shares, to align
the participants’ interests with those of the Group, to incentivise
and reward the participants for their contribution to the long-term
growth and profits of the Group and any entity in which any member
of the Group holds as to more than 50% of the total equity interest of
such entity (“Invested Entity”), and/or to enable the Group to recruit
and retain high calibre employees and attract human resources that
are valuable to the Group and any of the Invested Entity, with a view

to achieving the objective of increasing the value of the Group.

Eligible participants include the Directors, any employee (whether
full-time or part-time) of the Company, any supplier of goods
or services to, any customer of, and any advisors, consultants,
agents and distributors of any member of the Group. Following the
amendments to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules which took effect
on 1 January 2023, the Group will only grant options to such eligible

participants which are permitted under the Listing Rules.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT (continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued)

New Share Option Scheme (continued)

As at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023, 7,020,000 Shares
may be issued upon the exercise of all share options to be granted
under the New Share Option Scheme, representing 10% of the total
of 70,200,000 Shares in issue on the adoption date (i.e. 23 June
2021) and approximately 3.51% of the number of issued Shares as
at the date of this report. On 13 September 2021, options carrying
the rights to subscribe for 6,528,600 Shares under the New Share
Option Scheme have been granted, of which no share options
were exercised and no share options were forfeited or lapsed and
6,528,600 share options were outstanding (entitling holders thereof
to subscribe for up to a total of 6,528,600 Shares, representing
approximately 4.64% of the total number of issued Shares as at
31 December 2023) and approximately 3.27% of the number of
issued Shares as at the date of this report. No option may be
granted to any eligible participant of the New Share Option Scheme
such that the total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted to that person in
any 12-month period up to the date of the latest grant exceeds 1% of
the Company's issued share capital from time to time.

Apart from the New Share Option Scheme, the Company also
granted share options under the Old Share Option Scheme which
expired on 24 October 2020. As at 1 January 2023 and 31 December
2023, 396,000 Shares may be issued pursuant to the Old Share
Option Scheme, representing approximately 0.28% of the total
number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2023 and approximately

0.20% of the number of issued Shares as at the date of this report.

As at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and the date of this report,
the total number of Shares available for issue under the Old Share
Option Scheme and the New Share Option Scheme are 6,924,600,
representing approximately 4.92% of the total number of issued
Shares as at 31 December 2023 and approximately 3.46% of the
number of issued Shares as at the date of this report.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the New
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined by
the Board and not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant.
There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before

it can be exercised.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT (continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued)

New Share Option Scheme (continued)

Participants of the New Share Option Scheme are required to pay the
Company HK$1.00 upon acceptance of the grant on the offer date
and an offer for a grant of option shall remain open for acceptance
by the participant concerned for a period of seven (7) days from
the offer date (inclusive of the offer date). The exercise price of the
options is determined by the Board in its absolute discretion and

shall not be less than whichever is the highest of:

(@) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of the grant,
which must be a trading day;

(b)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for the five (5) trading days
immediately preceding the date of the grant; and

(c)  the par value of a Share on the date of grant.

The New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years from 23 June 2021 after which no further options

will be granted or offered.

Movements of share options during the year ended 31 December
2023 under the Old Share Option Scheme and the New Share Option
Scheme are summarised as follows and details of the same are set

out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT (continued)
Share Option Schemes (continued)
Movements of the Old Share Option Scheme during the Year

R R 10 R ()
BT & (&)
REFEEBKEEEE

Balance Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled Balance
as at during during during during as at Exercise
1January thereporting thereporting thereporting the reporting 31 December Price Exercise
List of Grantees 2023 period period period period 2023 HK$  Date of grant Period
R=ZF=-=%
R=B== RESHA RESHA RESHA  RESHA +=A e
ARAEZE —B—B#&# R K d P ##H =t-B&H BT RHBH e
Directors
=
Chan Sek Keung, Ringo 36,000 - - - - 36,000 340 25/10/2016 25/10/2016-
BRim% (Note 3) 25/10/2026
(K1:#3) (Note 2)
(Hritz)
Wang Fang 360,000 - - - - 360,000 34.0 25/10/2016 25/10/2016-
ESz) (Note 3) 25/10/2026
(H1:#3) (Note 2)
(Biit2)
Total 396,000 - - - - 396,000
5t
Notes: B
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The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before the

date on which the options were granted was HK$1.73.

Up to 40% of the options granted (the “First Options”) are exercisable
during the period from 25 October 2016 to 25 October 2026 (both days
inclusive) (the “First Period”); up to 30% of the options granted (the
“Second Options”) (together with the First Options to the extent the
same has not been exercised during the First Period, as the case
may be) are exercisable during the period from 25 October 2017 to
25 October 2026 (both days inclusive) (the “Second Period”); up to
30% of the options granted (the "Third Options”) (together with the
First Options and the Second Options to the extent they have not been
exercised during the First Period and the Second Period, as the case
may be) are exercisable during the period from 25 October 2018 to
25 October 2026 (both days inclusive) (the “Third Period”).

Since every twenty (20) issued and unissued shares of US$0.02 each
was consolidated into one (1) consolidated share of US$0.40 each in
2021, the exercise price of the share options granted on 25 October
2016 was adjusted from HK$1.7 to HK$34.0.

The share options continue to be capable of exercise during the
prescribed period in accordance with the Old Share Option Scheme

and the terms during the time of granting such share options.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT (continued) FEH I (8)
Share Option Schemes (continued) BIRAETE (&)
Movements of the New Share Option Scheme during the Year X7k & 8 IR & 51 2/ Bf

List of Grantees

ARARE

Directors

=

Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
RA%

Tin Yat Yu, Carol
H—1F

Wang Fang
5

Wong Tsu Wai, Derek
Itk

Other participants
HippRE

Liu Chun Fai (Note 3)
BEE (Ht3)

Service providers (Note 4)
PRI R (Hit4)

Total
@5t

Balance
asat

1 January

2023

RZBZZ%
-B-R&t

Granted
during
the year

REEE
Rit

Exercised
during
the year

REERE
%

Lapsed
during
the year

REFE
3.

Cancelled
during
the year

REFE
i

Balance

asat

31 December
2023
RZBZ=f
+=h
=+-R&tH

70,200 - - - - 70,200
(Note 1)
(Hist1)
70,200 - - - - 70,200
(Note 1)
(Hyzt1)
70,200 - - - - 70,200
(Note 1)
(M)
702,000 - - - - 702,000
(Note 1)
(M)
702,000 - - - - 702,000
4,914,000 - - - - 4,914,000
6,528,600 - - - - 6,528,600

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —Z = =FF3§

Exercise
Price
HK$

TEE

BT

1.486

1.486

1.486

1.486

1.486

1.486

Date of grant Exercise Period

REAM

13/9/2021

13/9/2021

13/9/2021

13/9/2021

13/9/2021

13/9/2021

TS

13/9/2021-
12/9/2025
(Note 2)
(H2)

13/9/2021-
12/9/2025
(Note 2)
(His#2)

13/9/2021-
12/9/2025
(Note 2)
(Hi##2)

13/9/2021-
12/9/2025
(Note 2)
(He2)

13/9/2021-
12/9/2025
(Note 2)
(His#2)
13/9/2021-
12/9/2025
(Note 2)
(His#2)
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT (continued)
Share Option Schemes (continued)
Movements of the New Share Option Scheme during the Year

(continued)
Notes:

1. The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before the

date on which the options were granted was HK$1.40.

2. 50% of the share options are exercisable from 13 September 2021
to the end of the validity period (i.e. 12 September 2025) (both
dates inclusive); and 50% of the share options are exercisable from
13 September 2022 to the end of the validity period (i.e. 12 September
2025) (both dates inclusive). All the share options were not vested as at
31 December 2023.

3. Mr. Liu Chun Fai was a former executive Director who resigned on 6
April 2022.
4. Service providers refer to one supplier of services and six consultants

of the Group who have contributed to the Group in different aspects.
These participants possess extensive experiences, business network
and market connections in their particular sectors which, through
cooperation with these participants, the Group will be able to utilise
their expertise, network and connections to accomplish the long-term

growth and profitability of the Group.

During the Year, no share options were granted, exercised, lapsed or
cancelled under the New Share Option Scheme
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E=gHE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND EERRR R K AD B IR 6 B R i B
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING -
SHARES
So far as is known to any Directors or chief executives of the FERIEFHAQNAGZEITHRABNMA R
Company, as at 31 December 2023, the persons or corporations —=F+=A=+—8 RARQEKHMD ZHEERK

(other than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had A ERSA R MAERIEFH K BHEKDIZE
interest or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of ~ XVEFZE2&3D WKE X AA QDR E - LB LR
the Company which were required to be disclosed to the Company 1RIEFE FH M HAE KO F336(6 BT E < Bt/
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, AL EB (EEXAR R ZEITERAERIN)
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under  #ZAF:

section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Number of Number of Percentage of
issued ordinary underlying the issued
shares of the shares of the  share capital of
Company held/  Company held/ the Company

Name of Substantial Shareholders Capacity interested in interested in (approximate)
s BH e BE L ERANE

EEHNARARE v X (R NNE] 2 #®ITRA

FERRER 54 BITEBEREE HEAR G A Bt (84)

Substantial Shareholder

FTERE
Smoothly Global Holdings Limited Beneficial owner® 15,505,941 (L) - 11.02%
("Smoothly Global”) E=EAANO
Beneficial owner® - 20,000,000 (L) 14.22%
EmEAAY
Other Person
HMA+
Wong Tai Kuen Beneficial owner 59,740,000 (L) - 42.46%
TR EmEAA
(L): Long position L) : tF &
Notes: Biat -

(1) These 15,505,941 Shares are held by Smoothly Global, a company (1)  #%%15,505,941 %% 5 FASmoothly Globali§4& * #%

incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and is RAAREBERRHFR MR LOERAE -
70% and 20% owned by Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo and Ms. Wang I R 558 ST A R E 5 X5 Rl B T70%5K%20%
Fang respectively. Mo
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(3) These 20,000,000 underlying Shares represented the total number of
Shares which may be allotted and issued to Smoothly Global upon the
exercise of the conversion rights attaching to the Convertible Bond
for the aggregate principal amount of HK$30,000,000 at the initial
conversion price of HK$1.5 per Share. The exercise of the conversion
rights attaching to the Convertible Bond is subject to the terms and
conditions thereof, including the restriction against conversion which
would cause the Company to be in breach of the minimum public float

requirement under the Listing Rules.

(4) The total number of the issued shares of the Company as at
31 December 2023 (i.e. 140,688,000 shares) had been used for the
calculation of the approximate percentage shareholdings in the

Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors are
not aware of any other person or corporation (other than Directors
or chief executives of the Company) having an interest or short
position in the Shares and underlying Shares which would require
to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float of
not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under
the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2023.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

No contract of significance has been entered into between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and the then controlling
Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries, at any time during the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart
from the Group's business, that competes or competed or is or
was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s
business at any time during the year ended 31 December 2023 and
up to and including the date of this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

All related party transactions disclosed in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements constitute connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction of the Company subject to,
among other things, reporting, announcement or independent
shareholders” approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The related party transactions disclosed in note 39(a),
(b), (c) and (d) to the consolidated financial statements constituted
connected transactions of the Company but were exempted from
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders™ approval
requirements pursuant to Rule 14A of the Listing Rules. The
related party transaction disclosed in note 39(e) to the consolidated
financial statements constituted major and connected transaction
of the Company under Chapter 14 and Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules during the year ended 31 December 2022. The Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, cash and bank balances (excluding pledged
deposits) of the Group amounted to approximately RMB76.2 million
(2022: approximately RMB59.4 million). Details of such are set out in

note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the total interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings of the Group amounted to approximately RMB169.6
million (2022: approximately RMB69.9 million), among which
approximately RMB119.8 million (2022: approximately RMB50.6
million) was unsecured and guaranteed by a director of the
Company. As at 31 December 2023, the interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings of RMB19.9 million (2022: approximately
RMB19.3 million) carried at fixed interest rates and approximately
RMB149.7 million (2022: approximately RMB50.6 million) carried at
floating interest rates. Details of such are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD
Save as disclosed in this report, there was no other significant
subsequent event undertaken by the Group subsequent to

31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed 325 employees
(2022: 306). The emolument policy of the employees of the Group
is determined on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence. The Company adopted the New Share Option Scheme
to provide incentive to its senior management and employees.
Please refer to the paragraphs headed “Share Option Schemes” in

this report for details of such scheme.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total staff costs (including
directors’ remuneration) amounted to approximately RMB84.4
million (2022: approximately RMB78.9 million). The Company
maintains the New Share Option Scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to the eligible participants for their

contributions to the Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five financial years is set out in the section of

Financial Summary on pages 9 to 14 of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the New
Bye-Laws or the laws of the Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in
which the Company was continued, which would oblige the Company

to offer new Shares to existing Shareholders on a pro-rata basis.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Annual General Meeting will be held on 31 May 2024 (Friday)
and the notice of Annual General Meeting will be published on the
website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the website
of the Company (www.investechholdings.com) in due course in

accordance with the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 have been audited by BDO Limited.

BDO Limited will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO Limited
as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming

Annual General Meeting.

By order of the Board
Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
Chairman and CEO

Hong Kong
28 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBE RS

IBDO

EEE - +852 2218 8288
{85 : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

To the Shareholders of InvesTech Holdings Limited
BLUEAERL A IR A 7

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with
limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of InvesTech
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 90 to 235, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly,
in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2023, and its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the "Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of goodwill
Refer to notes 3 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements and

the accounting policies on page 111.

As at 31 December 2023, the net carrying amount of the Group's
goodwill amounted to RMB135.0 million.

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value-in-use of the
cash-generating unit ("CGU") to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value-in-use requires the Group to make an estimate
of the expected future cash flows from the CGU and also a suitable

discount rate to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

We identified impairment assessment of goodwill as a key audit
matter because of the management’s significant judgement and
high level of estimation uncertainty involved in the determination of
the recoverable amount, and the net carrying amount of goodwill is
significant to the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Our response:

° Evaluated the reasonableness of key inputs and assumptions
used in the cash flow projections, which include budgeted
revenue growth rates, long term growth rate, budgeted gross
margins and discount rate, with assistance from our valuation

specialists;

o Checked the arithmetic accuracy of the cash flow projections

used in the value-in-use calculation;

o Evaluated the reasonableness of disclosures related to
goodwill impairment assessment in the consolidated financial

statements; and

° Evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the

independent professional valuer used by management.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 2 B R &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Fair value measurement of an unlisted equity investment
Refer to notes 3, 19 and 41 to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policies on page 125.

The Group held an unlisted equity investment as at 31 December
2023, the fair value of which was estimated by management to be
RMB12.9 million. Such unlisted equity investment was classified as
a financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Management engaged an independent professional valuer to
assess the fair value of the above unlisted equity investment as at
31 December 2023. As the fair value of unlisted equity investment
cannot be derived from active markets, it is determined using
valuation techniques. The inputs used in the valuation are taken
from observable markets where possible, but where this is not
feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair
value. This valuation requires the Group to make estimates about
expected factors which may have impact on the fair value of the
equity investment and the discount for lack of marketability, liquidity
and control and hence they are subject to uncertainty. Changes in
assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value
of the equity investment.

We identified fair value measurement of an unlisted equity
investment as a key audit matter because of the significant
judgement and high level of estimation uncertainty involved in the
determination of fair value, and the carrying amount and fair value
change during the year of such investment are significant to the
Group's consolidated financial statements.

Our response:

° Evaluated the reasonableness of selection of valuation
techniques, as well as those key assumptions and data used
in the fair value determination of the investment, with the

assistance of our valuation specialist;

U Evaluated the reasonableness of disclosures related to the fair
value measurement of the unlisted equity investment in the

consolidated financial statements; and

. Evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
independent professional valuer used by management and our

valuation specialist.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Impairment assessment of trade receivables
Refer to notes 3, 21 and 42 to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policies on pages 127 to 129.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had trade receivables, net of loss
allowance for impairment, of RMB162.9 million, which represented
21.8% of the total assets of the Group. Net reversal of impairment
of these financial assets amounted to RMB2.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

The estimation of expected credit losses ("ECLs") for trade
receivables requires management’s significant judgement and

involves high level of estimation uncertainty.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions
may also not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the
future. Management engaged an independent professional valuer to

assist with the estimation of ECLs.

We identified impairment assessment of trade receivables as a key
audit matter because of the significant judgement and high level of
estimation uncertainty involved, and the aggregate carrying amount
of the trade receivables is significant to the Group's consolidated

financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Impairment assessment of trade receivables (continued)

Our response:

° Evaluated the appropriateness of estimation techniques used,
as well as the reasonableness of inputs and assumptions
used, to determine the ECLs. This includes assessment on the
groupings of customer categories under the provision matrix
used to estimate the ECL for trade receivables, accuracy
and relevancy of the historical loss rates and whether they
are reasonably adjusted based on recent loss experience
and forward-looking factors specific to the debtors, and the

realisable value of collaterals where appropriate;
o Checked the arithmetic accuracy of the calculation of ECLs;

. Evaluated the reasonableness of disclosures related to the

ECL estimation in the consolidated financial statements; and

o Evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the

independent professional valuer used by management.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’'s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this

regard.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have

no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the

directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise

professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also

88

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,

or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors” use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Tang Tak Wah

Practising Certificate no. P06262

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
SEB@mEKR
For the year ended 31 December 2023

T Ho—HIFEE

2023 2022
—g== =

Notes RMB’000 RMB000
Bat AR®T ARBTTT

REVENUE A 5 561,011 556,679
Cost of sales $HE AR (491,313) (471,308)
Gross profit EF 69,698 85,371
Other income and gains R ON € 5 4,206 6,717
Selling and distribution expenses HENMDHEFAY (27,440) (28,709)
Administrative expenses TR (62,291) (68,508)
Other losses E 1 Eia (9,795) (14,406)
Reversal of/(provision for) impairment losses % Bl & &= B (B E5 18
of financial assets, net o, () T8 2,807 (5,025)
Finance costs B & R A 7 (10,704) (4,249)
LOSS BEFORE TAX MRBATE B 6 (33,519) (28,809)
Income tax expense TSR 10 (1,902) (4,210)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEER (35,421) (33,019)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: IUT&FEGEERN
(&), &
Owners of the parent SRREEAR A (41,229) (35,882)
Non-controlling interests FE 12 6 e 2 5,808 2,863
(35,421) (33,019)
2022
-~
(Re-presented)
(F&&E3))
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE BAREE AEWN
TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT BREE
- Basic and diluted —EARREE (RMB28.90 cents) (RMB26.69 cents)

12 (AE#28.90%) (AEH26.699)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SEETHWER

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income that
may be reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that
will not be reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of
the Company’s financial statements
into presentation currency
Changes in fair value of financial asset
at fair value through other comprehensive

income

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE YEAR

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE YEAR

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the parent

Non-controlling interests

FEBR

Hib2mEWz (EBE)
AREBBAEERSE
REZNHMEE

g
BEINEER 2
[EHZRE

REERBE AT EH DR

tﬁéﬁuﬁ’lﬁﬁﬁiﬁ

B2 e R AR A
AR RAE
AnEES

>

FEAMZEHEE

FEXEBRARE

UATE&ETEEFEEE
(B18) e
BREEBEA
FEE B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—E_=F+-A=1—HIFEF

2023 2022
—E-= — T

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBEF T
(35,421) (33,019)
145 1,359

591 2,965
(5,429) (21,718)
(4,838) (18,753)
(4,693) (17,394)
(40,114) (50,413)
(46,222) (53,924)
6,108 3,511
(40,114) (50,413)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A BB AR R &R

As at 31 December 2023
R =Ff+=—H=1—H

2023 2022
—EB-= —=_—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investment properties REWE 13 77,575 5,528
Property, plant and equipment L E RN L 14 1,391 1,821
Right-of-use assets RREE 15 13,026 12,840
Goodwill Bk 16 134,952 134,952
Other intangible assets HEimEREE 17 37,959 58,203
Deferred tax assets EETHIEE E 18 3,932 3,501
Financial asset at fair value through BEARBEFAHMEE
other comprehensive income WENEmEE 19 12,939 18,348
Deposits s 22 - 15,548
Total non-current assets IEMBEELE 281,774 250,761
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 20 16,053 20,336
Trade and bills receivables and B o5 REBBEBFAR
contract assets ENEE 21 304,056 318,138
Prepayments, other receivables TERTSRIE - B A FE W IR
and other assets KMEMEE 22 35,308 57,470
Equity investments at fair value through RARBEFABRD
profit or loss IRAEE 23 6,778 13,452
Debt investment at fair value through BAREEFAERD
profit or loss BEHRE 24 1,454 1,270
Pledged deposits EHERER 25 24,781 25,549
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEBY 25 76,196 59,436
Total current assets MEEERE 464,626 495,651

92 InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA




CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables

Contract liabilities

Other payables and accruals

Promissory note payable

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
Convertible bond

Tax payable

Total current liabilities
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
Convertible bond

Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital

Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

On behalf of the board

Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
PR 8578
Director

EZE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

REBAE

B SR IE 26
AH8E 27
Ha e RENMETER 28
FEA O R IR 29
FFESRIT R EAMER 30
Al MR E S 36
FERIE

REBEERE

e (&E) BEFEE
EERERRBER
kRBERE

T ERIT R EMER 30
Al E A 36
RIEFRIEEFE 18
IEmBAELS

BEFE

xR

BRAHEA ARIGER

% s 31
&1 33

REREFS

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —Z = =FF3§

mEMBRR R (K])

As at 31 December 2023
R-E-—=F+_—H=+—H

2023
s

—

2022
e

=

RMB’000
ARBTTT

RMB’000
AR®T

168,659 215,230
18,934 48,409
30,842 38,420
36,700 -
162,699 59,574
26,364 -
22,814 20,987
467,012 382,620
(2,386) 113,031
279,388 363,792
6,862 10,345
- 24,624
5,693 8,730
12,555 43,699
266,833 320,093
9,221 7,553
257,612 301,683
266,833 309,236
- 10,857
266,833 320,093

Tin Yat Yu, Carol
H—F
Director

EBEF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2023
T Ho—HIFEE

At 1 January 2023

Loss for the year FREE

Other comprehensive income/
(loss) for the year:

Exchange differences on
translation of foreign operations

Exchange differences on
translation of the financial
statements into presentation
currency

asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income,
net of tax

Total comprehensive loss FREABRER
for the year
Issue of share (note 31(b))

Share issue expenses (note 31(b)  FRf

Transfer g

Acquisition of non-controlling S iER
interests (note 34) (Was)
At 31 December 2023 RZF-Zf
+=A=1-8

94

Attributable to owners of the parent

%17 (W31

BAREAARE
Foreign
Share Share Convertible ~ Statutory Fair currency Non-

Issued Share  Contributed option Special award Other  bond equity surplus value  translation Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium  surplus(e)  reserve(f)  reserve(a) reserve  reserve(b)  reserve(d)  reserve(c)  reserve(g)  reserve(h) losses Total interests equity

BT #A BRE B BH%R it WRRE®  iERR  DARE
Re  BHEE B (0] i) fif @b EREEQ -1-(0] ) EXGREN)  RHER &t FENEE  BEEE
RMB000  RMB'OOO  RMBOO0  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMBO00  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMBOO0  RMB000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000
AEMTR ARBTR ARMTZ AR¥TR ARETR ARMTr ARMTR ARMTZ ARETR ARKTR ARETR ARRTZ ARMTR ARNTZ ARETR:
7,583 49,829 809,164 10,609 61,064 201 6,783 10,113 34,079 (581,632) (7,737) (92,662) 309,236 10,857 320,093
- - - - - - - - - - - (41,229) (41,229) 5,808 (35,421)
3 g o o = - - - - - 145 - 145 - 145
3 g o o o - - - - - 91 - M 300 591
- - - - - - - - - (5,429) - - (5,629) - (5,429)
- - - - - - - - - (5,629) 436 (41,229) (46,222) 6,108 (60,114)
1,668 2,400 - - - - - - - - - - 4,068 - 4,088
- (308) - - - - - - - - - - (308) - (308)
- - - - - - - - 1,429 - - (1,629) - - -
- - - - - - 5 - - - - - 59 (16,965) (16,906)
9,21 51921 809,164 10,609* 61,064 2,073 6,862 10,113¢ 35,508+ (587,061)* (1301 (135,320)* 266,833 - 266,833
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)
meRmgBR (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

on-

trolling

At 1 January 2022 R-E-%-A-A 5,464 13070 809,164 9,067 61,064 201 6,783 10113 31,062 (559.914) (1413 (33763) 32,750 6,51 309301

Loss for the year FEER - - - - - - - - - - - (33,88) (33882 2863 (33019)
Other comprehensive income/ ﬁl‘ﬁ‘rﬁl?ﬁ%ﬁ/
(loss) for the year:
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign operations
Exchange differences on
translation of the financial
statements into presentation 1%33
currency - - - - - - - - - - 2317 - 2317 648 2965
Change in fairvalue of a financial - R A BB ALR
asset at fai value through 2ERGENEREE
other comprehensive income, #9241 EERE
net of tax TREE - - - - - - - - - (1. - - (21.718) - (21,718)

- - - - - - - - - - 1359 - 1359 - 1359

Wa

Total comprehensive loss ]
for the year - - - - - - - - - 21,718 3876 (35,882) (93,924) 3501 (50.413)

[ssue of share (note 31(a)) OEGT 2089 3796 - - - - - - - - - - 40,055 - 40,055
Share issue expenses (note 31(a))  RIVEFTHE
- (1.207) - - - - - - - - - - (1,207) - (1.207)

Equity-settled share option

arrangement Wé& - - - 1562 - - - - - - - - 1562 - 1562
Transfer Eﬁ - - - - - - - - 3017 - - (3017 - - -
Contribution from non-controlling /% & 3£ 2 R a0 1 4

interests - - - - - - - - - - - - - 9% 7%

At 31 December 2022

753 49829 809,164* 10,609* 61,084 208 6,783* o3 307 (581,630 (7.7137¢ (92662 309,236 10,857 320093

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZEREREBEGESMBRARNRANES R
RMB257,612,000 (2022: RMB301,683,000) in the consolidated HAR257,612000t (Z2Z—F: AR
statement of financial position. 301,683,0007T) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

ma

a2 X (K)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—FE_=—F+_A=1—HIIFE

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

926

Special reserve

The balances as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 mainly represent:

(i) the difference between the nominal amount of the shares issued
by the parent and the aggregate amount of paid-in capital of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation of
the Company in 2008; and

(i) the excess, amounting to RMB13,330,000, of the consideration

paid by the parent for the acquisition of a subsidiary over the
consideration paid by Mr. Chi Shaolin, the then controlling
shareholder of the Company, for the acquisition of the

subsidiary from a third party.

Other reserve

Other reserve arose from acquisitions of non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries or disposals of interests in subsidiaries and represents
the difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received on transactions with equity owners in the capacity as equity
holders that result in changes in ownership interests while retaining

control.

Statutory surplus reserve

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for enterprises
in the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC"), the Company's PRC
subsidiaries are required to maintain a statutory surplus reserve fund
which is non-distributable. The appropriations to such reserve are
made out of net profit after tax of the statutory financial statements
of the relevant PRC subsidiaries. The statutory surplus reserve fund
can be used to make up prior year losses, if any, and can be applied in

conversion into capital by means of capitalisation issue.

Convertible bond equity reserve
Convertible bond equity reserve represents amount of the equity

component of convertible bond issued by the Company.

Contributed surplus

The Company cancelled the entire amount standing to the credit of
the share premium and to transfer the credits arising from such
cancellation to an account designated as the contributed surplus
account of the Company before the change of domicile from the

Cayman Islands to Bermuda becoming effective, i.e. 7 July 2021.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA

Hiat -

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

SRS
RIE-_=FR-_FT-_—F+_A=+—RH24%
BEBE:

() BRBAETRNOEESRBRERRFRN
TR N\FETEEEAMENE AR
BRENBESBENER N

(i  BRFERKE-HEBERRMMTRESRK
REABRFNERBREIOMEERE=T
WENBARRANTRESZEZ2BAR
#13,330,0007T °

Hitf# 5B

H At R B NGBS 2 B A SR as ok
EMBARED WIREHB ZIFEREDHER
SRR BAN G D EBREMEEETISE
MENSKERREBARBZRAZEZR ZEXS
HfE AR BRI

EEEBREE

mEARAME ([FE])EEOBBEERRE
BRARE  ARRPENBLRARE NS IR
EERBREES RERENBIRATEE
BB R RAE M BHMERMNBRRAN EER
HREBESTARBHEAEFEEE (WA) I
AAEAE BT RBRAER -

TR A R
AR EH R B AR DETOTRRES
B -

BABER
ARrEArdmFEeERsEMAaRELEM (A%
“FEAER)AFERDEEZ 2MERD
BOUKAREEAEEZ EREEREIETER
RARPBEHBHER-



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

®

(9)

(h)

Share option reserve

Share option reserve comprises the fair value of the share
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments in
note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements. The amount
will either be transferred to share capital when the related
options are exercised, or be transferred to retained profits/
accumulated losses should the related options expire or be
forfeited.

Fair value reserve
Fair value reserve represents cumulative net change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income that

are held the end of at the reporting period.

Foreign currency translation reserve

Foreign currency translation reserve represents cumulative foreign
exchange differences arising from translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations into the presentation currency
and translation of financial statements of other group entities from
functional currency into the presentation currency. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 2.4

to the consolidated financial statements.

()

(9)

(h)

REEZSEX (#E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

(%)

B
BRERBEEFCRLESTENELREAR
EfE (4R A M H MR M 2.4 AR R EREH
NANEFERFRE—FHRA) BB N ERE
B PR 7T {68 B B 98 = PO SR A AR B R AL B 8
RBOR B BB E=RA G, RETEIE-

DIREERE

R BERFEERRERERFENRAAEBE
SPARMEERSNEREEN AR BERFTEZ
#FEE-

ERFE

PN IR E N T M B R B2 B
g EmEEm R BERAm e ERRERE
JEBESMRAEL ZH - ZRBREEA Y
TR 2 AP B A & R ER R AR 12
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
T Ho—HIFEE

2023
e

— =

RMB’000
AR®T

2022
—EF-—

RMB’000
ARET T

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES RERKEETBHRESRE

Loss before tax: BRI AR | (33,519) (28,809)
Adjustments for: MTINEE AR
Finance costs & B A 7 10,704 4,249
Bank interest income FRITH BULA 5 (410) (249)
Finance income on the net investment HEREFHEELED
in a lease BE WA 5 - (76)
Depreciation of property, plant and mME - -HWELRBITE
equipment 6, 14 1,078 1,048
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAREEITE 6,15 7,208 5,830
Fair value losses/(gain), net: DR BEEE (W)
VHER -
Equity investments at fair value through BAnBEFABRZ
profit or loss AR E 6,23 2,983 (5,096)
Debt investment at fair value through BAREBEFTABRZ
profit or loss BE%RE 6, 24 (793) 10,943
Investment properties KEME 6,13 6,812 3,244
Amortisation of other intangible assets Efth T & A o 6,17 20,244 20,245
(Reversal of)/impairment losses of trade Z 5 EW A (BE)
receivables, net B e F R 6,21 (2,807) 5,025
Reversal of write-down of provision HWREFERER
for inventories to net realisable value A IR FE R O] 6 (536) (335)
Share-based payments VARR 1 7 B RE AN 5K 32 883 1,203
11,847 17,222
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FEmL, (M) 4,819 (2,681)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills BN EBE R K
receivables and contract assets BHEERY () 18,739 (109,242)
Decrease in prepayments, other receivables B/ 3R « Hith U FUBE K
and other assets HmEER D 22,027 286
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables B S RENFE D),/
2 n (47,204) 36,650
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities A88E D) 1Em (29,475) 19,655
(Decrease)/increase in other payables Hin e 3 Ia R ETE R
and accruals CRA) /& (4,470) 6,580
Cash used in operations KEMARS (23,717) (31,530)
Interest paid BB (9,646) (2,791)
Income taxes paid BATFTEHR (3,543) (921)
Net cash flows used in operating activities KEEHMARSREFHA (36,906) (35,242)
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CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received
Purchases of items of property, plant
and equipment
Acquisition of investment properties
Acquisition of investment properties
through a subsidiary
Deposit paid for investment
Purchases of equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss
Proceeds from disposal of equity investments
at fair value through profit or loss
Proceeds from repayment of loan receivable
Interest from debt investment at fair value
through profit or loss
Proceeds from release of pledged deposits
Placement of pledged deposits

Net cash flows used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

New bank and other borrowings

Repayments of bank and other borrowings

Repayments of principal portion of lease
payments

Proceeds from issue of shares

Share issue expenses

Proceeds from loans from a director

Repayments of loans from a director
Acquisition of non-controlling interest

Net cash flows from financing activities

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position

CONSOLIDATED STATEM

ENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
mERERER (K)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

2023 2022
—_=E_= —E=-=
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
k=3 ARET T ARBTIT
REREZBHRESRE
2 RLE 410 249
BEWE WEkREHEE
(624) (798)
Wi E M 13 - (8,602)
R — BB A R
HEME 35 (26,260) -
BERREES - (15,548)
BERAREBAETAER
KR A1 & - (21,736)
HEEAREBET AR
K IR A& & FT1S 3R 4,064 16,821
EERWERBRIE - 1,825
BEARBEFABEN
BT ERF S 644 1,007
Rk BRI F TS FUE 1,354 2,491
GEERPFR - (614)
WEEHMARE S REFE (20,412) (24,905)
REMEITBHEESRE 37(b)
PG ERTT R B M E K 141,386 63,475
EEBTREMER (46,138) (37,699)
EEHEENRORES I
(7,293) (7,119)
B& 7 B 1T FT 15 5IR 4,068 40,055
D3I (308) (1,207)
RKE—REBSNERAE
IR 3,454 5,651
BERE—RESENER (4,272) -
W B FEHE R R 2 34 (16,906) -
BEESMEHRESREFE 73,991 63,156
ReRBESSEYIEMNTEHE
16,673 3,009
FOREMREEED
59,436 54,920
HINEETE R BB R 2R 87 1,507
FRESRESEEY
76,196 59,436
ReRBSESEYRESBRIN
RERE T BRI RS ®R 2
RERBFSEHEY 25 76,196 59,436
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

31 December 2023
—E o FF—A=+—H

100

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

InvesTech Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 16 November 2007 as an exempted
company with limited liability and continued in Bermuda with
effect from 7 July 2021 (Bermuda time). The Company’s shares
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the
registered office of the Company is located at Canon’s Court,
22 Victoria Street, Hamilton, HM 12, Bermuda. The Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong is Unit 706, 7th Floor,
Capital Centre, No. 151 Gloucester Road, Wan Chai, Hong
Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the provision of network system
integration including the provision of network infrastructure
solutions, network professional services and smart office
software solutions, and the network equipment rental
business.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA

REAIREBESR
BEZERAR AR ([ARAND AR -EE
+E+—RA+RBEREHSTMAIE
EReAREARG WE-_Z=-_—F+A
+tH(ARERBEERREFE - AR
AIRMNERBBMERHMAR A A ([
FT 1) R £ e AR R B EE M 9% S B st bh 7 70
Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton,
HM 12, Bermuda - AR R Z HHE F E &
WMEREREEHFETITEIIRERF LT
1B706% -

ARBI/REERAF -ARBREMBA
Al (G AEE T ERERERBERER
Ee BRREHEEERERBRASIE @
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e M BERME (F)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. ARIREBEER (#)

Information about subsidiaries Lo PN
Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as RAAREZMEBAR ZFBRT :
follows:

Percentage of equity interest
attributable to the Company
ARTREMEREES L

Issued ordinary/

Place of incorporation/ registered share

registration and business capital Indirect Principal activities
BRIEE/

BRI R E i G A& ET2XH%

o

Chunlin Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding, provision
EREEER AR B BT of administrative support of
the Group and property
investment
RERR REAKED
TRXERNERE

Chunlin Technology Development PRC/Mainland China RMB833,000,000¢ - 100 Technology Development
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. *# hE /AR AR ¥833,000,0007C° BREE
(“Chunlin Technology Development”)

ERHRER (RIDERAR

([ERBEER])

Sino Profit Trading Limited” BVI Us$100 - 100 Property investment

("Sino Profit”) RERARES 100% 7T MERE
EREHERAF ([ER])
Synergy UniNet Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Property investment
BAREER A 5E BT MERE
Fortune Grace Management BVI Us$100 100 - Investment holding

Limited" ("Fortune Grace”) EBERIHE 100%7T REZR

(Note)

(H:z)
Wafer Systems Limited Hong Kong HK$67,269,905 - 100 Investment holding
BEZGER AR & 67,269 90578 7T REZR
Wafer Systems (China) Limited Hong Kong HK$30,000,000 - 100 Investment holding and
RERG (RE)ARAA B 30,000,000/ 7 network system integration

REZRLBEZGES

Beijing Wafer New Century PRC/Mainland China US$15,000,000 - 100 Investment holding and

Information Technology Co., B/ AR 15,000,000% 7T network system integration

Ltd. **# ("Beijing Wafer") BREABRRBEZRES
ERBEMELERRMBR AR

(MEREE])
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. ATFIREEER (&)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) ME A RIS (8)

Percentage of equity interest
attributable to the Company

ARAEERES AL
Issued ordinary/
Place of incorporation/ registered share
registration and business capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
BRTER/
Ealiiz g1y -E3.1) st AR BE & FEXH
Wafer Network Systems (Shanghai) PRC/Mainland China RMB6,580,000 - 100 Network system integration
Co., Ltd. **0 E/PEAE AR 6,580,000 BEERRS
FRERBBRRBERAA
Wafer (Xian) Software Co., Ltd.*"* PRC/Mainland China US$700,000 - 100 Research and development
("Xi'an Wafer”) B/ B A 700,000% 7T fHE
BE(AR)RHBERAFM
(MAZHE])
Wafer Systems (Asia) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Network system integration
BEZS (EM) BRAF BE 10,000 7T BRAGEA
Wafer iMusic Joint Venture” Hong Kong N/A - 100 Network system integration
Wafer iMusic Joint Venture” 5 A (2022: 70%) BHRRGFEA
(ZF==fF:
70%)
Wafer Systems (Vietnam) Co., Ltd." Vietnam US$400,000 - 100 Network system integration
B ZG (M) BRAR" B 400,000 7T PREFEA
n Subsidiaries whose statutory financial statements were not " HZEEMBRRUIFBABTBLEREES
audited by BDO Limited or another member firm of the BDO MEBMERAR S EEZERBEREE
global network fibpk B A R EZ A E A A
# Wholly-foreign-owned limited liability enterprises # INEEEBRAR
o limited liability enterprises = BEREFEDRE
* The English name is for identification purpose only * XA BE MR
e The registered share capital of Chunlin Technology Development e RZEZ=ZF+_A=+—H FREE
amounted to RMB833,000,000, among which RMB594,732,000 R M A B A R #833,000,0007T © £
was unpaid as at 31 December 2023. f A R #594,732,0007T t5 R 1 -
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, ERBINESRAGIEXEFEERK
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results HERAEEEEFEEZH DR RQ AN
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets Bral -ZFEFERA/IREEMHBARENS
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in BHERANRTTR

the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and IFRIC
Interpretations and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except for investment properties,
a financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive
income, equity investments at fair value through profit or
loss and a debt investment at fair value through profit or
loss which have been measured at fair value as explained
in the accounting policies set out in Note 2.4 below. These
consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand

except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in

assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders

of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

2.1

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

mREE
HEEEMBHRRIDBRIBEERM GRS E
Al R RERMEREREZE SR
BUANBBRAEINBRERERE KR
BYE HonBEFARGEZEKENE
MEE BonBEFABEORERER
BARBEFABSNEHRRECEAA
BETE (1T XM 2L N SR
RAFHA) HERRELKAEPIHRE-
HEHEEVBBRRIIAARE (TARE])
25 BARBEBIN IEREENESE
2 T8

mEEE
HEMBBREBRAKERE_T_=F
TZA=tT—HALFENMBHRR -HELA
AIRANAERNEZREHNER (BEE
BUEER) -EAKEH2EREHRER
B B [0 FR R PR L B sk = B HE R A K BE SR
BHEREHRNEN (AAEERE TRA
EENAETEBREHRAB RSB
FEZRT O - BIBUSIZE B -

HWARFERXEEREEIRNBEHRK
ZHRELBUENOERN  RIAEER Y
MERERAHREHROBNKEEE
—UIRBEEERER B

(a) HEREHFEMKREREANGOLR
B

(b) HMAENTHMELNERN: K&

© AEENRERRBERE®E-

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —Z = =FF3§ 1 03



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 21 REEE ()

104

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control,
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such

control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group

are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described above.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a

loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(ili) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(i) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained earnings,
as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the

Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going Concern assumption

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had a net
loss of RMB35,421,000 and net operating cash outflows of
RMB36,906,000. As of 31 December 2023, the Group had
promissory note payable, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and convertible bond totalling RMB225,763,000,
and trade payables of RMB168,659,000 included in current
liabilities, while the balance of cash and cash equivalents was
RMB76,196,000.

In view of the above circumstances, the Group has prepared
a cash flow forecast of the Group covering a period of twelve
months from the end of the reporting period (the “Forecast
Period”). The cash flow forecast has included the effects of
the following major measures and events that have been
implemented or taken place in order to enhance the Group's
liquidity position to meet its financial obligations during the
next twelve months as and when they fall due:

(@  Negotiating with banks to reborrow the Group’s revolving
loans of a total of RMB119,750,000 upon maturity
dates, of which a total of RMB25,167,000 of loans were

reborrowed up to the date of this report; and

(b)  Negotiating with a bank for additional bank facility in
order to secure necessary funds to meet the Group's
working capital and financial requirements in the

foreseeable future.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking
into account the above-mentioned measures, the Group would
have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and to
meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due over
the Forecast Period. Accordingly, it is appropriate to prepare
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31

December 2023 on a going concern basis.

2.1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 SHTBEREHREE

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and amendments
to IFRS Accounting Standards for the first time for the current

year's consolidated financial statements.
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
Amendments to IAS 1

and IFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting

Estimates

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets

and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform - Pillar

Two Model Rules

Except for the Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgments, the other new or amended IFRSs has no material
impact on the Group's results and financial position for the
current or prior period. The Group has not applied any new
and revised IFRSs that are not yet effective for the current

period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)
Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 -
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with "material accounting policy
information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial

statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information

must not obscure material accounting policy information.

IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an
entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting
policy disclosures and to judge whether information about
an accounting policy is material to its financial statements.

Guidance and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

These amendments have no effect on the measurement
or presentation of any items in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group but affect the disclosure of accounting
policies of the Group set out in note 2.4 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

mEMBRERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

There are a number of amendments to standards which have

been issued by the International Accounting Standards Board

that are effective in future accounting periods that the Group
has decided not to adopt early.

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'
Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and

Leaseback?
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants?
Amendments to IAS 7

and IFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements®
Amendments to IAS 21

Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 - Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where there is a sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture. When the transaction with an associate or
joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method,
any gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of a
subsidiary that does not contain a business are recognised
in the profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investors’ interests in that associate or joint venture. Similarly,
any gains or losses resulting from the remeasurement of
retained interest in any former subsidiary (that has become
an associate or a joint venture) to fair value are recognised in
the profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’

interests in the new associate or joint venture.

Amendments to IFRS 16 - Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in
a sale and leaseback transaction, to ensure the seller-lessee
does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates
to right of use it retains.

Amendments to IAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current is based on rights that are in existence
at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification
is unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement of a liability and explain
that rights are in existence if covenants are complied with
at the end of the reporting period. The amendments also
introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear that
settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash,
equity instruments, other assets or services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

2.3

110

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 - Non-current liabilities with
Covenants

The amendments clarify that only covenants with which an
entity must comply on or before the reporting date will affect
a liability’s classification as current or non-current. The
amendments do not require an entity to present separately
non-current liabilities for which the entity’s right to defer
settlement is subject to compliance with future covenants
within twelve months. Instead, the amendments require
entities to disclose information about such covenants and

related liabilities in the notes.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 - Supplier Finance
Arrangements

The amendments add a disclosure objective to IAS 7 Cash
flow statements stating that an entity is required to disclose
information about its supplier finance arrangements that
enables users of financial statements to assess the effects of
those arrangements on the entity’s liabilities and cash flows.
In addition, IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures was
amended to add supplier finance arrangements as an example
within the requirements to disclose information about an
entity’'s exposure to concentration of liquidity risk.

The amendments, which contain specific transition reliefs for
the first annual reporting period in which an entity applies
the amendments, are applicable for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024. Earlier application is
permitted.

Amendments to IAS 21 - Lack of Exchangeability

The amendments specify when a currency is exchangeable
into another currency and when it is not and how an entity
estimates the spot exchange rate when a currency is not
exchangeable. In addition, the amendments require disclosure
of information that enables users of its financial statements to
evaluate how a currency’s lack of exchangeability affects, or is
expected to affect, the entity’s financial performance, financial
position and cash flows.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments to standards and revision in
the future will have an impact on the consolidated financial
statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

Business combinations and goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree over
the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If
the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain

purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment
test of goodwill at the end of each reporting period. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of
cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or

groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not

reversed in a subsequent period.

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

24 EXEFBEEHR

EBAHRBHE

BEVSERAGE NEEERE B
RO B SRR AR B LA FHA 2|
Wi 07 kg 2 (B A FEEZAM - BB
WA B EEFERMARERBECER
HAEBEAGBERNAEMERMKBEE
FEZAFEE REFFHEREZEER
BaAERRZBEWERE-

R FHERE BB RRARAER REHEE
BEREGAE-REABEHERENR FASF
HBRERBERNEBRREEES JERE
R Rlg BIRE TR - REERE ]
THRETEHE 2FERER - BETR
BAR ERAfEEMEEXAGBRELD
PETReEELBEUIRSELEMHER
REBAHMBANBEABAZBLEE
DEEEFRH AN A G E LR B R M T
SN AREZEE L REMAR

MEDBREFGEABREEENRSELSE
7 (REELEMAR) AT KOS BETE -
ERSELABN (RELBEGAR) KA
Yo & BE R RREE R - BB ESIE(E T oARE
R CHEERINBREBETFSREELRES
fE [ -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —E - =6 1 1 1



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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31 December 2023
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2.4

112

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration
test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities
and assets is not a business. The concentration test is met if
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired
Is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of
similar identifiable assets. The gross assets under assessment
exclude cash and cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and
goodwill resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If
the concentration test is met, the set of activities and assets is
determined not to be a business and no further assessment is

needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first to
investment properties which are subsequently measured under
fair value model and financial assets/financial liabilities at the
respective fair values, the remaining balance of the purchase
price is then allocated to the other identifiable assets and
liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date of
purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or

bargain purchase gain.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments and debt
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in

their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the

asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable

inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 24 ERSTTHERER (&)

(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as
follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to

the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level T - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly

or indirectly

Level3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets, investment
properties and goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined

for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the

function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have
decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount
is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the consolidated statement of

profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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2.4

116

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

Related parties (continued)

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the

same third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it

is a part, provides key management personnel

services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended

use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets

with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal

annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

shorter of 33.3% or

the lease term

Leasehold improvements

Equipment 33.3%
Motor vehicles 33.3%
Others 33.3%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at

each financial year end.

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

24 EXEHBEER (%)

ME BERRBETE

ME - -BERREIRKABRRITERE
MEEEEAR - VX BFELRKEERE N
RABEEBABLSHERNAEB
EHBRIERR RN EEERBHNERNE
EEIEER-

EVE - BEMRBEEBRERELENH
Pl RRE BT EELENBEK
FABaXRIKR -HATSERTE RIAH
EARBECRAXERZEEZREEBEAR
CREEEE-HWATHERME BE R
RENEEF D AIAKREE KT HE
RABFEAERFHNEREE LAER-E
FHEITE -

FENEREFE RBEYE BFE &K
BHENMGAIEAFHMEENANEE
RrEE - FAERANEIENEFENT:

HEWMELE 33.3%8k A2 13

(UG HBE)
B 33.3%
E 33.3%
HAt 33.3%

WEDF BB NERERE OIS AR A
ERFH ZABNKRAREEEES LG
&by REHN & BTEFE - R EE
AERFRRTENEREERARIN
BV RFEFE AR AR

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —E - =6 1 1 7



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 2.4 EREFTHEER (&)

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment, including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of

the relevant asset.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset
with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial

year end.

Technology know-how

Technology know-how is stated at cost less any impairment
losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life of 10 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or

loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed

when incurred.

Investment property

Investment property is property held either to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation or for both, but not held for sale in the
ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes. Investment
property is measured at cost on initial recognition and
subsequently at fair value with any change therein recognised

in profit or loss.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property, calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is

derecognised.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified

asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets

representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(@)  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms of the assets as follows:

Buildings 1 to 5 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the

exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated

using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying

asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are included in interest-

bearing bank and other borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

mEMBRERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c)  Short-term leases
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). Lease payments on
short-term leases are recognised as an expense on a

straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as a lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the leased assets to the lessee. All other leases

are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised as an expense on the straight-

line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or

loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset's contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance

with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest ("SPPI") on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through

profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 24 ERSTTHERER (&)

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’'s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value

through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on

their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are subject
to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the asset is

derecognised, modified or impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Financial asset designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investment as equity investment
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument

basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established,
it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend
can be measured reliably, except when the Group benefits
from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the
financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income are not subject to
impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the Group
had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through
other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are also recognised as other income in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has
been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the

amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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2.4

126

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’'s consolidated

statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have

expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred

control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that

reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral

to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,

including historical and forward-looking information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed

below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach,
the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the

economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as

loans and borrowings, and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of

directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals,
the debt element of convertible bond issued by the Group,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and promissory
note payable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 24 ERSTTHERER (&)

(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends

on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, financial liabilities at amortised cost
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well

as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is

recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Convertible bond

Convertible bond issued by the Group that contain both
the debt and conversion option components are classified
separately into their respective items on initial recognition.
Conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of a
fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company's own equity instruments is classified

as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the debt component is
determined using the prevailing market interest rate of similar
non-convertible debts. The difference between the proceeds of
the issue of the convertible bond and the fair value assigned
to the debt component, representing the conversion option for
the holder to convert the bond into equity, is included in equity

(convertible bond equity reserve).

In subsequent periods, the debt component of the convertible
bonds is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The equity component, represented by the option
to convert the debt component into ordinary shares of the
Company, will remain in convertible bond equity reserve until
the embedded option is exercised (in which case the balance
stated in convertible bond equity reserve will be transferred
to share capital and share premium). Where the option
remains unexercised at the expiry dates, the balance stated in
convertible bond reserve will be released to the accumulated
losses. No gain or loss is recognised upon conversion or

expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bond are allocated to the debt and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of the proceeds. Transaction costs
relating to the equity component are charged directly to equity.
Transaction costs relating to the debt component are included
in the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised
over the period of the convertible bond using the effective

interest method.

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

24 EXEHBEER (%)

ERMAE ()

R ES
AEEBHRTHESEHRBREEESLD
MABRRESNNTHERSEBSAEHR
MR E - AR ETE IR & RERABEE
BMEZARABEABRATANEMBKEE
ERENBRERESBERRATAR

RUIFHERE  BFED 2 AR BERAR
PASERT ] AE IR 2 TS M R EER] - AT
AMBREFAEREEDEEEHHD 2
R EE(BFEABRESBRANER
B 2 ERETABK (AT EFBA
) -

REERIE AR RES 2 EH D THER
BERMEEIRBIERAARR - (A
BMEBKRHD /SARAZEBRAEERE)
R BN A M E SR EEZRA
ARZRETE (RZBERAT JREES
BAFEEAIIROEREERERA LK
a8 o W& RN fEim B D ARE T -
AR BB 55 R P 1R B0 RS R S IR R A
B8 - PR B RS m Ay I R
sk EIE -

BRABTAIRREFNR IR SLHAE
FRBDBL O DI EER REm ey - B

REF D 2R HMAEE NN - AR
BEHEMOORHEAABBERD ZEE

B TR ARRESAEERERF A
B °

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —E - =6 1 3 1



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 24 ERSTTHERER (&)

(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis and,
in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion
and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits and assets similar in
nature to cash unless the bank balances are subject to third
party contractual restrictions which result in a bank balances

no longer meeting the definition of cash.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Provisions
A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be

made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is

included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the sale of
certain products for general repairs of defects occurring
during the warranty period. Provisions for these assurance-
type warranties granted by the Group are recognised based on
past experience of the level of repairs and returns, discounted

to their present values as appropriate.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices

prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 24 ERSTTHERER (&)

(continued)

Income tax (continued) RB™H (&)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all BEERIERAAGEEIRRNREHAREER
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period BE R T A BB 7 ¥R 5 P 51 BR T (& A 89 P
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their BERERTRERE-

carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary BERIBABEI RGN E R E 2
differences, except: R AB BB SR -

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial o

recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting

profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated o

with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not

reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which

the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to

be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 24 ERSTTHERER (&)

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in
each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax

liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable
assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to
an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a)

(b)

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the

point in time when control of the asset is transferred

to the customer, generally on delivery of the goods by

customers. Invoices are usually payable within 30 to 90

days.

Rendering of services

(i

Installation services

The Group provides installation services that are
either sold separately or bundled together with
the sale of goods to a customer. The installation
services can be obtained from other providers and

do not significantly customise or modify the goods.

Contracts for bundled sales of goods and
installation services are comprised of two
performance obligations because the promises to
transfer the goods and provide installation services
are capable of being distinct and separately
identifiable. Accordingly, the transaction price is
allocated based on the relative stand-alone selling
prices of the goods and installation services.

Invoices are usually payable within 30 to 90 days.

Revenue from installation services is recognised
over time, using an input method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the
service, because the Group's performance creates
or enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced. The input method
recognises revenue based on the proportion of the
actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total

costs for satisfaction of the installation services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
=#+=A=1+—A

— = —

=

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

138

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(b)

Rendering of services (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Maintenance services
Revenue from the provision of maintenance
services is recognised over the scheduled period
on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.

Construction contracts for communication network
infrastructure

The Group provides design and build data network
infrastructure services to customers. Such contract
with a customer relates to work on infrastructure
under the control of the customer and therefore
the Group’'s construction activities create or
enhance an asset under the customer’s control.

Invoices are usually payable within 30 to 90 days.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation is measured based on
output method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of direct measurements of the value of
the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services
promised under the contract, that best depict the
Group’'s performance in transferring control of

goods or services for the related project.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(b)
(iv)

Rendering of services (continued)

Construction contracts for smart city and smart IT-
related projects

The Group provides design and build smart city
and smart IT-related services to customers.
Such contract with a customer relates to work on
infrastructure under the control of the customer
and therefore the Group’s construction activities
create or enhance an asset under the customer’s

control. Invoices are usually payable within 14 days.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue based on
the proportion of the actual costs incurred relative
to the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the
construction services, that best depict the Group's
performance in transferring control of goods or

services for the related project.

Income from other sources

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the

effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly

discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected

life of the

financial instrument or a shorter period, when

appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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31 December 2023
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 24 ERSTTHERER (&)

(continued)

Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration,
i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that

consideration is due.

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods

or services to the customer).

Contract asset is recognised when the Group completes the
delivery under such services contracts but yet certified by
customers. Any amount previously recognised as a contract
asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the point at which
the delivery is certified by customer. If the considerations
(including advances received from customers) exceeds the
revenue recognised to date under the output method then the

Group recognises a contract liability for the difference.

Share-based payments

The Company operates share option schemes for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group's operations.
Employees (including directors) of the Group and the service
providers receive remuneration and fee in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees and the service providers
render services as consideration for equity instruments

("equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer
using a binomial model, further details of which are given in

note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions to the employees and
service providers are recognised in employee benefit expense
and administrative expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative

expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance

conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service

conditions are satisfied.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per

share.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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31 December 2023
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 24 ERSTTHERER (&)

(continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage
of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the

central pension scheme.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “"MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and
are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’'s employer contributions vest fully with the

employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

For the defined contribution schemes of the Group, the
forfeited contributions (by employers on behalf of employees
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in such
contributions) would not be used by the employer to reduce

the existing level of contribution.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Foreign currencies

These consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB,
which is the Company’s presentation currency. The Company,
which was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued
in Bermuda, determines the HK$ as its functional currency.
As the Group mainly operates in Mainland China, RMB is used
as the presentation currency of the Company. Each entity
in the Group determines its own functional currency and
items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement

of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of
a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line
with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value
of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair
value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive

income or profit or loss, respectively).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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31 December 2023
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 24 ERSTTHERER (&)

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each

payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates

for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign
currency translation reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing exchange rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences and unused tax losses to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses can
be utilised. Significant management’s judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.
Further details are set out in note 18 to the consolidated

financial statements.

Recognition of deferred tax liabilities for withholding taxes
Deferred tax liabilities should be recognised for withholding
tax levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from
the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland
China. Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax liabilities that can be
recognised, based upon the probability that dividends would
be declared. The Group is of the view that it is able to fully
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
arising from dividend distribution of these subsidiaries and it
is not probable that these subsidiaries will make such profit
distribution in the foreseeable future. Therefore, the Group has
not recognised any deferred tax liability for withholding taxes
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

3.

TESTHHE R M (@)

Judgements (continued) I (&)
Revenue from contracts with customers KEEFEHZ WA

The Group applied the following judgements that affect the
determination of the amount of revenue from contracts with

customers:

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Measurement of value of construction works for
communication networks infrastructure

The management measure the value of completed
construction works for communication networks infrastructure
based on output method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of direct measurement of the value of construction
work transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining construction works promised to be completed
under the construction contract. The management’s estimate
of revenue and the completion status of construction works
requires significant judgement and has a significant impact
on the amount and timing of revenue recognised. The Group
has the qualified surveyors to periodically measure the value
of the construction work completed for each construction
projects and issue the internal construction progress reports.
The construction works performed by the Group would also
be certified by the independent quantity surveyors periodically
according to the construction contracts. The Group regularly
reviews and revises the estimation of contract revenue
prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses based on the internal construction progress
reports and the certification issued by the independent quantity

surveyors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Measurement of value of construction works for smart city
and smart IT-related services

The management measure the value of completed
construction works for smart city and smart [T-related
services based on input method, which is to recognise revenue
on the basis of the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of a performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation, that
best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of
goods or services for the related project. The management’s
estimate of revenue and the completion status of construction
works requires significant judgement and has a significant
impact on the amount and timing of revenue recognised. The
Group estimates total contract costs of construction works,
which mainly comprise costs for product cost, labour costs
and subcontracting fees, based on quotations from time to
time provided by the major subcontractors/suppliers/vendors
and the experience of the management of the Group, which
involve management’s best estimates and judgements. The
actual outcome of the contract in terms of its total revenue
and budget costs may be higher or lower than the estimates
and this would affect the revenue and profit recognised.
If the price of product cost or the wages of labour or the
subcontracting fees varies significantly in the coming months
from the budgets, the contract profit of the project will differ
significantly from the estimated contract profit. If estimated
costs exceed contract revenue, a contract loss will be

recognised.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

3.

TESTHHE R M (@)

Estimation uncertainty (continued) T RERE (8)
Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables BN EAEEEERE
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade REBEFREGERASEHRKRIARE

receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer categories that have similar
loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type,
customer type and rating and coverage by letters of credit or

other forms of credit issuance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's
historical payment profile of the trade receivables. The Group
will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic products)

are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to
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an increased number of defaults in the manufacturing sector, FHBABEELNRT DN AIE MGt E
the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting go

date, the historical observed default rates are updated and

changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed SR ER R E A TRAI B G R TR HR

default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note

21 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value-
in-use of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value-in-use requires the Group
to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from
the cash-generating unit and also a suitable discount rate to
calculate the present value of those cash flows. The carrying
amount of goodwill at 31 December 2023 was RMB134,952,000
(2022: 134,952,000). Further details are set out in note 16 to

the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-
of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or
a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which
is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its
value-in-use. The value-in-use calculation requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the
cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows
are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.

3.

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

TESTH AR MG (@)

AT TRERE (&)

E R E
REBZIEBF - AEEFERTHER
B EPSRGEAAEMIEENESE
EBEMNMERAEAE MBAFERER"
AlXE@BUBEGRTREELEEUNTEL
ARBERE - WIHINNETHEAONR
R PHERERERENRE-R=_T
=+ AZ+—H BENREEA
AR¥E134,952,000C (ZEZZF: AR
134,952,00070) ° B Z ¥ B H NG E V158
K16 -

FEBEERHE (BEEI)
AEEEFHAETRREANEERE M
KB CREE (BREREEE) LR
HEJFEREENB U RKPAREER
ERR OB ETRERNR - HEEXIRSE
EEUNRAEBAETROeE (NEE
MARBEREDEXANMEREE LS
ERE) AHBERE - BETEMREERR
B AEEAGFReELEMAEMESL
MARFRERENREZERAFERED
HEEMRE - MREFNRIRSREER
B RIFBEE A EAHR(E R R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

150

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value measurement of debt and equity investments
Where fair value of debt and equity investments cannot be
derived from active markets, they are determined using
valuation techniques. The inputs used in the valuation are
taken from observable markets where possible, but where
this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in
establishing fair values. This valuation requires the Group
to make estimates about expected factors which may have
impact on the fair value of the debt and equity investments
and the discount for lack of marketability, liquidity and
control and hence they are subject to uncertainty. Changes
in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported
fair value of debt and equity investments. The Group's debt
investment at fair value through profit or loss at 31 December
2023 was approximately RMB1,454,000 (2022: RMB1,270,000),
equity investment at fair value through profit or loss at
31 December 2023 was approximately RMB6,778,000 (2022:
RMB13,452,000) and the Group’'s unlisted equity investment,
which was accounted for as a financial asset at fair value
through other comprehensive income as at 31 December 2023,
was approximately RMB12,939,000 (2022: RMB18,368,000).
Further details are included in notes 19, 23, 24 and 41 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Fair value measurement of investment properties

As described in note 13, the investment properties were
revalued by independent professional valuers as at 31
December 2023. Such valuations were based on certain
assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate ("IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate
of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available (such as
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions)
or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the
IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates)
when available and is required to make certain entity-specific

estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management monitors the results of the Group's operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
The Group’s chief operating decision makers, also being the
directors, focus on revenue analysis by products and services
in the communication system business. No other discrete
financial information is provided except for the Group's results
and financial position as a whole. Accordingly, only entity-wide
disclosures including geographic information are presented.

3.

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

TESTH AR MG (@)

fhEt TRERE (8)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

MW RME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

4.

152

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

Mainland China

Vietnam

Hong Kong

United States of America
Other countries/regions

4.

HMBER, R

2EHER (#)
HwEER

(a) XRENHBEFZURA

2023 2022
—E_—= —E-_4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ Tt ARBTT
427,155 493,736
9,945 4,992
123,206 53,952

27 683

678 3,316
561,011 556,679

The revenue information above is based on the locations
of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

Mainland China HR R A D
Hong Kong EE
Vietnam Al

The non-current asset information above is based on
the locations of the assets and excludes deferred tax
assets and financial asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

Information about major customers

Revenue of RMB105,730,000 (2022: RMB49,835,000) from
a major customer in the communication system segment
individually amounted to over 10% to the total revenue of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023. The customer
attributed less than 10% of the total revenue of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

No revenue from sales to a single external customer amounted

to over 10% to the total revenue of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA

F U AN E R T LA B PR AE B R K

5o

(b) ¥ ARBEE

2023 2022
—E_-= —EF-=

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBEF T

184,863 205,183

80,037 23,708

3 1

264,903 228,892

LAEREEEERIABEEM
HBRERE ERTEBRELRBAEE
R AnBEAARMGEZEARSENHS
BMEE-

BAREEEFZER
BE_Z-_=F+-_A=+—B1LEE"
REBANESZIF—UETEEFHERASL
ANREE105,730,000 (ZE==F: AR
49,835,0007T) * BEG A KB BINAK10%
Nt BEZTE-_—F+=_A=+—HItHF
B ZEPOAEEBKRATREI0YS

B _Z-_—_F+-_A=1+—"BLtFE T
EREE—IINBREPHEERAMLAEER
U A 38010% °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e M BERME (F)

31 December 2023
CE - =FF - A=+—H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA -HEMWKWARKRE
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEH2ZWA
(i)  Disaggregated revenue information () DHEEBRAEH

2023 2022
=== = —

—_—=< —— —_—<

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTITT

Type of goods or services & me AR E B
Sales of goods HEEm 318,590 348,669
Rendering of services RMHARTS 242,421 208,010
Total revenue from contracts with REBFPEL 2B
customers 561,011 556,679
Timing of revenue recognition R A KE
Goods transferred at a point in time RE—EREZEER 318,590 348,669
Services transferred over time & By ) B i AR 7S 242,421 208,010
Total revenue from contracts with REBPE K ZHBIA
customers 561,011 556,679
The following table shows the amounts of revenue TRINREFARRERINENEE
recognised in the current reporting period that were MERRBASE:

included in the contract liabilities at the beginning:

2023 2022
—E-= T

—_—

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTTT

Revenue recognised that was included in Bt AFREBVE L

contract liabilities at the beginning of BEMNEERLA

the reporting period:
Sales of goods HEE 19,645 22,862
Rendering of services AR 7,843 2,971

27,488 25,833
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
CEC—Ff - A=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued) 5. WA -HEMWARKE (&)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) REEFEFEHZWA (&)

BRYEMFE
REEMRIETHR TEOEME KR
ERBED RER) N ZERMT

(ii)  Performance obligations (ii)
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or
partially unsatisfied) as at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

2023 2022
e e —

= s —_—= =

RMB’000
ARBFT

RMB’000
AR®T T

TRHARE R AU A BROR -

Amounts expected to be recognised

as revenue:
Within one year —FR 163,081 226,769
After one year — &1 435,629 518,447
598,710 745,216
Other income and gains Hi W A & W=

2023 2022
—E-= ZEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AR T T
Bank interest income HRITHEWA 410 249
Fair value gain on equity investments at BRARBEFAERZ
fair value through profit or loss, net (note 23) BAKREN DR EBE
Woam % EE (P RE23) - 5,096
Fair value gain on a debt investment at BRARBEFABRZ
fair value though profit or loss (note 24) BERRENDAEE
sk (B aE24) 793 -
Finance income on the net investment HEREFHEEEN
in a lease A WA - 76
Government grants released* BB A 1,227 1,060
Rental income WA 1,120 61
Others Hitp 656 175
4,206 6,717

*

these grants.

154
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e M BERME (F)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

6. LOSS BEFORE TAX 6. BRBAIEE
The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEBBRFEATEEBENR, (FFA) U TE
(crediting): 15
2023 2022
—Eg-= —EF-=
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® TR ARBTT
Cost of inventories sold* BEEFERAH 488,535 468,987
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BELREITE
equipment 14 1,078 1,048
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHESENE 15(a) 7,208 5,830
Amortisation of other intangible assets** =t 5 /2 & B # 5+ 17 20,244 20,245
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment B o EWFIEREEE
losses of trade receivables, net (Bm) Bk FEam 21 (2,807) 5,025
Lease payments not included in the Rt AHEBE
measurement of lease liabilities FrEMEENR
- Short-term leases — RHEE 15(c) 314 695
Auditor’s remuneration 1% SRAD BN & 1,300 1,484
Research and development costs*** Tt 35 J% 7 B Al AR 21,963 19,921
Foreign exchange differences, net E R EEFRE (111) 219
Employee benefit expenses (including SRR
directors’ and a chief executive’s (BREEN—%
remuneration) ERITHRABRNMNE)
- Wages and salaries —-IERk¥F® 69,528 64,486
- Pension scheme contributions —iRIREFT SR 14,867 14,059
- Share-based payments — DARRAD A BT 3R 32 - 353
84,395 78,898
Reversal of write-down of inventories to B RIMUAFEE
net realisable value* A] IR HE (536) (335)
Fair value losses/(gains) on equity BAnBEFAEREN
investments at fair value through profit AR E RN L EBE
or loss, net EE () F58 23 2,983 (5,096)
Fair value (gain)/loss on a debt investment XA BEF AIBZEHY
at fair value through profit or loss BERREAREE
(Wzs) B8 24 (793) 10,943
Fair value losses on investment properties & M¥E 2 AR EE
EE 13 6,812 3,244

*k

realisable value.

profit or loss.

statement of profit or loss.

Inclusive of reversal of write-down of inventories to net

Included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of

Included in “Administrative expenses” in the consolidated

* BEBERBRTEER 2R FE-
»  BEIABERERKRETHHEERAR] K-

o DEIABAERREBE TN [TTRAX]I A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BERX
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BERESHTT

2023 2022
—_EFE_= —Eo—F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTTT

Interest on bank and other borrowings 1T R E AL E TS 8,556 1,880
Interest on convertible bond A AR S5 F B 1,467 1,458
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEMNE 681 911
10,704 4,249
8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERESTHRAEHMH
REMUNERATION
Directors” and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, RIE ETAA B (R BHER) 5383(1)
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (@) ) ORMEUAR AT (HEEEF=
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 BERDBOIE2BFINBEE 2 FRES &K
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of SITBRABEHMIT

Directors) Regulation, are as follows:

2023 2022
—g== —E_=

=

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBFT

Fees: e
Executive directors and non-executive directors  #1T®E E NIEWMITES 653 513
Independent non-executive directors BN EMITES 393 371
1,046 884
Other emoluments of executive directors HMITEE RIEHTT
and non-executive directors: EEMNHMIE
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R NEWEAR 3,863 4,705
Pension scheme contributions BRIKEFTEIHE R 79 73
Share-based payments (note 32) ARG D BB 3R
(HM$3E32) - 254
3,942 5,032
4,988 5,916
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

Certain directors were granted share options, in respect of
their services to the Group, under the share option schemes
of the Company. Further details of which are set out in note
32 to the consolidated financial statements. The fair value of
such options, which had been recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss over the vesting period, was

determined as at the date of grant.

(a) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors of

the Company during the year were as follows:

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

EERESTBRAEHM (&)

ETESRERASERH®Z REMRE
RRBZBBIEEER B - —2F
HIFENER A M MR M EER2 - R TR
ZARBEENEBHHEELAABEERT

(@) BAFHITES
FANTARRBUYIFAITESTHNE
oy NS

2023 2022
—E_= —E-F

RMB’000 RMB'000

Mr. David Tsoi BARMSEE
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen' =K ER ST
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai RBRELE
Mr. Hon Ming Sang? 9 8% A o A2

! The director resigned as an independent non-executive

director of the Company on 31 January 2023.

z The director was appointed as an independent non-

executive director of the Company on 31 January 2023.

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors of the Company
during the year (2022: Nil).

AR¥TR ARBETT

175 165

9 103
109 103
100 -
393 371

| RESK-T-=f-A=+—A
BEARABIFNTER -

2 ZEER_ZT-_=%—A=+—H
BRERKRRBBIFNTEE-

FRTEENAQARBYIFNTES
MEMMe (DT _—F &) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 8. ESKERITHAEREFM (&)
REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and (b) BITEE FHITESERESTH
the chief executive AE

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
inkind contributions remuneration

& R RikE
e KEWER AHEIE HMaE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE AR¥BTR AREBTR AR%TR

2023 —E-=F
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo BR 8558 5t & 109 2,872 16 2,997
Mr. Lu Chengye Bk S E 109 = = 109
Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol? H—fFz+? 109 - - 109
Ms. Wang Fang FFuL 109 991 63 1,163
436 3,863 79 4,378
Non-executive directors: FHRITES:
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee' EFELL 108 = = 108
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek TirEraE 109 - - 109
217 - - 217
653 3,863 79 4,595
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e M BERME (F)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERBRSTHAEEFM &)

REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and (b) BITEE FHITEERESTH
the chief executive (continued) AB (&)

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Share-based Total

inkind  contributions payments  remuneration

BHRE
v REWET ATEIER ERAIR #
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'0 RMB'00 RMB'000
ARBTE AREBTE ARETL ARETE ARETR

2022 —EC-CF
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo BRB®EE 103 3,622 15 16 3,756
Mr. Lu Chengye BRESLE 103 - - - 103
Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol? A—Frt? 74 - - - 74
Ms. Wang Fang B 103 1,083 58 16 1,260
Mr. Liu Chun Fai® BERELE 27 - - 61 88
410 4,705 73 93 5,281
Non-executive director: FHTEE:
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek TirthsE 103 - - 161 264
513 4,705 73 254 5,545
! The director was appointed as a non-executive director of ! REENR_TE_=F—H=HEZ
the Company on 3 January 2023. ERARBFNITES-
2 The director was appointed as an executive director of the 2 ZEEN_T__FMNAT—HE
Company on 11 April 2022. EZERRRFNITES -
3 The director resigned as an executive director of the s ZEEN T _FMANAEE
Company on 6 April 2022. RATIMITES
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mEMBRERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9.
The five highest paid employees during the year included
two (2022: two) executive directors of the Company, details of
whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2022: three)
highest paid employees who are neither director nor chief

executive of the Company are as follows:

IURESHES
FAAUGRSFEEREARAMAMU (=
T _F WMU)ATES REDFH M
BEN EXMES -FAMEB=ML(=F
TS DY HEARAEEFTHES TR
ABMESHEENFMFBLT

2023 2022
=== -

—_=—= —=

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBT T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EEREYEF 2,566 2,896
Pension scheme contributions RN FT B 96 89
2,662 2,985

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following

bands is as follows:

FMEATHENIFEZRIFRSTRA
BENBRHEEABNT:

Number of employees

BEAH

2023
—e=

— ==

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 251,000,000/ 7T
(equivalent to RMB909,000) (F8E MK AR%909,0000T) 2 2
HK$1,000,001 1,000,001 7T
(equivalent to RMB909,001) to (HERAREI09,0017T)E
HK$2,000,000 (equivalent to 2,000,000 ¢ (MERARE
RMB1,818,000) 1,818,0007T ) 1 1
3 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current—Mainland China

B —h E it

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

10. Fi8%iBAx

2023 2022
—g-= —E——

—_—=<—— —_—<

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TR ARBTTT

Charge for the year FRXH 2,701 5,139
Current—Hong Kong BIEA— &

Charge for the year FRZH 2,669 1,892
Deferred tax credit (note 18) BT IRE % (MI5E18) (3,468) (2.821)
Total tax expense for the year FFIER S A% 1,902 4,210

The Group is subject to Hong Kong profits tax at the rate
of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for one subsidiary
of the Company which is a qualifying entity under the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000
(equivalent to RMB1,818,000) (2022: HK$2,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB1,715,000)) of assessable profits of this subsidiary is
taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are taxed
at 16.5%. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in

which the Group operates.

Except for the following companies, the subsidiaries of the
Company established in Mainland China were subject to

corporate income tax ("CIT") at the statutory tax rate of 25% in

the following years:

NEBMBEICSWHER(ZT ==
16.5% ) BLE MR B & 78 K (G 5T R B s 7
FHREABFE BB  ARARIA — B
NAIBRIN Z AR AT E ARG FIE R
SR E 88 - 3% M B A &) & %2,000,0007%8 7T
(HENARE1818,000T) (=T ==
2,000,0007% 7T (FHE M AR ¥1,715,0007T) )
B B BR B i I H28 25% M0 B R BB H e e
SRFLEF BIIR16 5% B R - iR
MERHEFNHECRASECEER
FTEE R EEEME R H KT8 -

BRAT REISN AR BRA B AR 2 M
J& R BINIA T R AR25% A E R R B D
EER ([REMRER])

Name of the subsidiaries el NG
Beijing Wafer* IRl B *
Xi'an Wafer** P02 gl

15.0% 15.0%
25.0% 10.0%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

10.

11.

162

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

* The entity is qualified as High and New Technology Enterprises

and entitled to a preferential CIT rate of 15% for the years ended

31 December 2023 and 2022.

x The entity is qualified as Small Low-Profit Enterprises and

entitled to a preferential CIT rate of 10% for the year ended

31 December 2022.

The subsidiary which operates in Vietnam was subject to CIT
at a rate of 20% (2022: 20%) on taxable income for the year

ended 31 December 2023.

Loss before tax

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5%
(2022: 16.5%)

Different tax rates enacted by local authorities
in Mainland China

Different tax rates in different jurisdictions

Expenses not deductible for tax

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised
Income not subject to tax
Utilisation of tax losses previously not

recognised

Tax expense at the Group’s effective tax rate

DIVIDEND

No dividend has been paid or proposed by the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2023 and subsequent to the end

of the reporting period (2022: Nil).

InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA

10. FRISHmX (&)
* ZEBRTASNEMACEER BREZE
TR E=FREF+-A=1+—8H
HEEZEEELEMBREIGYG -

o ZERNANIHMANCEER BREE
—E-F+ A+ HULEFEEZEE
BHEMBREIO% -

TR O KB A RAR0% (ZF ==
%) B ERBE-F =4+ 7
=+ B L4 A R B A U R FT S

it o
2023 2022
—E_= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR AR F T
BRELATEIE (33,519) (28,809)
B165% (2=
16.5% ) AR EFTHEH
I8 (5,531) (4,753)
HR B At 5 B RS B
BT RRE (1,587) (166)
TRIENERE R BT R E (492) 24
DA E R 2 3,361 1,292
HARER B EES
M2 6,919 8,114
BARB WA (768) -
B AR R
Mg EE - (301)
RASBEERBRTED
T IE R 2 1,902 4,210

1. K&
BHE-_Z-_=ZF+-_A=+—BLFEX
RS EIARE  ADQ R B R s R
BRE(ZZZZF:8&)-



12.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF  12.
THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based

on the loss for the year attributable to owners of the parent,

and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
142,655,641 (2022: 134,431,978 (re-presented)) in issue during

the year.

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are based

on:

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

BRAEEABLBRER

BRERNEBEDRERNFESARHEAEA
FEAGES1E DA R F A B BT B AR N T35
0142,655,6410% ( ==& = =4 : 134,431,978
(B2 R)FTE-

BREARBEBER A BTN TASES
R -

2023 2022

—= — = — = — —

—_—=< —_—<

RMB’000 RMB000

ARBTR ARBTTT

Loss E#E
Loss attributable to owners of the parent, AR AEGER:
used in the basic and diluted loss ARFEERERK
per share calculation e Ee (41,229) (35,882)

Number of shares KRB EE

Weighted average number of ordinary AR EGRER RS
shares in issue during the year used in BENFAND ETEBRR
the basic and diluted loss INHE T 15 8L

per share calculation

Loss per share SRER
Basic and diluted BEARREE

2022

— T — — /
= $
=

(Re-presented)
(BEFZ275)

142,655,641 134,431,978

(RMB28.90 cents)  (RMB26.49 cents)
(AR#28.907) (AR¥#26.697)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

12.

13.

164

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE PARENT (continued)

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of the calculation of basic loss per share has been
adjusted for the bonus element in the issue of shares of
11 March 2022, 28 November 2023 and 31
January 2024 as if effective since 1 January 2022.

the Company on

The calculation of diluted loss per share for the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022 had not taken into account the
effect of the potential ordinary shares on convertible bond as
the assumed conversion would result in a decrease in loss per

share.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share
amounts presented for the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022 in respect of a dilution as the impact of share options
outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per

share amounts presented.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Fair value AREE

At beginning of year REY]
Additions - Acquisitions WNE W
Change in fair value NREEZD
Exchange realignment PE 5L 3 B

At end of year RER

InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA

12.

13.

BRAAEEABRLEBRER (5)

RRFEESRERNERN T B INE TS
HERARAN T F=A+—H =
T =Ft+—AZtN\BRZFT-_0F—
A=+ — B a9 Rt #1T VAL FIRK (0 1 1 58
B EME-—T-_—F—-A-HBEX%-

BE_Z2-_=ZFRkr-_FT-_=_F+=A
—t—HIFE AR BREREREERER
B BEREEEEM T R BRERE

FREELBARNTZEME -
HRERITEZEBRES 2R BREXR

fatid

SIECHARBEYE RNIUEHEZE
=FERZE_—F+_A=+—HILHF
EREREXNEELBELRAE-

>4Tt+|\

REME

2023

2022
—EoF

RMB’000
AR®T

RMB’000
ARBT T

5,528
80,152 8,602
(6,812) (3,244)
(1,293) 170
77,575 5,528




13.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group acquired
the office premises located at units 707 & 708 on 7th floor,
Capital Centre, No. 151 Gloucester Road, Wan Chai, Hong
Kong (the “Office Premises”) at a total cost of HK$86,595,000
(equivalent to RMB80,152,000) through the acquisition of the
entire equity interest in Sino Profit which details are set out in
note 35.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group acquired
five car parks (the “"Car Parks”) in Hong Kong at a total cost
HK$10,034,000 (equivalent to RMB8,602,000).

All investment properties were held under operating leases to
earn rental income or for capital appreciation purposes, and

were measured by using the fair value model.

The fair values of the Group’s Car Parks and Office Premises
at 31 December 2023 have been arrived at on market
value basis carried out by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate
Appraisal and Advisory Limited and Royson Valuation Advisory
Limited respectively, both are independent valuers who
hold recognised and relevant professional qualification and
have recent experience in the location and category of the

investment properties being valued.

The fair value of Car Parks was classified as Level 2 recurring
fair value measurement. During the year ended 31 December
2023, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2
of the fair value hierarchy. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between Levels of the fair value hierarchy as at the

end of the reporting period in which they occur.

The fair value of Car Parks was determined by applying the
market approach by reference to sales price of comparable
market transactions which are publicly available. During the
year ended 31 December 2023, the fair value loss of Car Parks
is RMB818,000 (2022: RMB3,244,000).

The Car Parks as at 31 December 2022 were pledged to
secure a loan of the Group. No Car Parks were pledged as at
31 December 2023 (note 30(f)).

13.

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

REWE (5)
WEHE-_ZE-=F+_"A=t+—HIFE-
AEEFBWHERDN S IPRERELR
BEBBFETITEIRERP LTETOTR
TOBEM W AME ([WMAWME]) BRE
#%86,595,0007% 7T, (18 & F A K #80,152,000
7o) - EEFIBE AT EES5 o

REE-E-—_F+-A=+—HILFE"
AEBRBARBEBSNRABEES ([2E8
1) #pk AN £10,034,0008 7T (HHE R A
R #8,602,0007T) °

PEREMEDRRBESKANELHE
ERTHREEAZEREMFHH  BORA
RAEEEAGE-

R-BE-_=F+_A=1+—H FAKERE=E
BRBAMEZARBEC DR BB
EEFEBITOEFERFARAERIAR
ERFEHAERAR (AR MERE
EER UHANOCHHREMEZ AR
BRIETHEZER) RMEEELETZMA
EREE -

FEBZARBEIERE_REEER
AEEHARE-BE-_Z_=ZF+_A=+—
BEFEE AABEBRNE—REE_F
ZHEBEER AKEZBRENEBREE
ZMERRERA A BERR 2 FANER -

FEENARBEBRERAMS L 2%
ARABZAILTISERFHHEERET -
REE-_Z-_=F+_A=+—HILFE"
EHEHBNA R BEEEABARKS80007T
ZET - F: AR¥S,244,0000T) ©

MN-EBE-_—F+-_A=+—H FEHHEZ
e ABAEE—EAEFEER- RZT==
F+ZA=+—R UEEHHHEF (M
FE30(f) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

13.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The fair value of Office Premises is classified as Level 3 fair
value measurement. A reconciliation of the opening and

closing fair value balances is provided below:

Fair value

At beginning of year

Additions

Fair value loss included in other losses

Exchange realignment

At end of year

13. REWE (&)

WRAMENLDARBEIERE=-RLAAE
B E -FYRFERAALBELERYRN
T

2023 2022

—E—-=

T
RMB'000
ARET T

RMB’000
AR TR

AREE
REH] = -
KRB 80,152 -
FFAEMBENAREER

518 (5,994) -
PE WA (1,446) -
RER 72,712 -

The valuation technique and significant unobservable inputs

used in determining the fair value measurement of Office

Premises, as well as the inter-relationship between key

unobservable inputs and fair value, are detailed in the table

below:

Valuation techniques used

i A R B 5 0

Significant unobservable inputs used

FRANEATTERE A RIS

EERAMEND L BEHBAANGE
B R AR A R A BUR DA R B T
THEBABREAL L BE2HOEETH
FROLA T

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value

A B RN ABIBE
ARBEENBEE

Market approach - Direct
comparison method

MmHE-BERLBA

Discount/premium on location, building age, floor level,
view and facilities of the properties

BEMEME BE BB BHRXE2ITE/ RE

There were no changes to the valuation techniques of
Level 3 fair value measurement in the year. The fair value
measurement is based on the above items’ highest and best

use, which does not differ from their actual use.

The Office Premises were pledged to secure a bank loan of the

Group as at 31 December 2023 (note 30(c)).

1 66 InvesTech Holdings Limited 128 AR A 7

The higher the premium/
discount the higher/lower
the fair value

B/ TEEE JREE
Hm,/ B

R B RAA BEH R B R
BE A EEFEEN LAERHEER
BERGE ZARHAERRRTEER

RIEZ=F+-A=+—HB BAWER
B AAREE—([@RTERERER (T
30(c))



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e M BERME (F)

31 December 2023

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Fo=#+-F=+—A

=

14. NE - BERRKE

Leasehold Motor
improvements Equipment vehicles Others Total
HE
NEEE R RE Hits st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR
2023 —EC-=%
At 1 January 2023 RZZZ=%—H—H
Cost PR 1,899 948 1,099 2,210 6,156
Accumulated depreciation ZEhE (1,084) (678) (774) (1,799) (4,335)
Net carrying amount FREFE 815 270 325 an 1,821
At 1 January 2023, net of RZEZ=F-F—-1"
accumulated depreciation Nk R E 815 270 325 an 1,821
Additions "B 8 301 - 315 624
Depreciation provided FERFRZNE
during the year (351) (280) (95) (352) (1,078)
Exchange realignment Rk 15 9 - - 24
At 31 December 2023, net of RZEZ=F+=R
accumulated depreciation =t—B MRRHE 487 300 230 374 1,391
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+ZA=+—H
Cost R 1,932 1,227 1,121 2,91 6,771
Accumulated depreciation ZitinE (1,445) (927) (891) (2,117) (5,380)
Net carrying amount REFE 487 300 230 374 1,391
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 14. Y%

BERRE (9

Leasehold Motor
improvements Equipment vehicles Others
b=
IS B AE Hth +
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®ETTT AR®FT AR®ETT ARBFTT AR®ETTT
2022 —E-CE
At 1 January 2022 RZZE-—F—H—H
Cost BA 1816 826 656 1,805 5,103
Accumulated depreciation ZEtiTE (747) (341) (656) (1,370) (3,108)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,075 485 - 435 1,995
At 1 January 2022, net of RZZE-Zf-F—-R1"
accumulated depreciation MBRREHE 1,075 485 - 435 1,995
Additions NE 12 127 380 279 798
Depreciation provided ERFRZINE
during the year (330) (342) (55) (321) (1,048)
Exchange realignment RS 58 - - 18 76
At 31 December 2022, net of RZZZZF+ZHA
accurnulated depreciation =+—RB MREHNE 815 270 325 411 1,821
At 31 December 2022 RZE-_—_F+-A=+—H
Cost BRA 1,899 948 1,099 2,210 6,156
Accumulated depreciation ZitinE (1,084) (678) (774) (1,799) (4,335)
Net carrying amount REFE 815 270 325 411 1,821

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, no property, plant and
equipment were pledged.

RZE—=FR - —F+=_A=+—
B WEDE BREMEERER-

168
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

15. LEASES 15. &

The Group as a lessee AEBEEREABEA

The Group has lease contracts for various buildings used in AEBEERANREEXBKEENZEAZFNME
its operations. Buildings in Mainland China generally have E&A -FEAMEFHRBBEN F255
lease terms between 2 and 5 years. Buildings in Hong Kong F-BRBEFHNHEABENTI1E3F -FT
generally have lease terms between 1 and 3 years. Certain PAEMHBARIEANUT -HEEES
offices have lease terms of 12 months or less. There are no ABEEEEARKIEEREARATZHEN
lease contracts that include extension and termination options e

and variable lease payments.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets

and the movements during the year are as follows:

At 1 January 2022
Additions
Depreciation charge

Exchanges realignment

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023

Additions
Depreciation charge
Exchanges realignment

At 31 December 2023

(@) FHELE
AEEENEAEEENERERE
E/p N
Buildings
BF
RMB’000
AR®T T
R=FZ=%—HA—H 17.824
AE 662
FERX (5,830)
B HE 184
WZE-—F+-A=+—80K
—E-=%5—F—H 12,840
B 7,343
FERY (7,208)
ME 5+ 38 % 51
RZZBZ_=F+-A=+—H 13,026
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

15. LEASES (continued) 15. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) FEBERABEA (H)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE

FAHERE (FTAFTBRITREAM
fEFRET - M TE30) M AR E B M Z B

and the movements during the year are as follows: T

The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, note 30)

Carrying amount at 1 January

New leases

Accretion of interest recognised
during the year (note 7)

Payments

Exchange realignment

Carrying amount at 31 December

Analysed into:

Within one year

Later than one year and not later
than two years

Later than two years and not later
than five years

QOver five years

R—HA—BZKEE

g

FRCERF SIEE
(H1iE7)

BE:

bE 54 %

R+ZA=+—RH2
fRmE{E

v E
—FR
—FRERBWEA
MERERAEFRA

AF%

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in

note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA

2023 2022
—ZE_= —F-_—

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARE T AREFIT

13,712 19,961

7,343 662

681 911

(7,974) (8,030)

62 208

13,824 13,712

6,962 5,843
3,939 4,751

2,842 3,118

81 -

13,824 13,712

HEARGBNIIMBE M EERNGEE M
TEERA T2



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

15. LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to

leases are as follows:

15.

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

HE (@)
REBEREEA (B
() REBEZTERNEEMEBZTENT

2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARETT

Interest on lease liabilities HEBEMNE 681 911
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {FRAEEENEM L 7,208 5,830
Expense relating to short-term leases HEHERENAX 314 695
Total amount recognised in profit or loss R IBz &K P R FKIB A EE 8,203 7,436

(d) The total cash outflows for leases are disclosed in note

37(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

Property rental income earned from investment properties
during the year was RMB1,314,000 (2022: RMB61,000). The
properties held have committed tenants for 1 year.

The minimum rent receivables under non-cancellable

operating leases are as follows:

() BREENRSRHERRBERNER
875 AR P ER7(c)

EEBERAEAA

FREREMERDNYDERSKRA R
AR®13140000 (22 -_=F: AR¥
61,0007T)  FIE B R ERME B R — -

BREFATHELLEEENRERKAES W
T

2023 2022
—E_= —EF

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTIT

Not later that one year —FR"

1,526 45
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

mEMBRERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

16. GOODWILL 16. &HE

2023 2022
—g== —z——

— =

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T

Cost: A
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—ARK
+=-—A=+—H 207,580 207,580
Accumulated impairment: ZitRE:
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—ARK
+=—A=+—H (72,628) (72,628)
Net carrying amount: BREFE:
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 134,952 134,952

Impairment testing of goodwill

Network system integration cash-generating unit

Goodwill related to the network system integration cash-
generating unit arose from the acquisition of Fortune
Grace in 2015. Details of the acquisition are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 6 and 13 November
2015. To support the management to determine the
recoverable amount of the network system integration cash-
generating unit (the "Recoverable Amount of CGU"), the Group
engaged an independent professional valuer, Jones Lang
LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited, to perform

a valuation.

1 72 InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA

BEZBENR
BHFRBREESELEN
HPRARBEARSELESEMABHEE
RZZE—RFWIEFortune GraceFFE £ - Ut
BHBIRARRBSEA-E—HF+—
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ZEBUEXMHEMPERITEETHR
BHBRATETHE.



16.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Network system integration cash-generating unit (continued)
The Recoverable Amount of CGU has been determined based
on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by senior management
covering a five-year period with budgeted revenue growth
rates, the budgeted gross margins, the discount rate and the
terminal growth rate applied in the cash flow projections.
As at 31 December 2023, based on the goodwill impairment
assessment results, the Recoverable Amount of CGU and
the carrying amount of the network system integration cash-
generating unit, comprising the goodwill, other intangible
assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of the Group that generate cash flows together with
the related goodwill in the respective cash generating unit
for the purpose of impairment assessment, is approximately
RMB311,884,000 (2022: RMB228,331,000) and RMB186,459,000
(2022: RMB207,816,000) respectively. No impairment loss
was recorded for the year ended 31 December 2023 as the
recoverable amount of CGU exceeds its carrying amount,
which includes the net carrying amount of the goodwill.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the cash
flow projections have taken into account the global economy
uncertainty and economy slowdown in China, pressing on
the sales activities of network infrastructure business.
Despite the Group’s network system integration business
would remain challenging in coming year, the Group expects
its continuous growth by expanding the customer base,
identifying the business opportunities from other regions, the
partnership with various tech giants, and the contribution
from the government project in relation to the provision
of a smart library system. In addition, the Group foresees
that the ongoing trend of enterprises’ digital transformation
would enhance the demand and awareness of the Group's
smart office software solution. The directors of the Company
considered that these reasons directly affected the parameters
applied in the assumptions used in the value-in-use
calculation for network system integration cash-generating

unit as at 31 December 2023 as mentioned below.

16.
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31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

[EE €D

BEZREANR (&)
HREHBEHSELE N (&)
BeELBEMMNAKESBEREERR
eRmERAGFENEAEBEETE  MABR
STER B LA = AR E IR E it A R E R F 8
BERAERRNMEEE BEENE.
WHRENEARBESRERAMNKAER
KEREBE - RZ_E_=F+=ZA=+—8"
BREBERETGHER ReELENDN
AU el BL B AR ES11,884,000T (=F
— 4 AR¥228,331,0007T) - M AB 4R &
SGEAAeELEMN (BBENGEMS 2F
REBEFE EMEREE - VE - BER
FHEUREERESRENEREEEER
REBRSEABNFHEBADE)NER
BEAEARE186,459000L (Z T - —4F: A
R ¥6207,816,0007T) - E-T = =F +=
A=+—BLFEIESSHERE BA
ReELBEMMATRECHEBEERERE"
BIERENREFE.

RARESRA HeneBAllEs ka2
ER TR R BB SR
REBEBHEEDNEN - BEREEK
ME RGBS EBIEARR—FINEE PRS-
BAEEEHAERBERAETFE WEHEM
MEAEE BSRHEEEEYBARER:
IR EBRESEESEASNBNER
FIsE R ER BRFEER I KNE
EEAC¥HSTHELANFEBLEEIR
FAHAREESERDAETHNGRRIENT
KERM - ANBEEZRRAZERAEEY
BTN =T ==F+=A=+—H
MERAGEABRCEEBNNEREBRT
HHRAEANRE2H-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

16. GOODWILL (continued) 16. BHE (8)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Network system integration cash-generating unit (continued)
Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation
for network system integration cash-generating unit for
31 December 2023 and 2022. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted revenue growth rates - The budgeted revenue
growth rates are based on the historical revenue growth
data and market outlook perceived by management. The
estimated revenue growth rates for the five-year budget period
applied at 31 December 2023 range from -1.01% to 6.41% per
annum (2022: 1.91% to 29.77% per annum).

Budgeted gross margins - The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average
gross margins achieved in the year immediately before the
budget year, increased for expected market development.
The gross margins for the five-year budget period applied in
the cash flow projections range from 27.47% to 30.97% (2022:
25.36% to 28.05%).

Discount rates - The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant unit. The discount
rate applied at 31 December 2023 is 25.72% (2022: 26.29%).

Long term growth rate - The long term growth rate is based
on market data and management’s expectation on the future
development of the technology industry. The long term growth
rate applied at 31 December 2023 is 3.00% (2022: 3.00%).

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development and discount rate are consistent with external

information sources.

The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying
amount of network system integration cash generating unit.
Management believes that any reasonable possible change in
any of these assumptions would not result in impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

17. HttEFREE

RMB’000

AR®BTR

Cost:
At 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023

Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 January 2023
Amortisation provided during the year

At 31 December 2023

Net carrying amount:
At 31 December 2023

PR

R-ZE-_=F—HF—BK
—ZE-=F+-A=+—H 202,446

Rt

R-—ZEBE-_=%—H—H 144,243
F NGB 20,244

RZE-_=F+=-A=+—H 164,487

BREFE:

RZE-_=F+=-A=+—H 37,959

Cost:
At 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022

Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 January 2022

Amortisation provided during the year

At 31 December 2022

Net carrying amount:
At 31 December 2022

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group's other
intangible assets consist of technology know-how, which

24

£

i

i

RMB'000

ARET T
/N
RZZE-__F—HA—BK
—E-—F+-A=+—H 202,446
ST EESH -
N-ZTE-_—_F—HA—H 123,998
F NGB 20,245
—E-—#F#4+—-HA=+—H 144,243
A :
RZE-_—_F+-_A=+—H 58,203

RZE_=ZFR_ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—
B AEENEMEBEREERREEAR

was arose from the acquisition of Fortune Grace in 2015. The fii ZEBEFMR T —RAFUWHEFortune

Group has prepared impairment testing for other intangible
assets together with goodwill related to the network system
integration cash generating unit, and no impairment loss has
been recognised for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:

nil). Details of the impairment testing are set out in note 16 to

the consolidated financial statements.

GracelfEA - AEEECHHAEMBEBTLEEE
FERERRERARCELEVNERNE
BETRENSN - BE-_T-_=F+_A
=T —HIEFE - WERERORESE (=
T _F:|) FRAMEARANFEEN
REMBmEMTES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

18. DEFERRED TAX 18. EZEFIIE
Deferred tax assets EEHREEE

Impairment
loss of
assets Others Total
EERE
58 Hth A5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT  ARBTT  ARSTR
At 1 January 2022 R-ZZE-_—_4F—HF—H 3,333 385 3,718
Credited to profit or loss FRRERETA (FFEE10)
during the year (note 10) (217) _ (217)
At 31 December 2022 and R-_TE_-_4F
1 January 2023 +ZA=+—HK
—EZ=%—H—H 3,116 385 3,501
Credited to profit or loss FRREmET A (FFEE10)
during the year (note 10) 431 - 431
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=%F
+=—A=+—A” 3,547 385 3,932
Deferred tax liabilities EESEAE

Fair value
adjustment on
acquisition of
a subsidiary

e fE —
MEATZ
ARBEERR
RMB'000
ARETIT

At 1 January 2022

Credited to profit or loss during the year (note 10)

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023

Credited to profit or loss during the year (note 10)

At 31 December 2023
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R-ZE-_—_F—H—H

FRR BT A (HFE10)
RZE-_—_F+-_A=+—8xk
—2-=%—H—H
FHRBEmT A (K1FE10)

RZZE-_=F+=-A=+—H

11,768
(3,038)

8,730
(3,037)

5,693



18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
deductible temporary differences of RMB665,254,000 (2022:
RMB632,248,000) as the deductible temporary differences have
arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for years
and it is not probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. The unused tax losses of the PRC subsidiaries will

expire in five years.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established
in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008.

At 31 December 2023, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland
China. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in
Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled RMB113,164,000 at 31 December 2023
(2022: RMB99,486,000).

18.

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

EERIE (%)

B B Al R BB = 2 A R 665,254,000
T (ZTZZF: AR¥632,248,0007T )
REEHBEEE REABZEUHNRERZE
EELYERSFRESEHBENNBAR A
It 7 K A B8 78 FE SR B ) BT 4 0] H0 R B
ZREAERS - REMBRRARE AR
BEBBRAFREI-

RIBHBELEMETE  EPBEAMRILA
SNERERINEREET KRS  BRKE
MR MKBF - EREB =TT
NE-—A—BRRERLEANR _TTL
FH_A=Zt—BZBOHEN -HEFEA
WHZEIRIREE B RERET AR
Yetgs e - BRI B R 2B P s - A
it AEEBEERETBEAMKINZE
MEBARE _—TTNF-A-BRELN
BP0 IR RS BAR RANRRR »

NRZE-_=F+_A=+—H WEHKrE
EEFEAMKIONBRARIZATIRA
MEMZRNMRBTRREERIB-EE
RE ZEMBRBI NIRRT ERESD
EBEBAEN R-_TE_=%F+-A=+—
H @ABRAEEHEAG2RTE AL
MBARIZEEMENEREZE2BTEAA
R#113164000c (ZEZZF: AR¥
99 486,0007T ) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

19.

178

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

On 17 February 2017, the Company entered into a capital
injection agreement (“Agreement”) with E 5 AEHE AR
A7) (China Communication Technology Co., Ltd.* ("CCT"))
which was established in Shenzhen, Guangdong Province of
the PRC, and certain shareholders of CCT, pursuant to which
the Company would inject an amount of RMB600,000,000 in
CCT. The capital injection was completed on 25 July 2018 when
the Company became a non-substantial shareholder of CCT
and owned approximately 3.95% of the enlarged registered
capital of CCT. Upon completion of the capital injection into
CCT and other conditions as stipulated in the Agreement,
the Group has irrevocably designated this unlisted equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive income
at initial recognition as the Group considers this investment
to be strategic in nature. As at 31 December 2019, resulting
from CCT's capital increase during the year, the Company’s
shareholding percentage decreased to approximately 3.91% of
the enlarged registered capital of CCT. There was no change
on the shareholding percentage during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

19.

Financial asset at fair value through BAREBEFTAEM
other comprehensive income THKENEREE
Unlisted equity investment, at fair value AR EBEFEH

FELTRAKRE
ccT EMATHA

* The English name is for identification purpose only.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA

BEAAREBEESAEMZEAKRENE
L& =
RZZE—+tF-_A++tH RARIEERSH
ABREBRAR ([FAAA] DRFBEE
RERINTRL ) REFFAE FTREET L
FEWE ([ZHE]) B AARIRER
FHAEE ARBS600,000,000T  FEE R Z
T N\FLtA-_T+HREEK -ARRERAE
EASAMFEEERE  WHEBEAT AL
EREMEARL395% - FITEENT AR
ZHFERENEMEETHE BRAEE
REZIRE BRI EE - F 12 MR
BENITEEIETARARBETAL
HEERENFELETRAEE - RZF—AN
FHZA=+—8 BEEMAARFAE
B ARANBRE SR EENFT AL
BATEMEARLIN% REE T =4
CE_F+A=+—HIEFE #HRK
LE Il 43 A b

2023

—E-=

2022
—E-_—F
RMB’000
AREETIT

RMB’000
AR®T R

12,939 18,368

Y BXEHELRHS



19.

20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the fair value loss,
net of the income tax effect, in respect of the above unlisted
equity investment recognised in other comprehensive loss
amounted to RMB5,429,000 (2022: RMB21,718,000). The fair
value loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 was primarily
attributable to (i) the disposal of the investment properties
held by CCT; (ii) the decrease in recoverable amount of other
receivables held by CCT; and (iii) the decrease in value of
equity investments held by CCT.

To support the management to determine the fair value of
CCT, the Group engaged an independent professional valuer,
Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited,
to perform a valuation.

Details of the summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of the investment together with a quantitation
sensitivity analysis are set out in note 41 to the consolidated

financial statements.

INVENTORIES

EF 7 fn

Merchandised goods

19.

20.

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

RAAEBETAHMGZEKEZNS
RLEE (&)
HE-_E-_=#+-_A=+—BHILtEE"
FEMEEBERRAN LNE ETRAE
BENAnBEEETFE(RAEHEE)
BARBES 4290000 (ZFEZ2F AR
#21,718,0000T) B E_T_=F+_H
_+ AIEFEMNAREBEEEEIZER
ROEEEMF AT ENREDSE ()EM
T3 A B Y E b FE U R IE & AT 4 [l 6 BB R
DI RGNEMAAFTENRAIEEEBET
Bk o

R EREBEERTANLAEE K
SEZBEBYEXGHEMPEBITOERN
ERBABRAREITMEE.

ﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬁZiﬁ$T%ﬁfA%fm
DHHE BRTEBREDNT HREE
e I

rE

2023 2022

—E-= —F -
=

RMB’000
AR®TR

RMB’000
ARBTT

16,053 20,336
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

21.

180

TRADE, BILLS RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT
ASSETS

B 5 RIRIA
Impairment BB

Trade receivables

Trade receivables, net H 5 W FIEFRE

Bills receivables R FE R
Contract assets BHEE

Trade receivables of the Group represented proceeds
receivable from the sale of goods and rendering of services.
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit term generally ranges from 30
to 90 days, and a longer credit term will be granted to certain
major customers. Each customer has a maximum credit limit.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control management system to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly
by senior management. In view of the aforementioned, as
at 31 December 2023, except for the amounts due from one
(2022: one) customer exceeding 10% of the Group's total trade
and bills receivables, the remaining balances of the trade
receivables related to a large number of diversified customers.
There is no significant concentration of credit risk as at 31
December 2023. Trade receivables were interest-free and
unsecured as at 31 December 2023.

Contract assets arise from construction services for
communication network infrastructure and network system
upgrade infrastructure. It primarily relate to the Group’s right
to consideration for work completed but not yet unconditional
at the reporting date. The contract assets are transferred to
receivables when the rights become unconditional. The Group's
construction contracts include payment schedules which
require stage payments over the construction period once
milestones are reached. These payment schedules prevent
the build-up of significant contract assets. Additionally, 5% of
the contract sum is kept in contract assets until the end of the
retention period as the Group’s entitlement to it is conditional
on the Group's work satisfactorily passing inspection.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA

S RBRURKRENEE

2023 2022
—E_= —EF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T AREETIT
172,984 268,000
(10,102) (13,498)
162,882 254,502
7,594 5,665
133,580 57,971
304,056 318,138

AEEBSHEURFERREEE R KIRHE
R EW 2 FTS 58 - IRIBEAEBZ B S 1%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e M BERME (F)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

21. TRADE, BILLS RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT 21. B RBREUNRRENEE (B
ASSETS (continued)
The movements of the contract assets are as follows: BREENZHERNT
2023 2022
—E-= T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETTT
At beginning of year RF 7] 57,971 6,252
Transfer in the period from contract HRNEeEEERE
assets to trade receivables =2E FREWFIE (31,604) -
Increase in contract assets as a result of #EFtEFEH 5| FEHE L
changing in measure of progress AEBM 105,730 51,411
Exchange realignment M W S 1,483 308
At end of year RER 133,580 57,971
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables and contract assets TREJINBEPRAREEE 5 EKFIR
of the Group as at the end of the reporting period, based on REHNEENRRSIT BRASNNUZSH
the transaction date and net of loss allowance, is as follows: A  WE HIFRE R R -
2023 2022
—_E_= —EF-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARET T
Within 3 months —@EAR 185,826 202,667
3 to 6 months ==XEA 48,093 48,410
6 to 12 months AE+ZEA 34,132 49,203
1to 2 years —ZEMF 26,869 12,193
Over 2 years M LA E 1,542 -
296,462 312,473
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade O RWFIAN R EBEREZES T

receivables are as follows:

2023 2022

—E-= —EF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BT T AREFT

At beginning of year REA] 13,498 9,156
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment AERE (BE),#E

losses, net (note 6) SFEE (MEES) (2,807) 5,025

Amounts written-off as uncollectible 185 T AT 4 [ 5K 0E (642) (647)

Exchange realignment M 5, B 53 (36)

At end of year REFER 10,102 13,498
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

21.

182

TRADE, BILLS RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT
ASSETS (continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer categories with similar loss patterns. The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Generally, trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash

flows.

To support the management to determine the ECLs of trade
receivables, the Group engaged an independent professional
valuer, Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory

Limited, to perform a valuation.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group's trade receivables and contract assets using a

provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2023

2. E5 ZBRUARENEE (H)

AEBRESRE B HEARBERETR
EHNEt BTEEEEE - BEXIREA
BREUBEERNSEATFEN AN
HAMET HTERMB R NEER
BERANRE SRS EMBAESEE S
iR ST R SR R A (e 1 TR B A BB R SR AR o
—RWE E PR ZED &S B IR AT R
B4 43R & 72 AT LA S -

SHBEREETEE S EWKENERE
EER AEEZRE 2B EEMAE T
ERTRRERERERARETHE

TREJIAEEERBEEREFENES
EUHARANEEZEERRER

R-®-=£+-A=+-8

Current

-

Expected credit loss rate BHEEREX 0.15%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) EEeE(ARETT) 154,933
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) HHEEHE (ARETT) 232

As at 31 December 2022

Past due
il
Within 1 year 1to2years  Over 2 years
1£R) 122fF BiB2E
1.05% 11.05% 100% 3.3%
131,861 12,687 7,083 306,564
1,385 1,402 7,083 10,102

R=F==fF+=-A=+—H

Current

b

Expected credit loss rate BHEERHEE 0.20%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) FELE(ARETT) 165,610
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BHEEER (ARETT) 327

InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA

Past due
B
Within 1 year Tto2years  Over 2 years
(3 1226 B
1.90% 19.40% 100% 4.146%
142,395 9,300 8,666 325,97
2,701 1,804 8,666 13,498



21.

22. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e M BERME (F)

TRADE, BILLS RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT 21.

ASSETS (continued)

The maturity profile of the bills receivables of the Group as at

the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Within 3 months
3 to 6 months
6 to 12 months

OTHER ASSETS

Non-current
Deposits

Current
Advances to suppliers
Deposit and other receivables
Other tax recoverable

Impairment allowance

=EAR
=ZXEA
NE+ @A

3
fid

B3

A R

e R R A OB
b TR BB
MR

As at 31 December 2022, the non-current deposit of
HK$17,580,000 (equivalent to RMB15,548,000) represented

deposit paid for acquisition of Sino Profit. The acquisition of

Sino Profit was completed on 8 June 2023 and the details

of the transaction are set out in note 35 to the consolidated

financial statements.

31 December 2023

—E o=+ HA=1+—H

5 EBBRURRENEE (B

RBEPRRTEERBERUKN BB R

N

2023 2022

—_E_= —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBEF T
4,994 1,773
2,600 727
- 3,165
7,594 5,665

E

2023
—g-=

RMB’000
AR® TR

22. ANRE -HttEWRREREME

2022

— = — —
=
=

RMB’000
ARBTTT

= 15,548
23,449 37,359
12,079 20,259

- 72
35,528 57,690

(220) (220)
35,308 57,470

MR-ZE-—F+-A=+—08 FrRdEs
17,580,000/ 7T (1HE M AK#15,548,0007T)
ERBBERINNES WHEERBE K
TE=FXANBEK MEBRSHIFE
AR A I TSR MIFESS ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

22.

184

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS (continued)

Where applicable, an impairment analysis is performed at
each reporting date by considering the probability of default
and expected credit losses are estimated by applying a loss
rate approach with reference to the historical loss record of
the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions,
as appropriate. The financial assets included in the above
balance were categorised in stage 1 at the end of the reporting
period. In calculating the expected credit loss rate, the Group
considers the historical loss rate and adjusts for forward-
looking macroeconomic data. As at 31 December 2023 and
2022, the Group assessed the expected loss rate for the

deposits and other receivables to be minimal.

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Long ageing balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its
deposits and other receivable balances. Movements in the
provision for impairment of deposits and other receivables are

as follows:

At beginning and end of year RE R ER

InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA

22.

FENRE HttEWREREME
E(®)

EEABRAT REREAHBAERED
A] B M 1T IR (E AT S A B B SRR A T
BHEEEE EH2EREENRTER
- BREEXSELAZBARBRERERAR R
Ko 3 R SR A E AR S RO TEORI (20 ) - R R
SHR LGB ANEREES D ASE
—RBBR -FERHEEBEXRR AEEZE
BB EEE R R ATIE M R B B BURE
PR RN =FR_F__F+=H
=+—8 AEEFTEEE RE M ERFRIE
B TE HA 518 R A4S AR 1 -

AR B BN B B R BRI - 75
K EE RN E &I - Rl BR A AR E
RREZBEEMEN AEEYBERALLS
e H b 8 SR IR A5 455 7B M {4 9 e s L
IS RIRTt o R R HoA IR ORI 2 R (B 3
EEHMT:

2023
o=

e

2022
—EF
RMB'000
ARBTT

RMB’000
ARBT

220 220




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

23. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

Listed equity investment, at fair value

The balance represented listed equity securities investments
that offer the Group the opportunity for return by way of fair
value changes and dividend income. The equity investments
are classified as held for trading and measured at fair value

through profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2023, equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss represents an investment portfolio
comprising twelve (2022: thirteen) equity securities listed in
Hong Kong of which ten (2022: eleven) are listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange and the remaining two (2022: two)
are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

The total fair value losses of RMB2,983,000 was recognised
for changes in fair value of equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss in “Other losses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: fair value gains of RMB5,096,000 in “Other income
and gains”).

The fair values of equity investments as at 31 December 2023
have been determined by reference to the quoted market
prices available on the Stock Exchange.

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

23. BEAREEFABRZNREARE

2023

—E-=

2022
g
RMB'000
ARET T

RMB’000
AR®T R

6,778 13,452

IR EMBRAESFRE  EAAREEREH
EBRABEREDERESKARSGEHRE
BB BAREDBRFERS LRI A
EBE AR

R-ZE-_=F+-_A=+—8 &A1 E
Bt \BmrRAKE R —EHIZE(ZF
ZZFE3E)ER A LT HRAEFHEK
MIEEHE ERI0E(ZE - —F:1118)
R ER BT E#MIB (=T - =4
218 ) TEBE R FTGEM ETT ©

AR®E2983,000M AR BEBELED
REBEE-_ZE-_=F+_F=+—HILFE
WiREBERPH [ EMER] RER AR
ANABEFABGHRAEEAABEE
(2 F R [HaRARKE] P
RAREEWZ A REES,096,0007T) °

R ENR - BE-_=FE+-_A=+—0H
ANRBEDSENB OB TISRE
BT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

24. DEBT INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 24, BARBEFAEBENEERE

PROFIT OR LOSS

2023
—m— =

— i r =

2022
—m——

=

RMB'000
ARETIT

RMB’000
ARBT

Unlisted debt investment FELEMEBRRE 1,270

The investment was measured at fair value through profit or

loss.

On 20 March 2019,
bond issued by an independent third party with an

the Group subscribed an unlisted RZE-NAF=ZAZ+H XEERE
—ER-MNBUE-FBRTASBEA
15,000,0007% 7t (#E ® A R %12,980,000
TO) A R 2%t BHI3E EHEHF R =

aggregate principal amount of HK$15,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB12,980,000), bearing interest at a rate of 12% per
annum. On 18 March 2020, 18 March 2021, 18 June 2021, 12 TRE-_A+N\B ZT—F=ZAtN
October 2021 and 9 August 2022, the Company entered into H —ZZ-—FX"A+TN\B ZZ2=—%F+
A+ZBRZT=Z=ZFN\ANB ARAF]
VERRBHE B BERRENI A
ERRERE-_ZE_—F=A+HhH =
E-—FRATNB - ZE=Z—FNA ‘f’j'L
debt investment was revised to 9% per annum effective from A F—A+hANUK=ZFZ

FZANR-BZ ii*i/\ﬁJFj'LEi’
BEBRENFMNREEITR/% BT
TZF-RAZtRR E-FEITRFNX

supplemental subscription agreements, pursuant to which
the maturity dates of the debt investment were extended to
19 March 2021, 19 June 2021, 19 September 2021, 19 January
2022 and 8 February 2023 respectively. The interest rate of the

19 June 2021 and further revised to 9.5% per annum effective
from 20 January 2022.

9.5% °
The bond issuer failed to pay the principal and the interest due on BHEETARERBEEFOLOMARZE N
8 February 2023 pursuant to the fifth supplemental agreement EA:%i Z=FZ_ANBEBNERE KT

CEBRENEN -BE-_T_=F1T_A

and this constituted an event of default. During the year ended 31

186

December 2023, the bond issuer repaid the accrued interest of
HK$709,000 (equivalent to RMB644,000).

InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

24. DEBT INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

On 29 December 2023, the Company and Metro Win Investment
Holdings Limited ("Metro Win") entered into the sale and
purchase agreement, pursuant to which Metro Win has agreed
to acquire, and the Company has agreed to sell the unlisted
bond at the cash consideration of HK$1,600,000 (equivalent to
RMB1,454,000). Subsequent to the end of the reporting period,
the disposal of the unlisted bond to Metro Win was completed
on 3 January 2024 and all interests of unlisted bond has been

transferred to Metro Win on the same date.

A fair value gain of RMB793,000 was recognised for changes in
fair value of debt investment at fair value through profit or loss
in “Other income and gains” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: a
fair value loss of RMB10,943,000 in “Other losses”).

As at 31 December 2023, the fair value of the unlisted debt
investment was estimated using observable prices for the
subsequent sale of the unlisted bond and is classified as Level
2 of the fair value hierarchy. Details of the valuation of the
financial investment are set out in note 41 to the consolidated

financial statements.

24,

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

ZARBETFTABENEBRE
z%)

RZEZ=F+ZR=Z+H XRAREK
BREERBERAR ([RABIEIVEE
WE Bt REECREWREMARATER
EAR SR (B1,600,0008 L (HHER AR
1,454,00070) HEH EMEH - RBELR
B MBRBEEFLMEFENR_ZE-_MF
—A=ZHZEK URFABEFELTESRNS
R EETREA

—~

HE-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—RHIEE"
Exﬁﬁﬁ{%@%/\ﬁﬁém%ﬁ%&ﬁ@ﬁ{g
BEEHREGEEEER [HMBA R+
WRANEBEREARKT93,000T (ZF

TZFRIEMEBIFRERALEES

1B ABR10,943,0007T ) ©

R=F-=#+=A=+—8 HFLHHEH

RENAARBERABERLENIFLTE
ZOABRERETEE YD BRAAE

EFRNF2MR - TRREFENFBIRN
AR MR M AT o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
CEC—Ff - A=+—H

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED 25. RERBESEEYRCEAER
DEPOSITS
2023 2022
—EC-= —ZF-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETTT
Cash and bank balances B4 MBS Et 76,196 59,436
Pledged deposits EHEARER 24,781 25,549
100,977 84,985
Less: Pledged deposits: o B ERER
Pledged for contract bidding BBIEE QIEE R (3,035) (4,389)
Pledged for contract execution BaRFRITIEER (21,746) (21,160)
(24,781) (25,549)
Cash and cash equivalents HeMREEEY 76,196 59,436
At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank RBERR AEBUAARBFEZRE R
balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to RITH R A AR 948,000 (Z ==
RMB65,948,000 (2022: RMB50,053,000). The RMB is not F: AR¥50,053,0007T) - ARBAR B H
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under HRBABEMER AW REBEFE A G
Mainland China's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and EEIBEO) Rk (4HE SERNEBTER
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign E)  AREBEREAERERSEINEER 2
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RITIARBHIBKEME -

RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct

foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily RITHSRBERTFERMNBZFHN X
bank deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits FRER A B < SRITAE A N B R IF R ORNME
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of BRIFERIEERCEENRIT

default.

1 88 InvesTech Holdings Limited 128 AR A 7



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e M BERME (F)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

26. TRADE PAYABLES 26. EZENFIA
An ageing analysis of the trade payables of the Group, based RHBERRAEEE HENFBZERA
on the invoice date, as at the end of the reporting period, is as H{EEBERE ST T -
follows:

2023 2022
—_E_= —EF=-=
RMB’000 RMB000
AR®TR AREBTTT
Within 3 months =AM 72,878 152,501
3to 12 months =Z=+_-f@A 42,935 30,957
1to 2 years —ZEMF 23,541 10,107
Over 2 years R 38 W A 29,305 21,665
168,659 215,230
The Group normally obtains credit terms ranging from 1 to 3 rEE-REHERGE TN —Z2=EA
months from its suppliers. Trade payables are unsecured and WEEH -BIRNFIBRERMARER -

interest-free.

27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 27. EHNAEE

Details of contract liabilities are as follows: EHBEFBNOT:
2023 2022
—E_= —E-_F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T

Advances received from customers B E Y ER 89 FE Y 5 IE

Sales of goods HEE M 6,755 30,190
Rendering of services RERS 12,179 18,219
Total contract liabilities BHBEEE 18,934 48,409
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

28.

29.

190

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

B —REEHA

Amount due to a director

Accruals [EETE R

Other taxes payable H At IR

Other payables H th fE AT 50IB

Total other payables and accruals E T FRIE K
fEETE R4

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group's other
payables and accruals were loans payable to a director
of the Company at an aggregate amount of HK$1,890,000
(equivalent to RMB1,718,000) (2022: HK$6,390,000 (equivalent
to RMB5,651,000)).

Save as disclosed above, the remaining other payables and
accruals are interest-free and have an average term of three

months.

PROMISSORY NOTE PAYABLE

On 8 June 2023, the Company issued to Delta Wealth Credit
Limited, which is beneficially owned by Ms. Tin Yat Yu, Carol
("Ms. Tin"),
shareholder of the Company, a promissory note in principal
amount of HK$41,792,000 (equivalent to RMB38,683,000) as
part of the consideration for the acquisition of Sino Profit (note

being an executive director and substantial

35). The promissory note is unsecured and interest-free with
maturity date on 7 December 2023. The maturity date of the
promissory note was extended to 6 December 2024 pursuant
to the supplemental agreement dated 6 December 2023.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA

28.

29.

H BN REREE A

2023 2022
—=E_= T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETIT
1,718 5,651
15,885 25,050
4,534 143
8,705 7,576
30,842 38,420

R-ZB-=F+-A=+—8B KNEFHM
ENRBEREFEARERNARAR -
BEEMLEA1,890,00008 T (HERARE
1,718,0007) (== = —4F : 6,390,000/% 7T
(FHERARS,651,000T) ) E K-

B b PR EE &SI 88 H S OB K
SAERARE RTHERMA=[EA-

B EERE

RZEZ=FNANB ARBIEITELE
BETREEERARAR (AE—TFrt ([H
ZE]) BARRNTESEREIERRE)
BER)  ANEEAL,792,0008 T (B
AR #38,683,0007T) - AU EEER (M3
BMPAIRE - AHLERAEER LRS-
mEEA-—ZS-_=F+_AtHB -REA
HAZT-_=F+-AHNERHE &
HEENIPALEE S _MFE+ A
NBo



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e M BERME (F)

31 December 2023
CE - =FF - A=+—H

30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 30. FFERITREMER
BORROWINGS

Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) Maturity RMB’000 (%) Maturity RMB'000
BIRFI=(%) HE  AR®TR  EEAER% I8 AR®Tn
Current RE
Lease liabilities (note 15(b)) HEAE (HF150)) 4,00-5.44 2024 6,962 5.35-.44 2023 5,843
Bank loans - unsecured RITER-EER
(note 30(a), (b)) (P FE30(a) * (b)) 3.65-8.86 2024 129,750 3.65-8.08 2023 50,636
Bank loans - secured RITER-HER
(note 30), (b), (c) (T£E30(@) (b)) 7.6 2024 19,970 - - -
Other loans - unsecured HEER-EEA
(note 30(b), (d), (e)) (BHEE30(b)  (d)* (e)) 8.00-12.00 2024 6,017 - - -
Other loan - secured (note 30(f) ~ E B H—HH R (HEH30()) - - - 15.60 2023 3,095
162,699 59,574
Non-current FENH
Lease liabilities (note 15(b) BEERE (M3E150) 4.00-5.44  2025-2029 6,862 5.35-5.44 2024-2025 7,869
Other loan - unsecured (note 30(d)) Z b &3~ &R (HFE30(d)) - - - 8.00 2024 2476
6,862 10,345
169,561 69,919

Notes: HaE -

(@)  As at 31 December 2023, a director of the Company provided (@ RZE—_=ZF+=-_A=+—H ' KAAQF
guarantees to certain subsidiaries of the Company in —REEHRK Ei&ﬁf&fﬁﬁg\#\@%/\
respect of outstanding revolving bank loans in aggregate of R#109,750,000t (ZZEZZF: ARK
RMB109,750,000 (2022: RMB31,635,000). 31,635,0007T) ©
As at 31 December 2023, the directors of the Company RZEZ=F+-A=+—HB XRA=E
also provided guarantee to subsidiaries of the Company in BB IETEIRIRITE AR KE29,970,0007T
respect of non-revolving bank loans of RMB29,970,000 (2022: (ZZT =% : AR¥10,000,0007T) MALR
RMB10,000,000). AP A R IR AR
As at 31 December 2022, the director of the Company also RZEBZZF+ZA=+—H0 XR
provide a guarantee to a subsidiary of the Company in respect IR E A B R K #53,095,0007T (‘ z
of ather loan of RMB3,095,000 (2023: nil). T=FB)ARRAENE R EREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H
30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

192

BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes (continued):

(b)

As at 31 December 2023, except for unsecured bank loans of
US$839,000 (equivalent to RMB5,910,000) and HK$93,170,000
(equivalent to RMB84,682,000),
HK$21,971,000 (equivalent to RMB19,970,000) and unsecured
other loans at an aggregate amount of HK$6,620,000 (equivalent
to RMB6,017,000) which were denominated in USD and HK$, all

borrowings were denominated in RMB.

secured bank loan of

As at 31 December 2023, the Office Premises of the Group at an
aggregate amount of RMB72,712,000 were pledged to secure
a bank loan of HK$21,971,000 (equivalent to RMB19,970,000).
The loan portion of repayment after one year under the loan
agreement containing a repayment on demand clause was
classified as current liability. Except for this secured bank loan,
all the unsecured bank loans and unsecured other loans as at

31 December 2023 were repayable within one year.

A loan agreement with principal amount of HK$2,800,000
(equivalent to RMB2,545,000) bearing interest rate of 8% per
annum with maturity date on 22 December 2024 was entered
into between a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
a related company named Finsoft Finance Limited. Ms. Tin,
holding not more than 30% of the ultimate holding company of
the related company, is also a director of the related company

and the Company.

A loan from a director of the Company of HK$3,820,000
(equivalent to RMB3,472,000) (2022: Nil) is unsecured and
bearing interest at a rate of 12% per annum with maturity date
on 28 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2022, the Car Parks were pledged to secure
other loan of HK$3,500,000 (equivalent to RMB3,095,000).
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the loan was fully

repaid.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA

30.

TERITREMER (8)
HiE () -
) R-ZB-=F+=A=+—-R 285H

839,000% 7T (HHE M A R%5,910,0007T) &
93,170,000/ 7T (48 & A A R #584,682,000
TR B IRIR T B 5K £ %8 A21,971,0007%
7T (88 M A R #19,970,0007T) &) A £ 18
$RITE FRA K 4858 56,620,000 70 (HEE
AR #56,017,0007T ) #) 4 IR E b B 5K -
FEEBTHEUAREE:

RZTEZ=F+ZA=+—H 4A5£E4%
ﬁﬁz%/\ﬁﬁﬁz,ﬂ2,000m5@¢ﬁm¢@%aﬁ$ﬁi
EBIRITE 21,971,000 T (BERAR
#£19,970,0007T) W HER - E R IBETE K —
ifé ENERSO BB EREREERER

/\*EE/MLE)JEE"BTUCE%ETRﬁfE
‘-‘”9I\~5A_$:—¢+ A=+—RH"F1
*ﬁéﬂﬂfﬁﬁﬂ%% % fE R B B R
—FRNEER

ARA—HzEWMBARE-—HE/E
MERBERABDNBMERFILAELER
#$2,800,0007% 7T, ( *ﬁ%ﬁﬁ’\\/\EWZ 545,000
TORFNEUF BN _E_WHFE+ = A
:JrfEﬂJE@E'\J%ﬁATﬁ:*°Eﬁﬁj:(?-r7§|2§
ERRREERARNEA30%ER) TR
BERRRAARES-

R E AR EF 2 B 53,820,000% 7T (48
ERARMES472,00000) (ZT-—4F )
AEERBREGE12%NFER S FIEA
A-ZE-_MF+=-A=+N\B-

RZFEZZF+ZA=+—H F85EE
IR 1E & H b B 33,500,0008 7T (H8E R
AR®3,095,000) ER - REBEZE-F
—=F+ZA=+t—HLEFE BERER
HEE-



30.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 30. FFEMITREMER (B
BORROWINGS (continued)

Based on the scheduled repayment terms set out in the RIRE 5 3 BT E A & E R G T E
loan agreements and ignoring the effect of any repayment ERRERERGROTE  ERNEHA
on demand clause, the maturity of borrowings would be as s

follows:

Analysed into:

Banks loans and overdrafts repayable

Within 3 months
3 to 12 months
1 to 2 years
Over 2 years

Subtotal

Other borrowings repayable:
Within 3 months
3 to 12 months
1 to 2 years

Over 2 years

Subtotal

Total

2023 2022

—_E_= —_EF-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR AREF T

DA
EEENRITERRESX

=@AR 29,084 5,041
—Z+={@A 101,444 45,595
—EMF 844 -
ME A _E 18,348 -
NET 149,720 50,636

HipEEERBN:

=@EAR 1,759 1,513
—E+ @A 11,220 7,425
—EWE 3,939 7,227
A 2,923 3,118
25 19,841 19,283
BEt 169,561 69,919
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. B
Shares B% 12

Issued and fully paid: BETRER:
140,688,000 ordinary shares of US$0.01 each  140,688,000f% & EE0.01% T
(2022: 117,240,000 ordinary shares of ZERR(ZE__%:
US$0.01 each) 117,240,0005% & i E (& US$1,406,880 US$1,172,400
0.01%TT 2 EBAX) 1,406,880% 7T 1,172,400 7T
Equivalent to BER RMB9,221,000 RMB7,553,000
AK#¥9,221,000t A R7,553,0007C
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as RARIRAEBPENT -
follows:

Number of Share capital
shares in issue Equivalent to
ERTRMG
2B IR 748 E R
us$'000 RMB'000
FET AR®ETT
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—_F—HF—H 84,240,000 8472 5,464
Issue of shares (note (a)) BT (MFEG)) 33,000,000 330 2,089
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R-ZE-—-f£+=-A=+—H
F=E=-=%—A—H 117,240,000 1,172 7,553
Issue of shares (note (b)) BITR (FiEE(b)) 23,448,000 235 1,668
At 31 December 2023 R-ZEZ=f+=ZRA=+—8H 140,688,000 1,407 9,221
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31.

32.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Shares (continued)

Note:

(a)

On 11 March 2022, 33,000,000 new shares were issued at a price
of HK$1.50 per share to not less than six independent third
parties for an aggregate cash consideration, net of expenses,
of HK$48,008,000 (equivalent to RMB38,848,000). The related
transaction costs amounting to HK$1,492,000 (equivalent to
RMB1,207,000).

On 28 November 2023, 23,448,000 new shares were issued at
a price of HK$0.19 per share to not less than six independent
third parties for an aggregate cash consideration, net of
expenses, of HK$4,118,000 (equivalent to RMB3,760,000). The
related transaction costs amounting to HK$337,000 (equivalent
to RMB308,000).

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

(a)

2010 Share Option Scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “2010
Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high
calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group and any invested entity. Eligible
participants of the Scheme include the Company's
directors, including executive director and independent
non-executive directors, other employees of the Group,
the Company's shareholders, any non-controlling
shareholder in the Company’s subsidiaries, holders
of any security issued or proposed to be issued by any
member of the Group or any entity in which the Group
holds any equity interest, and any other person including
any consultant, distributor, contractor, supplier, agent,
customer, business partner, joint venture business
partner, promoter or service provider of any member of
the Group whom the board of directors considers, in its
sole discretion, has contributed or will contribute to the
Group. The 2010 Share Option Scheme became effective
on 25 October 2010 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that
date. As such, the 2010 Share Option Scheme expired in
October 2020.

31.

32.

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

PR ()
B (&)
Biat -

(a)

WZEZ=F=H+—H " 33,000,000
BRERESRISOBETHERETTF IR
NEBAUE=F NHRHALBRARSNAE
/48,008,000 7T (HEEH A R #538,848,000
JL) MR S AN B1,492,0005 T (FE
B AR#1,207,0007T) °

RZE-_=F+—A=+\H - &AQ7aH
BROIVETTHNERRATLORABBILE
= 77 #£1723,448,000/% FT A% 17 - #IR & KRB
(BB ) 54,118,000/ T (HBER A
R #3,760,0007T ) © 48 BE3X 5 A 4N A337,000
BT (FBE M AR308,0007T) °

fB IR T

(a)

—E-SEBREH
ARRRAMRE ) ([~ F—FF
BRI E)) B ENYAEREY
Rt EERZ A RS RALRE
S DTSRV EXT ET
RBEEHE LA RRE I AKER
ERARARBATERENAN AR
HHBEARERATQEARA
EF(RENTEFRBIANGTE
) REEEMES AAARE
ADENBAR 2 ERBE A%
=2 A A AR R AR SR
PR O 7 B B8 51T SR AT MO E 1
BHRAA URETRMAL BF
ERRER -5 HE R DH - REE
RIZ-BE BRAEBE ABDE
BEAEBL BRAREFET2
EREOHARADERBRIERE
ey 5 25 B £ 7 L 28 R TSR 6t
R % —F —FE MR BIR
T-FE+ATEAER BIFE
WO o i 5T 3 AU E 2% B AR A0
e
—E-EETARR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 32. IBRRESE (8

(@) 2010 Share Option Scheme (continued) (a) —Z=E—Z=FERETE (8)
BT T 258 AU SRR
PR AR 2 HEF o

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to

dividends or to vote at shareholders” meetings.

AT REFARE -_Z—TFBRE
SR ARITE Z BRE:

The following share options were outstanding under the
2010 Share Option Scheme during the year:

2023 2022
—g== -

R S —

Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of

exercise price options exercise price options
R TEE BREHE EFHITEE BREHE
HK$ ‘000 HK$
BT T4 BT

At 1 January and R—A—AK
31 December +TZA=+—H 34 396 34 396

Note: Mzt -

Due to the share consolidation in 2021, the exercise price of the
share options granted on 25 October 2016 was adjusted from
HK$1.7 to HK$34.0.

No share options under the 2010 Share Option Scheme
were granted, exercised, cancelled, or lapsed during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA

HRZEZ—FHNRMHEMF RZT—K
F+A-+RABRHMBERENITERER
178 TTHEE34.0E T -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e M BERME (F)

31 December 2023
CE - =FF - A=+—H

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 32. BRAERE ()
(a) 2010 Share Option Scheme (continued) ) —E—ESFERESE (B
Number of Exercise price*  Grant date
Name and category of share options pershare  of share option Exercise period
participants SHEEL AR K BREYE BRTEE* BRERLAN T
'000 HK$
T4 BT
Directors 2%
Wang Fang 5 144 34 25-10-2016 25-10-2016 to 25-10-2026
ZERE ZE-RETAZTREE
+A=-t+%A ZEZRETAZTER
108 34 25-10-2016 25-10-2017 to 25-10-2026
“EE “EFTAZtRERE
+A=-t+%A ZEZRETAZTER
108 34 25-10-2016 25-10-2018 to 25-10-2026
“EE “E-\FtAZtEHE
+A=-t+%A ZEZRETAZTER
360
Chan Sek Keung, Ringo BH% 14 3 25-10-2016 25-10-2016 to 25-10-2026
ZERE ZE-RETAZTRRAE
+A-+aE ZZIRETAZtAA
1 34 25-10-2016 25-10-2017 to 25-10-2026
It SAt:3 "I ETATHRE
TAZTHE ZZIRETAZtAA
1 34 25-10-2016 25-10-2018 to 25-10-2026
ERE ZE-\§+R=T+HRZE
+A-+aE ZZIRETAZtAA
36
39
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to * BREZITEERNHERSKETT
adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other AR S A AR A B IR 7N H 2R $R DL
similar changes in the Company’s share capital. BT ATHEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(a)

(b)

198

2010 Share Option Scheme (continued)

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted
during the year ended 31 December 2016 was estimated
as at the date of grant using a binomial model, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted. The following table lists the inputs

to the model used:

Dividend yield (%) 0.00
Expected volatility (%) 59.63
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.56
Expected life of options (year) 10
Exercise multiple 2.393

The expected life of the options is based on the historical
data over the past three years and is not necessarily
indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur. The
expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which

may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

2021 Share Option Scheme
On 23 June 2021,
“2021 Share Option Scheme”) was approved by the

a new share option scheme (the

shareholders of the Company and adopted by the
Company.

The purposes of the 2021 Share Option Scheme are,
through ownership of shares and/or the increase in value
of shares, to align the participants’ interests with those
of the Group, to incentivise and reward the participants
for their contribution to the long-term growth and
profits of the Group and any of the invested entity,
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-
calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group and any of the invested entity, with
a view to achieving the objective of increasing the value

of the Group.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA

32. BRESE (&)

(a)

(b)

—E-ZEFERERESE (B
BE_Z-A"F+-_A=1t—HLLHF
B ERENEREEREREZAR
EBE DRAFEHAEMEA-RAARA
et WEBAE LB R GRR R
it TR FEEAFFANEA
Br}:

% B K 35 K (%) 0.00
1£Hﬁdi$m<%» 59.63

& ) & (%) 1.56
E%Hﬂ%%ﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁ(ﬁ) 10
TEEE 2.393

BREZEHFRUBE=ZFZESL
BELAEE BRUVRRAGEELN
TTEE R - 78 HY % 0 S B 8 105 18 7R
RARBENRE FAERLRRE
PRAER

TEC-FERETE
RZE_—FXAZ+=0 FERK
(2 —FBREE ) e

(
TEAR N R AR ERHE A - W A AN BB o

CECEBEREFEEEEAR
MERER, KB MHIEE K2EE
Z A BAREZ M RE B0
HE N RES RENAREE IR
EERBZERBERMOEFELER
R/ IEAERERERRRESE
BYRHUAKERERNKEERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b)

2021 Share Option Scheme (continued)

Eligible participants include the directors of the
Company, any employee (whether full-time or part-time)
of the Company, any supplier of goods or services to, any
customer of, and any advisors, consultants, agents and

distributors of any member of the Group.

The maximum number of share options permitted to
be granted under the 2021 Share Option Scheme is an
amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue on the adoption date.
The maximum number of shares issuable under share
options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within
any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’

approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or
to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the closing price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million,
within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’

approval in advance in a general meeting.

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

32. BRESE (&)

(b)

—E--FERERE (8)
BEBSBEALERARAESZ T
MARAEE (T2 BERE) A
EAAEEIAKERARI‘ERHK
R EAHER  TAEF REM
A B R HE

RE-Z-_—FEREASEERD
MERENSREERTERES
RARBTREMHBEHEHTRMNZ
10% - & B EMSEA LR EMI2(E
ABE AR %A SR LB A
BITROBE LR STEZRARE
PEAT B B 2 1T 21% - R E
IR B ER 2 BB A M W A IR K
e LBEIRRE-

AARARER THRAERKEEZRER
HWEZEMABEALTRLERER
RELIFMITESF MM LI R
EE2EABERN WHERAQRRER
BRI IFMTESR WS 2 M
BEAIROBRES R ZBN B
BANR R PR B ] B AT 90.1%
FAEBBAEET (REXLAH
AprlzBBRmEE)  AIAZK
RNBRARE EEEHAE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b)

200

2021 Share Option Scheme (continued)

Participants of the 2021 Share Option Scheme are
required to pay the Company HK$1.00 upon acceptance
of the grant on the offer date. The exercise price of the
options is determined by the board of directors in its
absolute discretion and shall not be less than whichever
is the highest of:

a) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date
of the grant, which must be a trading day;

b)  the average closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for the
five (5) trading days immediately preceding the date
of the grant; and

c) the par value of a Share on the date of grant.

The 2021 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of 10 years from 23 June 2021 after
which no further options will be granted or offered.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to

dividends or to vote at shareholders” meetings.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA
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(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e M BERME (F)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 32. IEBRRESE (8

(b) 2021 Share Option Scheme (continued) (b) —E-—FEREE (B
DT AERNBE T —FHERET
B R AT 2 B AR

The following share options were outstanding under the

2021 Share Option Scheme during the year:

2023 2022
—ras= =

— = = R

Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of

exercise price options exercise price options
IAEF 9T EE BEREHA NETHTEE RRESE
HK$ ‘000 HK$ ‘000

BT T4 BT Tin

At 1 January and R—A—AK

31 December +ZA=+—H 1.486 6,529 1.486 6,529
No share options under the 2021 Share Option Scheme HEZ-_—F+-_A=+—HL*F

B SERE _T - —FERESE
BERE 1T R R B E -

were grant, exercised, cancelled, or lapsed during the

year ended 31 December 2023.

On 13 September 2021, the Company offered to RZBEZ—FNLA+=ZH XRAE

grant share options of the Company to grantees (the
“Grantees”), which are subject to the acceptance of the
Grantees and the payment of HK$1.00 by each of the
Grantees upon acceptance of the options, which carry
the rights to subscribe for a total of 6,528,600 ordinary
shares, pursuant to the 2021 Share Option Scheme.

BE-T - —FERETERERA
(IEBADREREARRARERE
MEZBRF A A I & R AR
R ER Z1.008 L& AEABA
REE A H£6,528,6000% EEA% -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 32. BBIRHERTE (5)
(b) 2021 Share Option Scheme (continued) (b) —E=-—FEREE (B
Exercise
Name of category of Number of price  Grant date
participants SHEALHE BH  share options per share  of share option Exercise period
BRESE BRITEE BRERHAE TS
HK$
BT
Directors 53 456,300 1486 13/9/2021 13/9/2021-12/9/2025
it S5 “ECFAATZRAZE
NA+=ZH ZZZHRFENAATIH
456,300 1486 13/9/2021 13/9/2022-12/9/2025
—T-—F “E-FNA+ZHE
i = ZZZHRFNAATZH
Other participants Hp2EAT 2,808,000 1486 13/9/2021 13/9/2021-12/9/2025
I “E--FNATZAE
i = “Z-REAATZR
2,808,000 1486 13/9/2021 13/9/2022-12/9/2025
“BCF TECCFEAATZRAZE
NA+=H “Z-REAATZR
6,528,600
The share option expense under the 2021 Share Option BE_Z-_=-F+_A=+—HL*F
Scheme recognised by the Group is approximately B AREEBR T - —FHEKRES
RMB883,000 (2022: RMB1,203,000) during the year ended ZIIE T 2 M8 AR 7 2 49 A R #6883,000
31 December 2023. T(=ZF = —F: AKR%1,203,000
TT) °
The fair value of equity-settled share options granted HE-ZT-—F+=-A=+—HLHF
during the year ended 31 December 2021 was estimated FEREUABEEERBREZ AAE
as at the date of grant using a binomial model, taking B TR R ERA ZEAER
into account the terms and conditions upon which the 5T 30 E R PTR HRE AR A (R R I M5
options were granted. The following table lists the inputs e PRIV RE T A AE R
to the model used:
Dividend yield (%) 0.00 % B A 2R (%) 0.00
Expected volatility (%) 81.95 T8 HA IR 08 (%) 81.95
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.52 4 F) K 8 %2 (%) 0.52
Expected life of options (year) 4 ERETEEER (5) 4
Exercise multiple 0-3.34 TS 0-334
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32.

33.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b) 2021 Share Option Scheme (continued)
The expected life of options is based on the historical
data over the past three years and is not necessarily
indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur. The
expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which

may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

At the end of the year, the Company had 6,924,600 share
options outstanding under the 2010 Share Option Scheme
and 2021 Share Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 6,924,600
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional
share capital of US$69,246 (equivalent to RMB475,231) (before
issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the Company had 6,924,600 share options
outstanding under these schemes, which represented
approximately 4.9% of the Company’s shares in issue as at that
date.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 94 to 97

of the consolidated financial statements.

32.

33.

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

BIRERT & (5)

(b) ZFE-—FBERETE (&)
BREZEHFRUNBE=ZFZESL
BELSEE BRULRAIEHLEITRE
18 2B 1515 - 78 B R 08 S BR JE SR 1R
BRAXBEORE AGERLAE
BRAER

RER AR B 6,924,60017 BE A% 4 14 &
BE_Z-—SFEREFTER=_T=—
B AR AT BITTE - IR B AN A RIIR RS MY AR AR 42
B BREOTEERITEBRETEEERE
HNEE1T6,924,6008% A A 7] i A% &2 1 h AR
69,2463 70 (FHERARMLT5,2317T) (K
MBREITRAS) °

Rt EZEGAMEHRRBE A R%HAE
6,924,600 BE AR A& i R AR IR 2 St 8177
HERZBARRB BTN 494.9% °

(N
AEERAEFERBEFEZREBESRR
HEPNEAMBRRFUEEITA 24
EREmEBHRI2I -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

34. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL 3. BEEARFEZHERZZHBIEEMH

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS BAT
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries that have material non- ERBEEERNFEHIRRZADAINER
controlling interests are set out below: AIEFFIRESIT

Percentage of equity interest SRR TR AR B DL
held by non-controlling interests
Wafer iMusic Joint Venture Wafer iMusic Joint Venture - 30%

2023 2022
—E-= —ZF-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT
Profit for the year allocated to Dlie T IEERIER 2
non-controlling interests FEmM
Wafer iMusic Joint Venture Wafer iMusic Joint Venture 5,808 2,863

Accumulated balances of non-controlling %R+ B #3952 F FE 42 )

interests at the reporting date e RETHEH
Wafer iMusic Joint Venture Wafer iMusic Joint Venture - 10,856
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

34. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

On 10 April 2023 and 13 April 2023, Wafer Systems (Asia)
Limited ("Wafer”, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company), iMusic Dol Limited (the "JV Partner”), and Delta
Wealth Finance Limited ("Delta”) entered into a settlement
agreement and a supplemental agreement (collectively
the “Settlement Agreements”) respectively in relation to
the settlement arrangement. Details of the Settlement
Agreements are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 13 April 2023.

A deed of novation dated 10 May 2023 was entered into among
the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (the "HK Government”), Wafer and the JV Partner,
pursuant to which JV Partner agreed to novate all of their
rights, title and interests in, and all of their liabilities and
obligations, under the contract regarding the provision of a
smart library system for the Leisure and Cultural Services
Department of HK Government (the “Library Project”) to
Wafer (the “Novation”), and Wafer accepts the Novation and
undertakes to assume, observe, perform, discharge and be
bound by each and all of the liabilities and obligations of Wafer
and the JV Partner under the Library Project.

On 1 August 2023, a letter of confirmation was signed by
Wafer, the JV Partner and Delta, confirming that all of their
respective undertakings under the Settlement Agreements
have been fulfilled and duly performed. On the same date, a
deed of assignment was entered into between the JV Partner
(as assignor) and Wafer (as assignee), pursuant to which the
JV Partner has agreed to transfer and assign, and Wafer has
agreed to accept the transfer and assignment of all of the
rights, title, ownership and interests held by the JV Partner
under Wafer iMusic Joint Venture (the “Joint Venture”, a
contractual unincorporated joint venture with its beneficial
interest owned as to 70% by Wafer and 30% by the JV Partner)
(the "Assignment”). Upon completion of the Assignment on 1
August 2023, the Joint Venture became indirectly wholly owned
by the Company.

The total cash payments of RMB16,906,000 in relation to the
acquisition of Joint Venture was the consideration to acquire
the proportionate share of the carrying amount of the net
assets of the Joint Venture amounting to RMB16,965,000, and
the excess of RMB59,000 has been transferred to other reserve
account.

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

. BEEAREEFIER 2B EEH
BATA (&)
RZEZ=FMOMA+HEHEZZEZ_=FMA
+=H ' Wafer Systems (Asia) Limited (AX2
A2 EME AR [Wafer ]) ~ iMusic iDol
Limited (2B F ) RBEMBERA
Al(RmE]) DRI MEL YT L AME R T
M (SRR I MRiGH]) - MEHE
NEFBHR ARG BHAE-_TE _=FIA
+ Em/\tto

MN-ZE-=ZFFRA+H EBEFENITEHERK
(BB  Waferk AL BHITITE
Mg B AERHREBRENEGH
ABEBBRINRE R Xt EBBRHEEEE
EEEG ([BEEBENANETHA
R FBEEREZUREFREETINRE
R EWafer ([ EF]) - MWaferk
MNAFS BET - WA AIE BT BT SRR
Waferk & & BHEERBEEHEEEETH
FIBEERER URELHR-

RZEZ=F/\HF—H " Wafer: AM?§1¥
LREHEERE BRNRHE THLSE
FrEREHERITILEE $$<LTT°HEI =
B (EALEAN) BWafer (TEAEEAN)
RINEERE B AERBHREERR
5% - iffWafer[F 2 5 8271 & 8 EWafer
iMusic Joint Venture ([A& ] —F4&
PUIEENBEDE D BEAWaferk & &
BHESHEATO%MIONER)E TG &R
HIEEENFAEN AR BEELRES
(g2 BFRN _T-_=ZF)\A—H=
g AECEAANRIMELZEHAE -

ERKEALERAFTNRENRAEAAR
#16,906,0007 U BB IR L B FE(E & & 2
RIFEERAEEARE16,965000THIR(E -
MmiBH D AR 59,0000 B #E B = H b i

fEiR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

34. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL . BEE RS 2B EEK
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) BAT (&)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial TRIITEEEHNMBERHRE -FTIRE
SENAFMEH 28

information of Joint Venture. The amounts disclosed are before

any inter-company eliminations:

206

2022

—ZF--
RMB'000
ARET T
Revenue WA 49,835
Total expenses FEEES g (40,291)
Profit for the year FE N 9,544
Total comprehensive income for the year FEXHEKRERE 11,705
Current assets MEEE 81,148
Non-current assets EmEEE 2,624
Current liabilities wREBE (47,582)
Net cash flows used in operating activities KETHMARSRE FE (19,843)
Net cash flows used in investing activities RERHFARESREFHE (427)
Net cash flows from financing activities BEEEMSRSMEFHE 21,645
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents Re MR EBYIEINER 1,375

InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA




35.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACQUISITION OF SINO PROFIT TRADING LIMITED

On 8 June 2023, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
completed an acquisition of the entire equity interest in
Sino Profit at a consideration of HK$87,900,000 (equivalent
to RMB81,360,000) from Delta Wealth Credit Limited (the
“Vendor”). The Vendor is indirectly wholly and beneficially
owned by Ms. Tin who also being the executive director and

substantial shareholder of the Company.

Sino Profit is a private company limited by shares duly
incorporated in British Virgin Islands and is also a registered
non-Hong Kong Company under the Companies Ordinance.
Sino Profit is principally engaged in property investment, which
is the legal and beneficial owner of the Office Premises (as
defined in note 13).

A business combination requires that the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed constitute a business. If the assets acquired
are not a business, the Group shall account for the transaction
or other event as an asset acquisition. The Group may elect to
apply, or not apply, the concentration test to assess whether
an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. If
the concentration test is met, the set of activities and assets is
determined not to be a business and no further assessment is

needed.

The Group elected to apply the optional concentration test in
accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations and concluded
that:

a) The land and building components of each the office
unit, together with the in-place leases, are considered a

single identifiable asset; and

b) The Office Premises is a group of similar identifiable
assets because the assets are similar in nature and risks
associated with managing and creating outputs are not
significantly different.

35.
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31 December 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

35. ACQUISITION OF SINO PROFIT TRADING LIMITED 35. WBEZEZEBRAT (&)

(continued)

The Group determined that substantially all of the fair value TEERE FIKEEERE (TERERS
of the gross assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents) ERSZFEMNRBRABH, AL EBEEFR
acquired is concentrated in a group of similar identifiable —EBURERIEE W5 &AwRTKEN
assets and concluded that the acquired set of activities and RGBS REEWIFES -

assets is not a business.

Assets and liabilities recognised at the date of RUWBRHBRRZEERARE
acquisition

RMB’000
ARET T
Investment properties KREWME 80,152
Other receivables HoAth JE W IE 1,649
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 145
Other payables Hth fE S FE (586)
81,360

Net cash outflows arising on acquisition of Sino Profit WEBEREEC2HERAEFHE
RMB’000
ARET T
Total consideration BRE 81,360
Less: Deposit paid in 2022 WRZEZ_FEMNESE (16,272)
Less: Promissory note payable (note 29) B B A (B RE29) (38,683)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired W ERERE RIREEFEY (145)
26,260
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36.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

CONVERTIBLE BOND

On 23 September 2021, the Group entered into the sales and
purchase agreement to acquire 25% equity interest of Fortune
Grace from Smoothly Global Holdings Limited which was
settled by the issue of the convertible bond in the principal
amount of HK$30,000,000. Details of the convertible bond are
set out as follows:

The Company issued coupon rate 1.5% per annum convertible
bond with a principal amount of HK$30,000,000 on 26
November 2021. The convertible bond is denominated in
HK$. The bond will mature in three years from the issue date
at their principal amount or can be converted into ordinary
shares of the Company at the holder’s option at the initial
fixed rate of 20,000,000 shares per HK$1.5 of the outstanding
principal. The maturity date of the convertible bond is 25
November 2024 (the “Maturity Date”). The conversion period
start from 26 November 2021 to 19 November 2024. The
Company may at its sole and absolute discretion redeem the
principal amount of the convertible bond at any time prior
to the Maturity Date ("Early Redemption Option”). The Early
Redemption Option held by the Company is closely related to
the host debt component.

The fair value of the debt component was determined at the
issuance of the convertible bond. The fair value of the debt
component, classified as non-current financial liabilities,
was calculated using a market interest rate for an equivalent
non-convertible bonds. The residual amount, representing
the value of the equity conversion component, is included in

shareholders’ equity.

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

36. AIRKRMES

WZZEZ—FAA+=R -KX&KEHFVE
ZE 173 7% M Smoothly Global Holdings Limited
FREEFortune Grace 25%% 1 « H i LABE 1T
% %830,000,00078 7T HY AJ AR B35 77 UAE ©
BT BRRESOFBERIET

KRR ZEZ—F+— A+ BB
7N 4 %8 /530,000,000%8 7T F B E1.5%H 7]
BRESF -AIBRRESFUB T E-ZE
EAFHEETHBAR=FANIE BRKE
BEARERKBASE NERRLBA
zo,ooo,oooﬂi%1.55%7%9%&@%%}]&
ELhEERBEASBLBRARARE

fRermRESHBHA AT _NF+— ﬂ
Zt+RA([FEA]) #RHAE T = —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

36. CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued) 36. ATRRMES (5)
The convertible bond recognised in the consolidated statement PR S B RS IR S 3R 0 HE RR RO AT HR AR (B 5 51
of financial position is calculated as follows: BT
RMB’000
ARET T
Debt component at 1 January 2022 RZEZ_F—-—HA—ANEBLS 21,672
Interest expense (note 7) FEFS (M3E7) 1,458
Repayment TRt I (386)
Exchange realignment fE R 1,880
Debt component at 31 December 2022 R-BE-ZH+ZA=+—-HK
and 1 January 2023 “EC=H-A-HNEERS 24,624
Interest expense (note 7) FEB X (MEE7) 1,467
Repayment FERKIE (409)
Exchange realignment ERAE 682
Debt component at 31 December 2023 R-ZEBE-=F+=-A=+—HHK
BEHHD 26,364
Interest expense on the convertible bond is calculated using AR ESF BN S5 XA ER M RY
the effective interest method by applying the effective interest BEI DB L5.75% EREFIREITEE

rate of approximately 5.75% to the debt component.

2 1 0 InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA



37. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
Major non-cash transactions

€))

(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

37.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group

had non-cash additions to right-of-use asset and
lease liabilities of RMB7,343,000 and RMB7,343,000,
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for

buildings.

Changes in liabilities arising from financing

activities
2023

t 1 January 2023

Changes from financing cash flows:

New bank and other borrowings

Repayments of bank and other
borrowings

Lease payments

Proceeds from loans from a director

Repayments of loan from a director

Total changes from financing
cash flows

Other changes:

New leases

Interest expense

Interest paid classified as
operating cash flows

Foreign exchange movements

At 31 December 2023

RZEZ=

£—A—H

HEREREBEAZE
FBRTT RAMAER
BERITREMER

BEM®

?KE REENERAE

TE

TEEIE RBENER

RERDREBELL

B
MEE
a’" BRX
ﬁf_ﬁﬁ«(k}_
ERFE
28
=%

+2A

excluded the lease liabilities.

mEZ

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

RERTRERME

(@) EXFREXRS
HE_Z-_=F+-H=+—81
FE ASEREEVHEERHEEF
AREERMEAGBZIERTE
3B A AR 7,343,000 A REE
7,343,0007T

(b) REIZBFELEZEEED

—EC-=fF

Interest-

bearing
Lease Loans from bank and other Convertible
liabilities a director borrowings* bond

RE—F FERTR
HEEE EsvER Hit &> ABRES
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR AR®ETR
13,712 5,651 56,207 24,624
- - 141,386 -
- - (46,138) -
(7,293) - - -
- 182 3,272 -
- (4,272) - -
(7,293) (4,090) 98,520 -
7,343 - = -
681 - 8,556 1,467
(681) - (8,556) (409)
62 157 1,010 682
13,824 1,718 155,737 26,364

The interest-bearing bank and other borrowings above

* LG BRTEEMERTEER
AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

37. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 37. KEHERERMT ()
CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEITBMELEZEBEE (8)
activities (continued)
2022 —EZCF

Interest-
bearing
Lease Loans from bank and other Convertible

liabilities a director borrowings* bond

, it
REAH 28 AR TARES
RMB'000 RMB'00 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTL  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

At 1 January 2022 R-ZE--F-A-A 19,961 - 29,307 21,672

Changes from financing cash flows: BERESREEE 2 EE:

New bank and other borrowings R REMER - - 63,475 -
Repayments of bank and other BRRITRAMER

borrowings - - (37,699) -
Increase in loans from a director KE—REEHEZEM - 5,651 - -
Lease payments HEMNRK (7.119) - - -
Total changes from financing RERGRBELZ

cash flows BEBR (7,119) 5,651 25,776 -
Other changes: Hin %
New leases HHE 662 - - -
Interest expense FlBBX 911 - 1,880 1,458
Interest paid classified as AEREERENEL

operating cash flows BFE 911) - (1,880) (386)
Foreign exchange movements R 208 - 1,124 1,880
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE-—F

+-A=+—H 13,712 5,651 56,207 24,624

2 1 2 InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA



37.

38.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (continued)
(c) Total cash outflows for leases

The total cash outflows for leases included in the

consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows:

37.

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

REREREBRME (B

() HEZRERHAR
BN ARERERNEEZRER
AR T

Within operating activities KEEBHN
Within financing activities BMETHA
PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group's assets pledged for the Group's interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings are included in notes 30(c)
and 30(f) to the consolidated financial statements.

38.

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARET T
995 1,606

7,293 7,119
8,288 8,725

EEEHA

PLANER BT BIR 1T R EL A5 BRAT I A A AR
SEEEFBHERN A M MKMW E30()
230(f) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in the

consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following

transactions with its related parties during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022:

(a)

214

On 24 December 2020, the Group entered into a loan
facility agreement of HK$10,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB8,420,000) with a director of the Company. As
at 31 December 2023, HK$1,890,000 (equivalent
to RMB1,718,000) was outstanding under this loan
facility (note 28) (2022: HK$6,390,000 (equivalent to
RMB5,651,000)). The outstanding balance under this loan
facility as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 was unsecured,

interest-free and repayable within one year.

On 29 June 2023, the Group entered into a loan
agreement of HK$3,600,000 (equivalent to RMB3,272,000)
with a director of the Company. As at 31 December
2023, HK$3,820,000 (equivalent to RMB3,472,000) was
outstanding under this loan agreement (note 30(e)). The
outstanding balance under this loan agreement as at 31
December 2023 was unsecured, bearing interest at a rate
of 12% per annum with maturity date on 28 December
2024,

InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA

39.

HELTXZRBERS
BERAMBERREMBIMBENRS

IR EZE_=FER T —F+ A
T+ —HALFEASBENEBEERFETT

51132

(a)

5

R-_ZE-_ZTF+_A-+MWMWAB" K
EEBRANG —RERLERA
& %8 E 110,000,000 7T (HHE R
AR #8,420,000T) cRZT =4
+TZA=+—H ZEXBMEBEET
1,890,000 7t (FHE R AKKE1,718,000
TL) MAERE (HF28) (Z2==
6,390,000/ 7T (HHE M AR #5,651,000
L)) RZEBEZ=ZFRZF==
+ZA=+—H ZEXBREEET
KEBEHBERF RERANR—
FAEE-

RZEZ=ZFNAZ+LB K&
EEAQNA—REFITVYLER
3,600,000 7T (#8& M AKEES,272,000
TN EZRB#E R _=ZF+=
A=+—H8 B® %% 73,820,000/
JC (&R ARES,472,0007T) i# A& E
B (M3E30(e)) R BE-_=F+_H
=T —H ZEXBREEETAEAR
BELEBRAEER EF R E12%:
B U¥RZZFE_MEF+=ZA=+/\H
BB

C

W



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

Outstanding balances with related parties

Details of the Group's outstanding balances with its
related parties as at the end of the reporting period are
disclosed in notes 28 and 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Compensation of key management personnel of the

Group

During the year, the Company did not identify any
personnel as key management other than the directors
of the Company. Further details of directors” and the
chief executive’s emoluments are included in note 8 to

the consolidated financial statements.

On 18 October 2022, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, Delta Wealth Credit Limited, Ms. Tin and Sino
Profit entered into the sale and purchase agreement in
relation to the acquisition of the entire interest of Sino
Profit. Details of the transaction are set out in note 35 to

the consolidated financial statements.

(c)

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

39. MEAXRERBERS (4)

BARRE Ty 2 R EE AR

REBRBEHRLERES 2 KEE
BB R IB AR A B S 3R R M 5228 %30

s o

AEETZEEABSHB

FAR-BRARBEEIN AR B IUHEH
MEMALTATIEERE -EFNKR
BITHRA BH 2 — FFHIFENER
B mR MRS

RZEBZZF+A+NB KAFH
2EMBAR BEEEBRAA
Tt RERFWHERNZIRER
VEEWZ X DABHREETHE
HFRMIFE35 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 40. ZERE S ERMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial MEPRREHENSHIANEREBENT:
instruments as at the end of the reporting period were as
follows:
2023 —ZF"=
Financial assets EHEE

Financial asset

Financial at fair value

Financial assets at fair through other
assets at value through  comprehensive
amortised cost profit or loss income

REBHHA BAAEE BAREE

1) FPAREN  RAHMERE
EREE SREE WENEREE @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR

Trade and bills receivables EENES T 170,476 - - 170,476
Financial assets included in AT FE - HEK

prepayments, other receivables FEREMEENEREE

and other assets 11,859 - - 11,859
Equity investments at fair value BARBEEHABRL

through profit or loss PR A% E - 6,778 - 6,778
Debt investment at fair value BRRBEFMABRZ

through profit or loss BKRE - 1,454 = 1,454
Financial asset at fair value through ~ EARBEFT AEAM

other comprehensive income FERENEREE - - 12,939 12,939
Pledged deposits BEAFR 24,781 - - 24,781
Cash and cash equivalents BekBeEED 76,196 - - 76,196

283,312 8,232 12,939 304,483

2 1 6 InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e M BERME (F)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 40. ZERE2ERTIA (&)
(continued)
2023 (continued) ZE=F ()
Financial liabilities EHEE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
Sl B8R 2
SRIBE
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Trade payables 2 5 N IR 168,659
Financial liabilities included in other payables STAEMENRIBEREFERZ
and accruals SRaE 10,423
Promissory note payable A R R 36,700
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings STRIRITREMER 169,561
Debt component of convertible bond AR ESERILD 26,364
411,707

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —E - =6 2 1 7



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

mEMBRERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(continued)
2022
Financial assets

Trade and bills receivables
Financial assets included in

prepayments, other receivables

and other assets

Equity investments at fair value

through profit or loss
Debt investment at fair value
through profit or loss

Financial asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Pledged deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities

Trade payables

BHRERRKEF
SRR Aft e
HERAMEENEREE

BOAEEFARRZ
BAKE
BOABEFARRZ
EBKRE
BOnEEFALL
PEBENEREE
BHEAER
BehReEED

Financial liabilities included in other payables

and accruals

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

Debt component of convertible bond

218

InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA

40. RERESESRMIA (8

EHEE
Financial asset
Financial at fair value
Financial assets at fair through other
assets at value through comprehensive
amortised cost profit or loss income
RESERA N =
5|5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
260,167 - - 260,167
35,587 - - 35,587
- 13,452 - 13,452
- 1,270 - 1,270
- - 18,368 18,368
25,549 - - 25,549
59,436 - - 59,436
380,739 14,722 18,368 413,829
THEE

B RN FOR

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

7% RN

SRR
THAR
RMB’000
ARBTTT

215,230

FRAEMENRELEFTERZ

SRE(E
5 BSRTT R B E R
ARG HEE D

13,227
69,919
24,624

323,000



41.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that

reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

41.

Carrying amounts
REE
2023

—g-=

RMB’000

ARETR

'y
T

k>

ETMD)M;ID%';'
ﬁ
X2
mx

Financial assets

f*f“@.ﬁr)\%ﬁmz

S

Equity investment at fair value
through profit or loss

-+

FEJAE 5.7

Debt investment at fair value

9 =
X m
PO

through profit or loss
i “*FTE#)\&@
THRENCREE

Financial asset at fair value
through other comprehensive

income

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

SRIAZAREER

&

AEBSBRTE (RAEAE EEAL*ETE/\E%E
BERIN ZEEERAABEAT

REEF

Fair values
DAREE
2023
—E-=

RMB’000
ARBTR

2022

2022
e

— =

RMB'000
ARETT

RMB000
ARETT

6,778 13,452 6,778 13,452
1,454 1,270 1,454 1,270
12,939 18,368 12,939 18,368
21,17 33,090 21,171 33,090

The Group’'s corporate finance team is responsible for
determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. The corporate finance
team reports directly to the chief executive officer. At each
reporting date, the corporate finance team analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and the
major inputs applied in the valuation which performed by
an independent professional valuer, if any. The valuation is

reviewed and approved by the chief executive officer.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, trade and bills receivables, current financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets, pledged deposits, trade payables, promissory note
payable, convertible bond, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and the current financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

AEEBTHEXYHAEERERTA
MR EBEENERRLERF - BEMB
AEEMAERER - REREAH CEH
BHEIMERTAEEES MNEANE L
SEXRMHEMETZHENTIZRABE (1
B) - HECHAESENRILE -

REEENER ReMRSFEY EH
Ko SRR FE WK~ Bt TR SRR - A At B K
BREMEENRDEREE BEART
FEZHEMNFE BNALRE AJRK
B 5L RRITREMBEFTIA KRG AE M E
NHBEREFEANRBDTHABNAA
BEAEEFRRERS TEARZEFETAN
BB HARR &25T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

41.

220

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair value of the unlisted equity investment designated
as financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive
income has been estimated using a summation method
with majority of component assets are valued by market-
based valuation technique based on assumptions that are
not supported by observable market prices or rates. The
valuation requires the directors to determine comparable
public companies (peers) based on industry, size, leverage
and strategy, and to calculate an appropriate price multiple,
such as price to book ("P/B”) multiple, and enterprise value
to sales ("EV/S") multiple, for each comparable company
identified. The multiple is calculated by dividing the enterprise
value of the comparable company by an earnings measure.
The trading multiple is then discounted for considerations
such as illiquidity and size differences between the
comparable companies based on company-specific facts
and circumstances. The discounted multiple is applied to
the corresponding earnings measure of the unlisted equity
investment to measure the fair value. The directors believe
that the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation
technique, which are recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position, and the related changes in fair values, which
are recorded in other comprehensive income, are reasonable,
and that they were the most appropriate values at the end of

the reporting period.
The fair valve of the unlisted debt investment was estimated

using observed prices for recent sales of the financial

instrument.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA

41.

EMIRECARBERAIAEES
;|
BERBRAABEFARMEZEKRENS
MEEMNFLTRARENAABEER
BYFHABENSERAMNEIHOR
REMETBEXBOEEAT IS BEEM
B RETHENAFDEER A - HER
TEFRETE AR BERLRBEEE A
BB ARAA (RAX) WHEHEEH
AALRARFEEREREE WER
HRREEE (TP/B ) fE & MEREELH
E(TEV/S DEH - FEARE LB A AH
CEEERUBNFEFE -XHEHER
BARBESERBARKE (MIERDHE
ERABALBARZENREZR)FHE-
FREBBEANFELTRARENEER
MEtE8 A8 nBE -EFMAE BN
FAMBEIKRKRNGEETAMBRES AR
BEMCHENEGEZEEEN AL EER
MEPHBSE ARBEHRREENE
B o

FLETEBRENAAEENRERSHE
TRMMHEENBRRERGE-



41.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial investments fall under Level 3 together
with a quantitation sensitivity analysis at 31 December 2023
and 2022:

Description Valuation technique Unobservable input

BT FOIBRZRALE

Financial asset at fair value Summation method (With majority Valuation multiple:

through other comprehensive  of the component assets valued

income by market approach)
BAREETAA ARG AiE(FEEARBHEENT (HERE
ZERMEE BEETIHE)

- Price to book

—BREERER

- Enterprise value to

sales

—EBELHEE

Discount for lack of

marketability (%)

WE BB
)

41.

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

TRIAZAREERAAEBES
& (1)

RABESHE
TRERBEN SRS MREHES BA
FUBRBHAREUER _F-=F R
T-—F+-B-t-ArERHEBESH
-

Amount of Sensitivity of fair
unobservable input value to the input

FUREHARE AABEHRABEZBBE

0.44 t0 0.64 10% (2022: 10%) increase/decrease in
(2022: 0.46 to 1.48) multiple would result in increase/
decrease in fair value by 0.24%
(2022: 0.37%)

0440 64 RN,/ HA0% (B &
(Z8F==F: 10%) BEBR A BEENRD
0462 1.48) 026% (ZEZZ%F:037%)

1.20 to 8.04 10% (2022: 10%) increase/decrease
(2022: 1.23 t0 8.42) in multiple would result in

increase/decrease in fair value by
12.83%/0.00% (2022: 0.00%)

1.20%8.04 EEIEm,/ 0% (B —%:
(ZB-—%: 10%) BB AR EEEN,/
1.23%8.42) 212.83%/0.00% (Z B = =4
0.00%)

32.96% (2022: 32.52%) 10% (2022: 10%) increase/decrease in
discount would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by 14.92%
(2022: 14.82%)
32.98% (ZE -4 WEEm/WA10% (2T 2%
32.52%) 10%) BERAR EERD /1M
14.92% (ZZ = ZF :14.82%)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF M. EMIBZARBERAABES
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) & (@)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) NABESHR(E)

Description Valuation technique Unobservable input Amount of Sensitivity of fair

unobservable input value to the input

HERE FABRRARE  TUBEAARE AABEHBABEZBBE

Discount for lack of 24.10% (2022: 18.50%) 10% (2022: 10%) increase/decrease in
control (%) discount would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by 32.18%
(2022: 23.95%)

B EHIRE)  24.10% (24 RN, A% (Z B &
18.50%) 10%) BERA L BERD /BN

32.18% (ZZ = =5 :2395%)

Debt investment at fair value ~ Market approach Valuation multiple:
through profit or loss
BRREEGARSR Gk fEER:
k&
Discounted expected future cash  Credit spread (%) N/A (2022: 29.58%) N/A (2022: 10% increase/decrease
flow (income approach) in discount would result in

decrease/increase in fair value by

0.77%/0.84%)
BEARBDRTE (KEE) FEEEM MER (22 =% TER (22 ZF g/ R
29.58%) P%BEHAA EERD,/EN
0.77%,/0.84%)
The discount for lack of marketability represents the discounts RZmERBUERTENTIS2BEERK
determined by the Group that market participants would take EEBREERZAEEMET 2HE-
into account when pricing the investments.
The valuation multiples represent the market multiples derived HERBAKEATELRAR (AX)HTH
from the comparable companies (peers) and were applied to SEE WEAREMEENMEEBEIAE
the financials of the financial assets to arrive the fair value. BAnEE-
The discount for lack of control represents the amount by T = 28 I R T A BN S 7S (b 2 R MR = 4
which the pro rata value of a non-controlling interest is less T B FE 12 11 7 25 B ) (B > B 58 1 4 25 Lt 51
than the pro rata value of a controlling interest over which a ERNSHE-

business enterprise reflects lack of a control.

222 InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e M BERME (F)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 4. ESRMTAZAABERAAEBES
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (&)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) AABESHR(E)
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TRINFAEEEHTANAABENE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: &
Assets measured at fair value: RARBEAENEE:

Fair values measurement using
AREEFERA
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
EATHE EATHER

SERRT IS ME WAE WAE
(1) (E24%) (ZE3#k)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBT T ARBTT

As at 31 December 2023 i —
+=A=+—H

Equity investments at fair value BAREBEFABRZD

through profit or loss R A% & 6,778 - - 6,778
Debt investment at fair value BAR BB ABEN

through profit or loss BHRE = 1,454 - 1,454
Financial asset at fair value BARBEGTAEM

through other comprehensive PEHKGENEREE

income - - 12,939 12,939

6,778 1,454 12,939 21,171
As at 31 December 2022 i ——
+tZA=t—H

Equity investments at fair value RARBEFABEY

through profit or loss i A A% & 13,452 - - 13,452
Debt investment at fair value BRAREBEFAERK

through profit or loss BEBRE - - 1,270 1,270
Financial asset at fair value BARBEF AEM

through other comprehensive FHEENEREE

income - - 18,368 18,368

13,452 - 19,638 33,090
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

41.

224

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the fair value of an unlisted debt
investment was estimated using valuation techniques based
on discounted expected future cash flows, which falls under
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. On 29 December 2023,
the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with Metro Win to sell the unlisted bond at the consideration
of HK$1,600,000 (equivalent to RMB1,454,000). The Group
determined that the estimated fair value of the unlisted debt
investment, derived from the observed price in the disposal
transaction, is more reliable than the valuation techniques
based on discounted expected future cash flows. As a result, as
at 31 December 2023, the valuation techniques for determining
the fair value of the unlisted debt investment were changed to
the market approach, specifically referring to observed prices
from the disposal transaction, which falls under Level 2 of the

fair value hierarchy.

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3

during the year are as follows:

Debt investment at fair value through profit or loss

41.

SRMIAZAREBERAAEESE
&g

NABESHR(E)
W_E-_—F+-_fA=+—H —E}FLm
EFERENAREBERAERITEERRE
KRR ROEERMETHE BRAA
BESLANFEF =R - R_T=_=F+=A
THhB AEEERRICEERENUD
EIEEWMES  RER1,600000%8 T (HE
M AREE1,454,00000) - AEBRA BRI
PERFHBRIMNERSLHNIELTE
BREGBT AR BELERITEBI KRR
HRERNEERMEATRZ - At - RZF
T+ A=+ B HEEIELTESE
BRARBENGERNEE AWML K5
E2EZHERFHNBERERS LBRAR
BESHENHE MR-

FAFRAABEFENESH DT :

LEESFARENERRE

2023 2022
—_E_-= —EF-=
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR® TR AR T
At 1 January n—A—H 1,270 12,530
Interest FE (644) (1,007)
Total unrealised gain/(loss) recognised RiFEBERRANERD
in the consolidated statement KB (B18) 858
of profit or loss 793 (10,943)
Exchange realignment M H 38 B 35 690
Transfer out o (1,454) -
At 31 December R+—-—HBA=+—H - 1,270

InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA




41.

42.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income

At 1 January m—H—H

Total unrealised losses recognised in P L A 2 T U 2 PR 3R
other comprehensive income RERBHEEHE

At 31 December B+=—A=+—8”

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND  42.

POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, debt component of
convertible bond and cash and cash equivalents. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to finance the
Group's operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade and bills receivables, trade

and bills payables, which arise directly from its operations.

It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the
Group’s policy that trading in financial instruments shall be

undertaken with due care.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

SRMIACAAREBERAAEES
& ()
BEAARBEFAREMEEKENRA
rE

2023 2022
—_E_= —EF-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETF T
18,368 40,086
(5,429) (21,718)
12,939 18,368

MBRREEBERBEX

$Elmfﬁéﬂlﬂa%#5ﬁﬁ&ﬁ
i fE R I RBREFNEBBI ARRE R
ReSEY ZFLRIANTIEENDS
AEBMEREEES - AEERZHEEM
ERMEEMBE FIIE S REREHK
BHREBREMNR HERAAREXBE
o

REEAQBEFEN AEE-ERRREE
ETEMIAR S

KEAEECR T AN T ZRER AN EE
BrshERBE  EERBRMTEERER -ZE
=SEMAMEEE K IERROBE
BRABKBALT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

42,

226

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s debt obligations in US$, RMB
and HK$ with floating interest rates.

The Group's policy is to manage its interest costs using a mix
of fixed and floating rate debts with respect to the prevailing
interest rate environment. The Group mitigates the risk by
monitoring closely the movements in interest rates and
reviewing its banking facilities regularly. The Group has not
used any interest rate swap to hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s
loss before tax and equity in response to changes in interest
rates of the Group's floating rate debts in US$, RMB and HK$

(with all other variables held constant).

2023 i
US$ debts ELER
RMB debts ARBAEH
HK$ debts BILES
US$ debts ELER
RMB debts AR ER
HK$ debts BILER

* Excluding accumulated losses

InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA

42,

(decrease) in
interest rate
basis points

BEEREEBERBEER (&)

A 2= 2 By
AEBHFEHOMRESRER R RA
SEHETT ARBMBITTEER -

AEBHBRIIZBITHERRE  FAER
MFBEBOEEERNERA - AEEFHE
BUERMNEED M ERRITRITEEN
IR R R o AN S B A R AE AR R R 4w
B DA S8 P TED 354 B0 ) 2R L B

TEREINAEERBAERNEDRE AL
BXTT ARERBILFSEBNNEEH
(FTEEMERGERIE) MEBRE -

Increase/
(Increase)/ (Decrease)/
decrease in loss increase in
before tax
RRB AT 518
(&m), "W
RMB’000

ARBTR

equity*

Rz
(m),/#hn*
RMB’000

AR TR

FREH
£/ (T
RMB’000
ARBT T

100 (59) -
100 (392) =
100 (1,107) -
(100) 59 =
(100) 392 -
(100) 1,107 -

* PErRREERE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e M BERME (F)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 42. MK EMEEBZRBUR (#)
POLICIES (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued) MEEE (8)

Increase/

(decrease) in (Increase)/ (Decrease)/

interest rate  decrease in loss increase in

basis points before tax equity*
LR BR B AT ES 18 Em

LR/ (RE) () HD  GRD) /e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTE  ARETR  ARETR

2022 —EoCF

US$ debts ELEH 100 (33) -
RMB debts AREER 100 (270) -
HK$ debts BILES 100 (259) -
US$ debts ELER (100) 33 -
RMB debts AREER (100) 270 -
HK$ debts BILER (100) 259 -

*  Excluding retained profits/accumulated losses

Foreign currency risk

The Group’'s companies operated in different locations with
most of the transactions settled in local currency and did not
have significant exposure to risk resulting from changes in

foreign currency exchange rates.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers who wish
to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored
on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to impairment
is not significant. For transactions that are not denominated
in the functional currency of the relevant operating unit, the
Group does not offer credit terms without the specific approval
of the head of credit control.

T RRBEF, B

B = [

REENRBARTRMEEE KBPHRH
NEWERER WERERINEERZSHE
EGEDNEN

FERR
AEBEERRRBAMEEEENFE =
TRZ - AREBNBRRBBRHMEHEENR
R SNEPETEEERIEF Ui
EU S ERTEXER  MAK B REER
BRI NEKR - BRI IFAGALEELNT
EEBSAENR S AREERRGBERESE
A EERBMET  TERERERY-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 42. BIEMEEBREREE (&)

POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued) EERE (&)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging REREBRERFAERSHE

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TREJENAEBEEERRNEERE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, REaEERBAE EXEUBBERA
which is mainly based on past due information unless other B2 (BRIEFTRBAN B DY EH KA LS
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year- NERBEMER) UER+ZA=+—8H
end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts WERBERDBE - 2INBBEREMEENE
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets. BRMEIE °

As at 31 December 2023 R-F-_=ZF+-A=1+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128
FEF#E BUERANRAESEERE

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
EAE #oR #3R L& #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR%TR AR®Tr AR®TRT AR®Tx

Trade and bills receivables and B 5 REBEKTAR

contract assets* AHEE" - - - 314,158 314,158
Financial assets included in prepayments, 5 AJBITFRIE - EAbfE Y

other receivables and other assets REMEENSREE

- Normal** — 12,079 - - - 12,079
Pledged deposits EEAER

- Not yet past due —H R 24,781 - - - 24,781
Cash and cash equivalents HeRASEED

- Not yet past due —HRBEH 76,196 = = - 76,196

113,056 - - 314,158 427,214
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e M BERME (F)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 42. BB EREEBZERBUER (&)
POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)
As at 31 December 2022

EERB (&)
RERBRERFELABRSIE (E)
RZFZZF+=-HA=+—H

Lifetime ECLs

Simplified
approach
F18R F2MR 3R e

Stage 2 Stage 3

RMB'000
ARETT

RMB'000
AREFT

RMB'000
ARBT T

RMB'000
ARETT

RMB'000
ARBTT

BHREBEELTAR

Trade and bills receivables and

contract assets* AHEE - - - 331,636 331,636
Financial assets included in prepayments, 5 ATB{TFIE « bR FIE

other receivables and other assets REMEENSRARE

- Normal** — 35,807 - - - 35,807
Pledged deposits BEAER

- Not yet past due — R 25,549 - - - 25,549
Cash and cash equivalents ReRASEFED

- Not yet past due —HRBEH 59,436 - - - 59,436

120,792 - . 331,636 152428

*%

For trade and bills receivables and contract assets to
which the Group applies the simplified approach for
impairment, information based on the provision matrix
is disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated financial

statements.

The credit quality of financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past due
and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. While the credit quality of the loan
receivables is considered to be “doubtful” since it had a

significant increase in credit risk.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to

credit risk arising from trade receivables are set out in note 21

to the consolidated financial statements.

* RAREERABREMSCEINESERE
BRRAMAEMNEENS  RIZEE
EENEREENGRE VB RERNE
21 e

o RTATERM IR A KRR R A
EENESREENGEEREEYER
LI BEEHNKRATREEB T THE
REFERBBZIENFERS L
Bl -MBaRERERNEERRRZ
g WEEERERRR (] -

BRASEMEYHRESREFAENESE
MEERRNE-FEEBR BENGRAR
BRI aE21 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—E - A=+—H

42,

230

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from

operations.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk rests with the board
of directors of the Company, which has built an appropriate
liquidity risk management framework for the management
of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and
liquidity management requirements. Having considered the
forthcoming business plan, the Group manages liquidity risk
by maintaining adequate banking facilities and continuously
monitoring working capital forecast and actual cash flows.
Should there be any significant change in banking facilities
available, the Group will adjust the working capital forecast

and business plan accordingly to maintain its liquidity.

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on
the agreed repayment terms. Where the loan agreement
contains a repayable on demand clause which gives the
lender the unconditional right to call the loan at any time, the

maturity analysis of such borrowings is classified based on the

scheduled repayment terms set out in the loan agreement.

42,

BREMEEEERBK (&)

B R
AEEMNBEFERDESRE TAEE
BeRBROER HETAZEREHBTAM
REE (PIE 5 UK K2 HI B A
RIEAMEERER -

RBMERBNSEKETHARREETS A
F-ApREFERAKENES T EH
B2BYBEEMNRDERREEERNURK
RBUEEERTE KEEARZELERE

AEERBARRTRERFELELE
ExBRANERRSRE RUEERSME
R - A A E A IRTTRVE HIREREX
HE) AEBEFHERMAEREEESTER N
AT RERPIE-

TRALREHEEFRREZAKEFE
TEEMBECH TANIHAE -HEARR
EREERFTNE R EE T HRAED
BERF(E WSS BRESRE M A DT HIRE
RIpEAEOEEREK DR

Less than 3t0 12 Between Between Over

3 months months 1to 2 years 2to 5 years 5 years Total

MAKT 3Z12(8A 1225 2Z5F 5N L @it

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE TR ARE TR AR® TR ARE TR ARE TR AR® TR

Trade payables B SR HIE 72,878 42,935 23,541 29,305 - 168,659
Financial liabilities included in FAEMERRER

other payables and accruals ENBRAzeREE 10,423 - - - - 10,423

Lease liabilities BERME 1,889 5,548 5113 2,05 86 14,691
Interest-bearing bank and other FERITRHEMER

borrowings (excluding lease liabilities) (BEABRIN) 28,458 115,027 2,285 6,856 21,732 174,358

Debt component of convertible bond ARREFOERHD - 27,676 - - - 27,676

Promissory note payable ERALER - 36,700 - - - 36,700

113,648 227,886 30,939 38,216 21,818 432,507
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e M BERME (F)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 42. B EMEEREREBE (&)
POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued) REMRR (&)

Less than 3to 12 Between Between

3 months months 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 year

3fE AT 3ZE12EA 1824 2E5F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETIT ARBTT ARBTT ARETRT ARETT

Trade payables B 5N R 152,501 30,957 10,106 21,666 215,230
Financial liabilities included in *Hkﬁ‘ntréﬁ RIA K

other payables and accruals EtEAZERARE 13,227 - - - 13,227
Lease liabilities HEAaE 1,690 4,743 5,052 3,180 14,665
Interest-bearing bank and other T RERIT REAMER

borrowings (excluding lease liabilities) (TAEBERRIN) 5,098 50,456 2,873 - 58,427
Debt component of convertible bond AR E S NEB D - 398 26,930 - 27328

172,516 86,554 44,961 24,846 328,877

ExEE

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its

businesses and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to
any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

AEBEEAERNTIEZABRIREAEE
URBBEREETABELEARETREN
BEARLE UXHHEEBMERBREER
KiEe

AEBERELEMRROEENBBEEN

R R EEE A EEL SRR
RERFLFBERER  AEE R HERARK
RIREAAE AR RERALEITH
0o AR B EZFNEFINUE M E AR
KRR - RBE_T_=FR=-_T=_=
TA=T—HLEFE TEHEBREAN
BIR BRIEFIELEANRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

mEMBRERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 42,

POLICIES (continued)

Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is calculated by total of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, promissory note payable and convertible bond
divided by the total assets. The gearing ratios as at the end of

the reporting periods were as follows:

BREMEEEERBK (&)

BAREME (&)

REBFRAERBRENLE (AIGHEHRITR
HEMER ENEALEBERATBRRES B
FHRUBREEFTE L R)ERER RS
HIRMEARGBELENT

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
—=— = —— —

i —_—= =

t=RA=+-B +ZA=t—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT

Interest-bearing bank and other TRIRIT R EMER
borrowings (note 30) (B 5E30)

Convertible bond (note 36) Ak E S (FiEE36)

Promissory note payable (note 29) JE 7 B AR (MFEE29)

Total assets B E

Gearing ratio BARBEHE

232 InvesTech Holdings Limited B =R ERA

169,561 69,919
26,364 24,624
36,700 -

232,625 94,543

746,400 746,412
31.2% 12.7%




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e M BERME (F)

31 December 2023

=

F+-H=+—H

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 43. A E BT AR R &R
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the BARRARBEARNABRREZNE
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: FESUNNE
2023 2022
—_E_= T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARBTT
NON-CURRENT ASSET FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RETE AR E 249,608 249,608
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepayments, other receivables and FARTRRIE - B Ath R WK IE K
other assets Hih &= 1,575 3,714
Debt investment at fair value through BRAREBEFAEBRZ
profit or loss EBIEE 1,454 1,270
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE UL B BB A B FRIE 84,356 62,143
Cash and cash equivalents REMRBEEFED 20 126
Total current assets MEEERT 87,405 67,253
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables and accruals Hith fe I RIB R Bt E A 3,227 2,187
Loans from a director RKE—REFTHER 1,718 5,651
Interest-bearing other borrowings FEREAMERK 3,472 -
Convertible bond TR ES 26,364 -
Promissory note payable JEfI A R R AR 36,700 -
Amounts due to subsidiaries FET B BB A R kIR 6,909 6,723
Tax payable JFEAT B X 6,011 6,005
Total current liabilities mENB BB 84,401 20,566
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBFEE 3,004 46,687
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERRBARE
LIABILITIES 252,612 296,295
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FRBEE
Convertible bond AR E S - 24,624
Net assets FEE 252,612 271,671
EQUITY s
Share capital (note 31) B (PR EE31) 9,221 7,553
Reserves (note) i (M) 243,391 264,118
Total equity M ABER 252,612 271,671
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
meEMBEERME (F)

31 December 2023
—EC=FF—A=1—H

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 43. QBB ARREK (#)
COMPANY (continued)
Note: Biat -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RAGIHEZBENT
Foreign
Share Convertible currency
Share  Contributed option Capital bond equity translation  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses
TERES
BARS  BRERE ARG BRfE EiGR RitEB
00 0 0 RMB'000
RETT
At 1 January 2022 WZZ-Z%-f-8 13,070 809,164 9,047 106,715 10,113 52485 (757,970) 262,624
Loss and total comprehensive EEBRRIESREE
loss for the year - - - - - 4808 (21,635) (16,827)
Issue of shares kb 37,966 - - - - - - 37,966
Share issue expenses BOEGLES (1.207) - - - - - - (1,207)
Equity-settled share option arrangement ~ JAERE H 2 BRERH - - 1562 - - - - 1562
At 31 December 2022and 1 January 2023 ~ R=B==F+-f=+-H
k-E-=£-f-R 49829 809,164 10,609 106,715 10,113 57293 (779,605) 264,118
Loss and total comprehensive FEBERZEEELE
loss for the year - - - - - 755 (23,574) (22,819)
Issue of shares BB 2,400 - - - - - - 2,400
Share issue expenses DOEGE (308) - - - - - - (308)
At 31 December 2023 WZBZ=f+-A=1-H 51,921 809,164 10,609 106,715 10,113 58,048 (803,179) 243,391
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45,

46.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Commitments for the acquisition of FUEE —H A AR E
a company
EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 45,

On 7 November 2023, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with an independent third party ("Subscriber”)
pursuant to which the Subscriber agreed to subscribe for
59,200,000 new ordinary shares of the par value of US$0.01
each in the share capital of the Company ("Subscription
Share”) at the subscription price of HK$0.19 per Subscription
Share (the “Subscription”). Details of the Subscription are set
out in the announcements of the Company dated 7 November
2023, 25 January 2024 and 31 January 2024, and the circular
of the Company dated 20 December 2023. Completion of the
Subscription took place on 31 January 2024.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and

authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March
2024.

44,

46.

mEMBRERME (&)

31 December 2023
—E-=Ff—[A=1—H

BARENE

2023
—E-=5F

2022
—E-F
RMB’'000
ARET T

RMB’000
AR® TR

- 62,191

REHRSE

RZEZ=F+—FB+tH ARAE—FE
SNEZF ([RBAD L RERE B
RIEAREATRRERMNI9ETHRE
B R A R A A% AN #59,200,0008% 9 f% F 1A
001ETHF T BR ([RERMK]) ([REE
FE|) RESENFBHENAAFBH
AB-E-_=F+—AF+tH ZZEZWMF—A
ZTREARZEZNF-—A=+T—HAKA
H URAQRRBRAA-ZS _=F+=H

—HERBR-RBEHESR T -MF—
A=+—B%mk-

ARSI ER
EFEN-_T-ME=A-+N\BHER

RETIEAGRE M B RE -
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PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

At 31 December 2023
R =Ff+=—H=1—H

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES BREME

Group’s effective

interest in the

Location properties Term of lease
TEBERYE

b 26 NERER A HE

Units 707 and 708 on 7th Floor, Capital Centre, 100% Commercial Medium-term

No. 151 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong

BABETITEISR 100% A 1 £

B AR 7R 7078 5L & 708 fiL

The car parking spaces 100% Car parking spaces Medium-term
Nos. 84 and 87 on Car Park Level CP3,

Towers 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32 and 33,

No. 31 Grandeur Road, Parc Oasis,

Kowloon, Hong Kong

BFEENEN—E 100% {7 5
BREEBK315%26 ~ 27 ~ 28 ~ 29 ~ 30 ~ 31 ~ 32233/

{F B 15 CP3fE8L K875 I B iz

The car parking space 100% Car parking spaces Medium-term
Nos. 240, 276 and 277 on

Car Park Level 2 in Site B, No. 5 Parc Oasis Road,

Parc Oasis, Kowloon, Hong Kong

BENEX R 100% ==z A

X —J& &5

Bith 3815 B 52/8 240 ~ 276 2775k IR B AL
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